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STATEMENT
on the consolidated annual financial statements of 2012
and on the Report of the Management
Pursuant to Ministry of Finance Decree no. 24/2008 (VI111.15.)

MKB Bank Zrt (hereinafter: Bank) declares concerning its consolidated annual
financial statements — accepted by the Annual General Meeting of the Bank on April
2, 2013 and audited by an independent auditor - the following statement:

The Bank declares that the consolidated annual financial statements have been
compiled in accordance with the applicable accounting rules. The consolidated
annual financial statements compiled based on the best knowledge of the Bank’s
competent experts and decision making managers present a realistic and reliable
picture on the assets, liabilities, financial position, as well as profits and losses of
the Bank as an issuer of securities and of the consolidated enterprises.

The Bank declares furthermore that the consolidated Report of the Management
(Management’s discussion & analysis) provides a reliable picture of the position,
situation, development and performance of the Bank as an issuer of securities and
of the consolidated enterprises, and describes the key risks and uncertainty factors.

: Dr Pal Simak Csaba Szekeres
Chairmen & Chief Executive Executive Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholders of MKB Bank Zrt.

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of MKB Bank Zrt. (the "Bank")
for the year 2012, which financial statements comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at December 31, 2012, which shows total assets of HUF 2,579,173 million, and the related
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, which shows a loss for the year of HUF 87,669
million, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information. ‘

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Hungarian National Standards on Auditing and effective
Hungarian laws and other regulations pertaining to audit. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
MKB Bank Zrt. as at December 31, 2012, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union.

Other Matters

The consolidated financial statements of MKB Bank Zrt. as at December 31, 2011 have been audited by
another auditor. Its report, issued on March 20, 2012, contained an unqualified opinion.

Other Reporting Obligation: Report on the Consolidated Business Report

We have examined the accompanying consolidated business report of MKB Bank Ztt. for the year 2012.

Management is responsible for the preparation of this consolidated business report in accordance with
the Hungarian Accounting Act.

Our responsibility is to assess whether the accounting information in the consolidated business report is
consistent with that contained in the consolidated financial statements prepared for the same business
year. Our work with respect to the consolidated business report was limited to assessing the consistence
of the consolidated business report with the consolidated financial statements, and did not include a
review of any information other than that drawn from the audited accounting records of the Bank.

In our opinion, the consolidated business report of MKB Bank Zrt. for the year 2012. corresponds to the
figures included in the consolidated financial statements of MKB Bank Zrt. for the year 2012,

Budapest, March 5, 2013

Horvath Tamas

Deloftte Auditing and Consulting Ltd. registered statutory auditor
1068 Budapest, Dézsa Gyorgy at 84/C. 003449
000083
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MKB Bank Zrt.
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as @ecember 31, 2012

Note 2012 201
Assets
Cash reserves 6 413 790 321 677
Loans and advances to banks 7 81 316 85 052
Trading assets 8 33878 57 648
Investments in securities 10 229 230 288 925
Loans and advances to customers 11 1658 357 1994 633
Assets from discontinued operations as held fa sal 42 66 173 73 889
Other assets 12 16 076 32 681
Deferred tax assets 25 433 4079
Investments in jointly controlled entities and asates 13 7 686 8 459
Intangibles, property and equipment 14 72 234 76 918
Total assets 2579173 2943 94
Liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 15 674 216 977 326
Deposits and current accounts 16 1 389 037 1463472
Trading liabilties 17 21 835 33 463
Micro hedge derivative liabilities held for risk megement 18 214 262
Liabilties of discontinued operations as heldgafe 42 59 497 68 994
Other liabilties and provisions 19 27 507 30 856
Deferred tax liabilties 25 264 5 868
Issued debt securities 20 170 246 171145
Subordinated debt 21 101 642 108 486
Total liabilities 2444 458 2859 872
Equity
Share capital 22 108 936 20 733
Reserves 23 21 072 56 762
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank 130 008 77 495
Non-controling interests 24 4707 6 594
Total equity 134 715 84 089

Total liabilities and equity 2579173 294396
7

Budapest, 5 March, 2013

Chairman & Chief Executive
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MKB Bank Zrt.
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as Recember 31, 2012

Note 2012 201

Income statement:

Interest income 26 158 586 168 069
Interest expense 27 95 210 91 765
Net interest income 63 376 76 30
Net income from commissions and fees 28 13 537 14 034
Other operating income / (expense) 29 (3 299) 6 567
Impairments and provisions for losses 31 87 650 125 411
Operating expenses 32 60 114 74 138
Restructuring expenses 30 6718 -
Share of jointly controlled and associated comamieofit / (loss) before taxation (449) (997)
Loss before taxation (81 317) (103 642
Income tax (credit) / expense 33 (1 505) 11 777
Loss for the year from continuing operation (79 812) (115 419
Loss for the year from discontinued operation 42 (7 857) (5 607)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (87 669) (121 026

Other comprehensive income:

Revaluation on AFS financial assets 10 14 409 (3 988)
Revaluation of equity put option 23 (383) (4 166)
Exchange differencies on translating f at 731 7 09

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax 12 295 (1 064

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR (75 374) (122 090

Profit attributable to:

Profit for the period from continuing operation (82865) (115 670)
Profit for the period from discontinued opeoati (3 906) (5 122)
Shareholders of the bank (86 771) (120 792)
Profit for the period from continuing operation 3053 251
Profit for the period from discontinued operati (3951) (485)
Non-controlling interests (898) (234)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Total comprehensive income from continuing egien (70 822) (115 065)
Total comprehensive income from discontinueekration (4 339) (7 340)
Shareholders of the bank (75 161) (122 405)
Total comprehensive income from continuing agen 4128 900
Total comprehensive income from discontinueeration (4 341) (585)
Non-controlling interests (213) 315
Net income available to ordinary shareholders (86 771) (120 792)
Average number of ordinary shares outstanflingusands) 108 936 20 733
Earnings per Ordinary Share (in HUF) 34
Basic (797) (5 826)

Diluted (797) (5 826)
Dividend per Ordinary Share (in HUF) - -

Budapest, 5 March, 2013

Chairman & Chief Executive
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MKB Bank Zrt.
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity as atdeember 31, 2012

Revaluation

Note Share Share Transla.tlon R onAFS Revalugtlon
of foreign financial  of equity

Non-
controlling

capital re mium . i ) interests
P P operations eamings assets  put option

At 1 January 2011 20733 184089 (3 436) 6570 (8 418)
Issue of share capital and share premium 22,23 - - - - - - 347 347
Dividend for the year 2010 - - - (39) - - (203) (242)
Loss for the year - - - (120 792) - - (234)(121 026)
Other comprehensive income for the year - - 6 767 - (3979 (4 166) 315 (1063)
Change in non-controlling interests during the queri - - - 167 - - (167) -

At 31 December 2011 20 733 184 089 BI8ail (114 095) (12 397) (4 166) 6 594 84 089
Issue of share capital and share premium 22,23 88 203 38 797 - - - - - 127 000
Dividend for the year 2011 - - - (37) - - (114) (151)
Loss for the year - - - (86 771) - - (898) (87 669)
Other comprehensive income for the year - - (1 499) (2 189) 14 389 1806 (212) 12295
Change in non-controling interests during thequeri - - - (185) - - (664) (849)

At 31 December 2012 108 936 222 886 1832 (203 277) 1992 (2 360) 4706 13471H

Budapest, 5 March, 2013

Chairman & Chief Executive
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MKB Bank Zrt.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the yeanded December 31, 2012

Note 2012 201
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before taxation (81317) (104 280)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 14 12980 18 681
Impairment on other assets 12 526 30 986
Provisions for off-BS items 19 1591 1620
Impairment on financial assets (loans and advaces) 7,11 68 146 79 477
Impairment on AFS securities, net 10 (845) 883
Impairment on jointliy controlled entities (GW) a@hange in post
acquisition reserve of jointly controlled entitiesd associates 13 773 1527
Deferred tax movement 33 (1958) 8774
Net Interest income (41414) (54 365)
Dividends on available for sale securities (76) (75)
Foreign Exchange movement I ll’,“’ 19’ Change (7 315) 14 896
in Equity
(48909)  (1876)
Change in loans and advances to banks (gross ashount 7 3798 (8 956)
Change in loans and advances to customers (graasts) 11 280736 104 630
Change in trading assets 8 23770 (13 861)
Change in AFS securities (without revaluation amogirment) 10 74 949 (40 559)
Change in other assets (gross amounts) 12 16 066 (7 237)
Change in amounts due to banks (short term) 15 (259985) (58 931)
Change in current and deposit accounts 16 (74 435) (3773)
Change in other liabilties and provisions
19
(without provision charge of the year) (G113) 2820
Change in trading liabiities 17 (9871) (409)
Interest received 129683 132 706
Interest paid (88269) (78 340)
Dividends received 76 75
Income tax paid 1505 (11 731)
92 910 16 433
Net cash from operating activities 44 001 14 558
Cash flow from investing activities
Investment in group companies 10, 13, OCI (3038) 1764
Disposals of group companies 10, 13 - -
Purchase of property and equipment 14 (7 014) (4 585)
Disposals of property and equipment 14 950 16 419
Purchase of intangible assets 14 (3593) (21 219)
Disposals of intangible assets 14 867 3335
Net cash used in investing activities (11828) (4 286)
Cash flow from financing activities
Increase in issued securities 20 (899) 26 444
Increase in subordinated liabiities 21 (6 844) 11 925
Change in amounts due to banks (Borrowings) 15 (43 125) 70573
Issuance of new shares and
proceeds from share premium 22,23 127 000 347
Dividends paid Change in equity (151) (242)
Net cash from financing activites 75981 109 048

Net increase of cash and cash equivalents

Cash reserves at 1 January 6 321677 222442
FX change on cash reserve (2579) 250
Discontinued operation (13462) (20 334)

Cashreserves at December 31 6 413790 321677

Budapest, 5 March, 2013

Chairman & Chief Executive
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(from page 8 to pagel105)

1 General information

MKB Bank Zrt. (“MKB” or “the Bank”) is a commerciabank domiciled in Hungary,
organised under the laws of Hungary and registaraeter the Hungarian Banking Act. The
address of MKB is Vaci u. 38., HU-1056 Budapestnéghry.

The consolidated financial statements of the Bankteand for the year ended 31 December
2012 comprise the Bank and its subsidiaries (t@yettferred to as the “Group”). The Group
conducts its domestic and cross-border financi@ises businesses through banking and non-
banking subsidiaries. For further information omswlidated subsidiaries please baxe 39
MKB is a member of the BayernLB Group, domiciled @ermany. The address of
BayernLB's Head Office is Brienner Str. 18, D-803&83nich, Germany.

This financial statement is prepared for genergbpses as defined in the Act C of 2000 about
Accounting and the IFRSs published in Official Jairof European Union; they are not
intended for the purposes of any specific useramsiteration of any specific transactions
related to the investment in shares of MKB Bankcadkdingly, users should not rely
exclusively on the financial statements when makinch investment decisions.

2 Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards

The consolidated financial statements of the Groape been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRR8s adopted by the EU.

IFRSs comprise accounting standards issued by AlSB land its predecessor body and
interpretations issued by the International Finaln&eporting Interpretations Committee
(‘'IFRIC") and its predecessor body.

These financial statements are presented in Huarg&orint (HUF), rounded to the nearest
million, except if indicated otherwise. These fineh statements were authorised for issue by
the Supervisory Board on 5 March, 2013.

3 Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have begoaped on the historical cost basis except
for the following:
« derivative financial instruments are measurediatvidue
« financial instruments at fair value through prafitioss are measured at fair value
« available-for-sale financial assets are measuredfaat value through other
comprehensive income
¢ Other financial instruments are measured at aneortest

The preparation of financial statements requiresagament to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of acting policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actgllte may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewedam ongoing basis. Revisions to

accounting estimates are recognised in the periaghich the estimate is revised and in any
future periods affected.
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In particular, information about significant area$ estimation uncertainty and critical
judgements in applying accounting policies thatehtine most significant effect on the amount
recognised in the financial statements are destiib&lote 36.

4 Summary of significant accounting policies

Accounting policies are the specific principlessé® conventions, rules and practices adopted
by the Group in preparing and presenting the cdoest@ld financial statements. The
accounting policies set out below have been appl@tsistently to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements, and heee applied consistently by Group entities.

a, Financial statement presentation

These consolidated financial statements includeattewunts of MKB and its subsidiaries,

jointly controlled entities and associates (“theo@”). The income, expenses, assets and
liabilities of the subsidiaries are included in trespective line items in the consolidated
financial statements, after eliminating inter-comypaalances and transactions.

b, Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Gralgmtrol exists when the Group has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies pfemtity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities. In assessing control, potential votiights that presently are exercisable are taken
into account. Newly acquired subsidiaries are cldeied from the date that the Group gains
control. The acquisition accounting method is ugedaccount for the acquisition of
subsidiaries by MKB. The cost of an acquisition neasured at the fair value of the
consideration given at the date of exchange, theisition — related costs are recognized in
profit or loss. The acquired identifiable asseiabilities and contingent liabilities are
measured at their fair values at the date of aitopris Any excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of thentd@ble assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired is recorded as goodwill. Iethost of acquisition is less than the fair value
of the Group’s share of the identifiable asse@bilities and contingent liabilities of the
business acquired, the difference is recognisedediately in the statement of comprehensive
income.

Special purpose entities

Special purpose entities are entities that aretedetm accomplish a narrow and well-defined
objective such as the execution of a specific lwirg or lending transaction.

The financial statements of special purpose estdie included in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements where the substance of treioakhip is that the Group controls the
special purpose entity.

Funds management

The Group manages and administers assets heldiéstment funds on behalf of investors.
The financial statements of these entities areimduded in these consolidated financial
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statements except when the Group controls theyemtiformation about the Group’s funds
management activities is set out in Note 40.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income expknses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the dideted financial statements. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as unreajiaied, but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

¢, Investments in jointly controlled entities and asociated companies

Jointly controlled entities

Where the Group is a party to a contractual arnaage whereby, together with one or more
parties, it undertakes an economic activity thegubject to joint control, the Group classifies
its interest in the venture as a joint venturentdpicontrolled entities are included in the
consolidated financial statements using equity oeetbf accounting, from the date that joint
control effectively commences until the date thoantj control effectively ceases. Under this
method, such investments are initially stated at,docluding attributable goodwill, and are
adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changke Group’s share of net assets.

Associates

MKB classifies investments in entities over whi¢hhas significant influence, and that are
neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures, as astexig-or the purpose of determining this
classification, control is considered to be the powo govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits fritgnactivities. Associates are accounted for
under the equity method of accounting except when ibvestment is acquired and held
exclusively with a view to its disposal in the néature, in which case it is accounted for
under the cost method. Under this method, suchstments are initially stated at cost,
including attributable goodwill, and are adjusthdreafter for the post-acquisition change in
MKB’s share of net assets. For consolidation puepgdKB uses financial statements of an
associate within a three months limit if the repagytperiod of the entity is different as at the
end of year.

Profits on transactions between MKB and its assesiand joint ventures are eliminated to

the extent of MKB'’s interest in the respective ats@s or joint ventures. Losses are also
eliminated to the extent of MKB’s interest in thesaciates or joint ventures unless the

transaction provides evidence of an impairmenhefasset transferred.

A list of the Group’s significant jointly controlleand associated companies is set out in Note
13.

d, Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetaretaswithout physical substance held for
supply of services, or for administration purposes.
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Goodwill

Goodwill arises on business combinations, includiregacquisition of subsidiaries, and on the
acquisition of interests in joint ventures and agsdes, when the cost of acquisition exceeds
the fair value of Group’s share of the identifiablesets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired. If Group’s interest in the fair value thfe identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of an acquired businessrisater than the cost of acquisition, the excess
is recognised immediately in the statement of cat@nsive income.

Goodwill was amortised over five years using thaight-line method till the end of 2004.
From 2005, goodwill is not amortised but annuadistéd for impairment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwilkikbcated to one or more of the Group's
cash-generating units, that are expected to befigfin the synergies of the business
combination, irrespective whether other assetsabilities are assigned to them. Impairment
testing is performed at least annually, and whenévere is an indication that the cash-
generating unit may be impaired, by comparing tresgnt value of the expected future cash
flows from a cash-generating unit with the carryiagount of its net assets, including
attributable goodwill. Goodwill is stated at costs$ accumulated impairment losses.
Impairment losses recognized for goodwill are chdrgp the statement of comprehensive
income and are not reversed in a subsequent period.

Goodwill on acquisitions of interests in joint vargs and associates is included in
‘Investments in jointly controlled entities and asisites’.

At the date of disposal of a business, attributgbledwill is included in the Group’s share of
net assets in the calculation of the gain or losdisposal.

Other intangible assets

Intangible assets that have a finite useful life mreasured initially at costs and subsequently
carried at costs less any accumulated amortisai@hany accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets are amortised over their estionateful lives not exceeding 15 years -

except of the core banking system, which has adieauntil 2026 - from the date when the

asset is available for use, applying the straigignethod.

Intangible assets that have an indefinite usefe) br are not yet ready for use, are tested for
impairment annually. This impairment test may befggened at any time during the year,
provided it is performed at the same time everyr.yda intangible asset recognised during
the current period is tested before the end ottimeent year.

Expenditure on internally developed intangible atsaftware) is recognised as an asset when
the Group is able to demonstrate its intention atnitity to complete the development and use

the software in a manner that will generate fuegenomic benefits, and can reliably measure
the costs to complete the development. The caggthlcosts of internally developed software

include all costs directly attributable to develupithe software, and are amortised over its
useful life. Internally developed software is sthtat capitalised cost less accumulated

amortisation and impairment.

Subsequent expenditure on software assets is lisgitaonly when it increases the future

economic benefits embodied in the specific asse&tftich it relates. All other expenditure is
expensed as incurred.
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e, Property, plant and equipment

Items of property and equipment including leaselimigdrovements and investment properties
are measured at cost less accumulated deprecétibimpairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attable to the acquisition of the asset. When
parts of an item of property or equipment haveedéht useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property gngpenent.
The estimated useful lives of property, plant agdigment are as follows:

« freehold land is not depreciated;

« components of freehold buildings are depreciatest 6¥100 years

« leasehold buildings are depreciated over the unedierms of the leases, or over

their remaining useful lives.

The estimated residual value of some of the builgliirs higher than the book value and
therefore not depreciated.

Equipment, fixtures and fittings (including equipmen operating leases where MKB Group
is the lessor) are stated at cost less any impairtosses and depreciation calculated on a
straight-line basis to write off the assets oveirtiiseful lives, which run to a maximum of 20
years but are generally between 5 years and 18.year

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment aduided in ,Operating expenses” line in
statement of comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment is subject to an impnt review if there are events or
changes in circumstances which indicate that theyiog amount may not be recoverable.

Net gains and losses on disposal or retirementagguty and equipment are included in other
income, in the year of disposal or retirement.

Investment properties are held by the bank to eantals and for capital appreciation.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly aitéable to the acquisition of the asset. When
parts of an item of property or equipment haveedéht useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property gngpenent.
The estimated useful lives of investment propediesas follows:

« components of buildings are depreciated over 25y&a0s

e connecting equipments are depreciated over 20 years

Depreciation of investment property is included@ther operating income / (expenses)” line
in statement of comprehensive income.

The fair value of the investment properties shall dupervised yearly by an independent
appraiser. Should the fair value be much lower ttrencarrying amount, impairment loss
shall be recognized through profit or losses.

Net gains and losses on disposal or retirementropesty is disclosed as the own used
properties.
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f, Cash reserve

Cash reserve include notes and coins on hand, ttinted balances held with central banks
and highly liquid financial assets with original tmaties of less than three months, which are
subject to insignificant risk of changes in theiirfvalue, and are used by the Group in the
management of its short-term commitments.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amongsstdn the statement of financial position.

g, Determination of fair value

All financial instruments measured at Fair Valueotlgh Profit or Loss are recognised
initially at fair value, other financial assets aliabilities are recognized at fair value plus
transaction cost that are directly attributabledhe acquisition or issue of financial asset or
financial liability. In the normal course of busgse the fair value of a financial instrument on
initial recognition is the transaction price (thstthe fair value of the consideration given or
received). In certain circumstances, however, tligal fair value will be based on other
observable current market transactions in the sasteument, or on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from observaldekets, such as interest rate yield curves,
option volatilities and currency rates. When sueidence exists, the Group recognises a
trading gain or loss on inception of the finandgradtrument. When unavailable market data
have a significant impact on the valuation of ficiahinstruments, the entire initial difference
in fair value indicated by the valuation model frahe transaction price is not recognised
immediately in the statement of comprehensive iredot is recognised over the life of the
transaction on an appropriate basis, or when thetsnbecome observable, or the transaction
matures or is closed out, or when the Group efmérsan offsetting transaction.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the fair valudsfinancial instruments measured at fair
value that are quoted in active markets are basdadprices for assets held and offer prices
for liabilities issued. When independent pricesraseavailable, fair values are determined by
using valuation techniques which refer to obsemabéarket data. These include comparison
with similar instruments where market observablegw exist, discounted cash flow analysis,
option pricing models and other valuation technggoemmonly used by market participants.
For financial instruments, fair values may be dateed in whole or in part using valuation
techniques based on assumptions that are not defdpby prices from current market
transactions or observable market data.

Factors such as bid-offer spread, credit profilé arodel uncertainty are taken into account,
as appropriate, when fair values are calculatedhgusialuation techniques. Valuation
techniques incorporate assumptions that other rhapketicipants would use in their
valuations, including assumptions about interets y&eld curves, exchange rates, volatilities,
and prepayment and default rates. Positive faineslof OTC derivative instruments are
adjusted with counter party risk revaluation. k¥ ttounterparty has a rating worse than 11 the
positive fair value shall be adjusted by PD, areldtjustment shall be recognized in gains or
loss. Where a portfolio of financial instruments lggoted prices in an active market, the fair
value of the instruments are calculated as theymtoaf the number of units and quoted price
and no block discounts are made.

If the fair value of a financial asset measurefhmtvalue becomes negative, it is recorded as a

financial liability until its fair value becomes gitive, at which time it is recorded as a
financial asset.
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The fair values of financial liabilities are measdirusing quoted market prices where
available, or using valuation techniques. These Yailues include market participants’
assessments of the appropriate credit spread tp tapihve Group’s liabilities.

h, Loans and advances to banks and customers

Loans and advances to banks and customers inoh#ohes land advances originated by the
Group which are not classified as Fair Value Thtogofit or Loss. Loans and advances are
recognised when cash is advanced to borrowerdefwsetit date). They are derecognised
when either borrowers repay their obligations, loe foans are sold or written off, or
substantially all the risks and rewards of owngrsre transferred. They are initially recorded
at fair value plus any directly attributable tractsan costs and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest methesk impairment losses. Where loans and
advances are hedged by derivatives designated malifying as fair value hedges, the
carrying value of the loans and advances so hetlgdades a fair value adjustment for the
hedged risk only.

i, Impairment of loans and advances

At the end of each reporting period the Group aesesvhether there is objective evidence
that loans and advances are impaired. Loans andnaeds are impaired when objective
evidence demonstrates that a loss event has odcafter the initial recognition of the asset,
and that the loss event has an impact on the futash flows on the asset that can be
estimated reliably.

Obijective evidence that loans and advances areiriegpaan include default or delinquency
by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advangéhle Group on terms that the Group would
not otherwise consider, indications that a borroarerssuer will enter bankruptcy, or other
observable data relating to a group of assets as@uverse changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the group, or economic conditions tiwatelate with defaults in the group.
Impairment allowances are calculated on individeahs and on groups of loans assessed
collectively. Impairment losses are recorded aggdsto the statement of comprehensive
income. The carrying amount of impaired loans atéhd of the reporting period is reduced
through the use of impairment allowance accourdsses expected from future events are not
recognised.

Individually assessed loans and advances

For all loans that are considered individually gigant, the Group assesses on a case-by-case
basis at the end of each reporting period whetieetis any objective evidence that a loan is
impaired. Impairment losses on assets carried attea®ad cost are measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asaatsthe present value of estimated cash
flows discounted at the assets’ original effeciiverest rate. Losses are recognised in profit
or loss and reflected in an allowance account agdoans and advances. Interest on the
impaired assets continues to be recognised thrtheggbnwinding of the discount.

Collectively assessed loans and advances

Impairment is assessed on a collective basis fardgeneous groups of loans that are not
considered individually significant.
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Loans not assessed on an individual basis, or wtherendividual assessment resulted in no
specific provision, are grouped together accordmgheir credit risk characteristics for the
purpose of calculating an estimated collective.lbkswever, losses in these groups of loans
are recorded on an individual basis when loansvaiten off, at which point they are
removed from the group.

In assessing collective impairment the Group utssstcal modelling of historical trends of
the probability of default, timing of recoveriesdathe amount of loss incurred, adjusted for
management’s judgement as to whether current edereomd credit conditions are such that
the actual losses are likely to be greater ortless suggested by historical modelling. Default
rates, loss rates and the expected timing of furreveries are regularly benchmarked

Renegotiated loans

Loans subject to collective impairment assessméioiser terms have been renegotiated are no
longer considered past due, but are treated adowws for measurement purposes once the
minimum number of payments required under the newngements have been received.
Loans subject to individual impairment assessmg&htise terms have been renegotiated, are
subject to ongoing review to determine whether tfeggain impaired or should be considered
past due.

Write-off of loans and advances

A loan (and the related impairment allowance actosmormally written off, either partially
or in full, when there is no realistic prospectfither recovery of the principal amount and,
for a collateralised loan, when the proceeds freatising the security have been received.

Reversals of impairment

If the amount of an impairment loss decreasessnbsequent period, and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after ittmpairment was recognised, the excess is
written back by reducing the loan impairment allosa account accordingly. The write back
is recognised in the statement of comprehensiveniec

Assets acquired in exchange for loans

Non-financial assets acquired in exchange for loangart of an orderly realisation are
recorded as assets held for sale and reportedtiver@ssets’. The asset acquired is recorded
at the lower of its fair value (less costs to saltd the carrying amount of the loan (net of
impairment allowance) at the date of exchange. &wetiation is charged in respect of assets
held for sale. Any subsequent write-down of theuaregl asset to fair value less costs to sell is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive incaméOther operating income’. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value less costgltpto the extent this does not exceed the
cumulative write down, is also recognised in ‘Otlogrerating income’, together with any
realised gains or losses on disposal.

J, Trading assets and trading liabilities

Treasury bills, debt securities, equity shareschassified as held for trading if they have been

acquired principally for the purpose of selling m@purchasing in the near term. These

financial assets or financial liabilities are reomgd on trade date, when the Group enters into
contractual arrangements with counterparties tehmsge or sell securities, and are normally

derecognised when either sold (assets) or extihgdigliabilities). Measurement is initially at
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fair value, with transaction costs taken to thetesteent of comprehensive income.

Subsequently, their fair values are remeasuredaldrghins and losses from changes therein
are recognised in the statement of comprehensogrie in ‘Other operating income’ as they

arise.

Interest earned on trading debt securities is tedoms trading result among the other
operating income when it becomes due. The dividemdsed on trading equity instruments
are disclosed separately among the interest incamen received. Interest payable on
financial liabilities acquired for trading purpossseported as other operating expense.

k, Financial instruments designated as fair valuehrough profit or loss

Financial instruments, other than those held faditrg, are classified in this category if they

meet one or more of the criteria set out below, aredso designated by management. The
Group may designate financial instruments at falu@ when the designation eliminates or

significantly reduces valuation or recognition insistencies that would otherwise arise from

measuring financial assets or financial liabilities recognising gains and losses on them, on
different bases. Under this criterion, the mairssés of financial instruments designated by
the Group are:

Long-term deposit

The interest payable on certain fixed rate longitdeposits from investment funds has been
matched with the interest on ‘receive fixed/payiatale’ interest rate swaps and cross-
currency swaps as part of a documented interestrigk and FX risk management strategy.
An accounting mismatch would arise if the depogiese accounted for at amortised cost,
because the related derivatives are measured ravdhie with changes in the fair value
recognised in the statement of comprehensive inc&yelesignating the long-term deposits
at fair value, the movement in the fair value af tbng-term deposits is also be recognised in
the Statement of comprehensive income.

Structured Bonds

MKB issues structured bonds for its retail anditngbnal clients since 2008. In these bonds
there are embedded derivatives (options) that tabe separated under IAS 39.11 unless the
hybrid instruments are measured at fair value. Gheup eliminated its interest and foreign
currency risk arising from the above mentioned api by entering into offsetting option
transactions. To eliminate valuation inconsistesicibese structured bonds are designhated at
fair value to profit or loss in their entirety aad a consequence the embedded derivates are
not separated.

The fair value designation, once made, is irreviecabesignated financial assets and
financial liabilities are recognised when the Grampers into the contractual provisions of the
arrangements with counterparties, which is general trade date, and are normally
derecognised when sold (assets) or extinguishebilities). Measurement is initially at fair
value, with transaction costs taken directly to #iatement of comprehensive income.
Subsequently, the fair values are remeasured, aim$ g@nd losses from changes therein are
recognised in “Interest income”.
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[, Investments in securities

Treasury bills, debt securities and equity shamsnded to be held on a continuing basis,
other than those designated at fair value (Note)dake classified as available-for-sale. The
held to maturity category is not applied at the Wprdevel. Financial investments are
recognised on trade date, when the Group enters d¢ontractual arrangements with
counterparties to purchase securities, and areallyrarerecognised when either the securities
are sold or the borrowers repay their obligations.

Available-for-sale securities are initially measirat fair value plus direct and incremental
transaction costs. They are subsequently remeasirédr value, and changes therein are
recognised in equity in the ‘Revaluation reseridote 24) until the securities are either sold
or impaired. When available-for sale securitiessaie, cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in equity are recognised in the staternérromprehensive income as “Other
operating income”.

At the end of each reporting period an assessnsemiade of whether there is any objective
evidence of impairment in the value of a finaneisset or group of assets. This usually arises
when circumstances are such that an adverse effe@ture cash flows from the asset or
group of assets can be reliably estimated. If aalable-for-sale security is impaired, the
cumulative loss (measured as the difference betwleemsset’s acquisition cost (net of any
principal repayments and amortisation) and itsemirfair value, less any impairment loss on
that asset previously recognised in the statemfecbrmprehensive income) is removed from
equity and included in the statement of comprelvenisicome.

When a subsequent event causes the amount of mgrgiloss on an available-for-sale debt
security to decrease, the impairment loss is redethrough profit or loss. However, any
subsequent recovery in the fair value of an imphisgailable-for-sale equity security is
recognised directly in equity. Changes in impairhy@ovisions attributable to time value are
reflected as a component of interest income.

m, Derivatives

Derivatives are recognised initially, and are sgbeatly remeasured, at fair value. Fair
values of exchange-traded derivatives are obtdired quoted market prices. Fair values of
over-the-counter derivatives are obtained usingiat&n techniques, including discounted
cash flow models and option pricing models.

Derivatives may be embedded in other financialrimeents. Embedded derivatives are
treated as separate derivatives when their econoh@cacteristics and risks are not clearly
and closely related to those of the host contitaetjterms of the embedded derivative would
meet the definition of a stand-alone derivativéhigy were contained in a separate contract;
and the combined contract is not held for tradingesignated at fair value. These embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with charipesein recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Derivatives are classified as assets when theividue is positive, or as liabilities when their
fair value is negative. Derivative assets and litds arising from different transactions are
only offset if the transactions are with the samenterparty, a legal right of offset exists, and
the parties intend to settle the cash flows ontdasis.

The method of recognising fair value gains anddssioes not depend on whether derivatives

are held for trading or are designated as hedgisguments. All gains and losses from
changes in the fair value of derivatives held fading or designated as hedging instrument in
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hedging relationships are recognised in the staiewiecomprehensive income as the group
uses only fair value hedges to hedge its risks.

Equity put options shall be checked before evabmativhether the non-controlling interest
(NCI) has an access to the future economic beagfitthey can practice its owner rights. If
NCI have present access to the ownership benbétsare subject to the put option on initial
recognition of the liability, the debit entry is # separated equity element. Subsequent to
initial recognition changes in the fair value of M@ put liability shall be recognized in other
comprehensive income. Gains or losses from curréaaglation shall be recognized directly
in currency translation reserve of foreign operatidhis application of this method has no
impact on the “normal” accounting treatment of NCI.

n, Hedge accounting

As part of its asset/liability management actigfi¢he Group uses interest rate swaps and
Cross currency interest rate swaps, to hedge mgidreign currency and interest rate
exposures. A hedging relationship qualifies forcgglehedge accounting if, and only if, all of
the following conditions are met:

« at the inception there is a formal documentationtlef hedging relationship that
includes among others the identification of thedieg instrument and the specific
hedged item, the nature of risk being hedged.

« a high level of hedge effectiveness is expectethatinception and the hedge is
actually effective throughout the hedge period,

* hedge effectiveness can be reliably measured.

The Group also requires a documented assessmeamt omgoing basis, of whether or not the
hedging instruments, primarily derivatives, thag¢ aised in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting the changes attributablethe hedged risks in the fair values of the
hedged items. Interest on designated qualifyinggbeds included in “Interest income” or
“Interest expense”.

Fair value hedge

A fair value hedge represents a contract that redgeecognised asset or liability, or an

identified portion of such an asset or liabilitgaénst exposure to changes in the fair value
that is attributable to a particular risk and tvét affect reported net income. The gain or loss

from re-measuring the hedging instrument at falu&@and the loss or gain on the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk are recognised idiately in net profit or loss for the period.

If a hedging relationship no longer meets the getéor hedge accounting, the cumulative
adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedgeth ite amortised to the statement of
comprehensive income based on a recalculated igHaaterest rate over the residual period
to maturity, unless the hedged item has been dgnésexd, in which case, it is released to the
statement of comprehensive income immediately.

Hedge effectiveness testing
To qualify for hedge accounting, the Group requitest at the inception of the hedge and
throughout its life, each hedge must be expectedbdohighly effective (prospective

effectiveness), and demonstrate actual effectivenestrospective effectiveness) on an
ongoing basis.
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The documentation of each hedging relationship@atfiow the effectiveness of the hedge is
assessed. The method the Group adopts for assdesigg effectiveness will depend on its
risk management strategy.

For prospective effectiveness, the hedging instnimauist be expected to be highly effective
in offsetting changes in fair value attributablettie hedged risk during the period for which
the hedge is designated. For actual effectivertebs ichieved, the changes in fair value must
offset each other in the range of 80 per cent &t cent.

0, Derecognition of financial assets and liabilitie

The Group derecognises a financial asset whendhwgactual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or it transfers the rights teixecthe contractual cash flows on the financial
asset in a transaction in which substantially lad tisks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset are transferred. Any interest andferred financial assets that is created or
retained by the Group is recognised as a sepassgét ar liability.

The Group derecognises a financial liability whsncontractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled or expire.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it fearsassets recognised on its statement of
financial position, but retains either all riskdarewards of the transferred assets or a portion
of them. If all or substantially all risks and redg are retained, then the transferred assets are
not derecognised from the statement of financialtjm. Transfers of assets with retention of
all or substantially all risks and rewards inclufite,example repurchase transactions.

p, Offsetting financial assets and financial liabities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are efffand the net amount reported in the statement
of financial position when there is a legally emfable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basisealise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

g, Finance and operating leases

Agreements which transfer to counterparties sulistpnall the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of assets, but not necessaribl kitte, are classified as finance leases. When
the Group is a lessor under finance leases the isidue under the leases, after deduction of
unearned charges, are included in ‘Loans and adgatocbanks’ or ‘Loans and advances to
customers’ as appropriate. The finance income vab& is recognised in “Interest income”
over the periods of the leases so as to give dauinste of return on the net investment in the
leases.

When the Group is a lessee under finance leasetedbed assets are capitalised and included
in ‘Intangibles, property and equipment’ and theresponding liability to the lessor is
included in ‘Other liabilities and provisions’. Anfince lease and its corresponding liability
are recognised initially at the fair value of theset or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments. Finance charges payableeognised in “Interest expense” over
the period of the lease based on the interestimgikcit in the lease so as to give a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of takility.
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All other leases are classified as operating leadd®n acting as lessor, the Group includes
the assets subject to operating leases in ‘Intéegiproperty and equipment’ and accounts for
them accordingly. Impairment losses are recognisdtie extent that residual values are not
fully recoverable and the carrying value of the ipment is thereby impaired. When the
Group is the lessee, leased assets are not reedgmisthe statement of financial position.
Rentals payable and receivable under operatingedease accounted for on a straight-line
basis over the periods of the leases and are iedlud “Other operating income” and
“Operating expenses”, respectively.

r, Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinatdiabilities

Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinabdities are the Group’s sources of debt
funding.

When the Group sells a financial asset and simedtasly enters into a “repo” or “stock
lending” agreement to repurchase the asset (onitasiasset) at a fixed price on a future date,
the arrangement is accounted for as a deposit, tlaadunderlying asset continues to be
recognised in the Group’s financial statements.

Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinabiities are initially measured at fair value

plus transaction costs, and subsequently measutrbeia amortised cost using the effective
interest method, except for the items which aiahiiecognition are designated by the Group
to fair value through profit or loss category.

The Group carries some deposits, debt securitiésabordinated liabilities at fair value, with
fair value changes recognised immediately in prafitoss as described in accounting policy
(Note 4 k,).

s, Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a pasgent, the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated Ipgliaand it is probable that an outflow of

economic benefits will be required to settle thdigattion. Provisions are determined by

discounting the expected future cash flows at atgxerate that reflects current market

assessments of the time value of money and, whgpeopriate, the risks specific to the

liability.

Contingent liabilities, which include certain guatees, are possible obligations that arise
from past events whose existence will be confirneedy by the occurrence, or non-
occurrence, of one or more uncertain future eveotsvholly within the control of the Group,
and present obligation that arises from past evkutsis not recognised, because it is not
porbable that an outflow of resources embodyinghendc benefits will be require to settle
the obligation, or the amount of the obligation mainbe measured with sufficient reliability.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in theaficial statements but are disclosed unless the
probability of settlement is remote.
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t, Income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferredliexame tax is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income except to the extent theglates to items recognised directly in
equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable etietkable profit for the year, calculated using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by titke af the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previoasse

Deferred tax is provided using the financial pasitimethod, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of asaetk liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purpbBsderred tax is not recognised for the
following temporary differences: the initial recagon of goodwill, the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that is adtusiness combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit, and differencestietato investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that they probably will not reverse in tbeekeeable future. Deferred tax is measured at
the tax rates that are expected to be appliededeimporary differences when they reverse,
based on the laws that have been enacted or stibsharenacted by the end of the reporting
period.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to thendxiigat it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the assah de utilised. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period arde@duced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be 1sedi.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset wthey arise in the same entity and relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authaaityl when a legal right to offset exists in
the entity.

Deferred tax relating to fair value remeasureméravailable-for-sale investments which are
charged or credited directly to equity, is alsodiesl or charged directly to equity and is
subsequently recognised in the statement of corepedle income when the deferred fair
value gain or loss is recognised in the statemecbmprehensive income.

u, Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all financial insents except for those classified as held for
trading and kept in trading book are recognisetniterest income’ and ‘Interest expense’ in
the statement of comprehensive income using thectefé interest method. The effective
interest method is a way of calculating the amedisost of a financial asset or a financial
liability (or groups of financial assets or finaalciiabilities) and of allocating the interest
income or interest expense over the relevant period

The effective interest rate is the rate that eyadidcounts the estimated future cash payments
and receipts through the expected life of the famerasset or liability (or, where appropriate,
a shorter period) to the carrying amount of thariicial asset or liability. The effective interest
rate is established on initial recognition of tiahcial asset and liability and is not revised
subsequently. When calculating the effective irgerate, the Group estimates cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the finanamatrument but not future credit losses. The
calculation includes all amounts paid or receivgdhe Group that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate of a financial instrumemigluding transaction costs and all other
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premiums or discounts. Transaction costs are inenggh costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financssled or liability.

Interest income is recognised on available-for-saleurities using the effective interest rate
method, calculated over the asset’s expecteddifgédends are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income when the right to receive gayrhas been established.

Interest on impaired financial assets is calculdtgdpplying the original effective interest
rate of the financial asset to the carrying amasnteduced by any allowance for impairment.

v, Fees and commission

Fee and commission income is accounted for aswsllo

¢ income earned on the execution of a significanisactcognised as revenue when the
act is completed (for example the arrangementHeracquisition of shares or other
securities);

« income earned from the provision of services i®gaised as revenue as the services
are provided (for example asset management anitedees); and

* income that are integral to the effective interag on a financial asset or liability are
included in the measurement of the effective irgierate (for example, certain loan
commitment fees).

w, Other income

Other income comprises gains less losses relatettatbng and investment assets and
liabilities, and includes all realised and unrealidair value changes, interest, dividends and
foreign exchange differences.

X, Dividends

Dividend income is recognised when the right tenee income is established. Usually this is
the ex-dividend date for equity securities.

y, Employee benefits

The Group operates a staff pension scheme thaifigaas a defined contribution plan under
IFRS. All of the Group's employees are entitleghaticipate in this plan and the majority of
employees have elected to join. Assets of thisneefi contribution plan are managed
separately from the Group.

Payments to the defined contribution plan and stairaged retirement benefit plans, where
the Group’s obligations under the plans are eqentato a defined contribution plan, are
charged as an expense as they fall due.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measune an undiscounted basis and are
expensed as the related service is provided.
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A provision is recognised for the amount expectethe paid under short-term cash bonus if
the Group has a present legal or constructive atitig to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and the obligatBombe estimated reliably.

z, Segment reporting

MKB formed its reporting segments in line with IFRSOperating Segments” which requires
operating segments to be identified on the basistefnal reports about components of the
entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief @piag decision-maker, in order to allocate
resources to a segment and to assess its perfoemanc

A segment is a distinguishable component of theu@nhat is engaged either in providing
products or services (business segment), or inigirgy products or services within a
particular economic environment (geographical sedmewhich is subject to risks and
rewards that are different from those of other sagm

Segment revenue, segment expense, segment assedsgament liabilities are determined as
those that are directly attributable or can becalled to a segment on a reasonable basis,
including factors such as the nature of items, ¢baducted activities and the relative
autonomy of the unit. The Group allocates segmevenue and segment expense through an
inter-segment pricing process. These allocatioes canducted on arm’s length terms and
conditions. Please find further details on segmemorting in Note 41.

aa, Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of eacthe Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environmentwhich the entity operates (‘the
functional currency’).

Transactions in foreign currencies are translatedhée respective functional currencies of
Group entities at exchange rates at the datesdfdahsactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the end ofréperting period are retranslated to the
functional currency at the exchange rate at th#&.dEhe foreign currency gain or loss on
monetary items is the difference between amortisest in the functional currency at the
beginning of the period, adjusted for effectiveenaist and payments during the period, and the
amortised cost in foreign currency translated atdRkchange rate at the end of the period.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominatddrigeign currencies that are measured at fair
value are retranslated to the functional currerictha exchange rate at the date that the fair
value was determined. Foreign currency differerasésng on retranslation are recognised in
profit or loss, except for differences arising ¢w tretranslation of available-for-sale equity
instruments.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations|uding goodwill and fair value adjustments

arising on acquisition and equity put options, temslated to HUF at exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period. The income and expeédoreign operations are translated to
HUF at exchange rates at the dates of the transactiForeign currency differences are

recognised directly in equity, in the Currency slation reserve. When a foreign operation is
disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant ambimthe foreign currency translation reserve is
transferred to profit or loss.
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ab, Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that requireGitmip to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs becauspexified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a delrtiment.

Financial guarantee liabilities are initially reciged at their fair value, and the initial fair
value is amortised over the life of the financialagantee. The guarantee liability is
subsequently carried at the higher of this amaltismount and the present value of any
expected payment (when a payment under the guerdmate become probable). Financial
guarantees are included within other liabilities.

ac, Share capital

Shares are classified as equity when there is ntramual obligation to deliver cash or other
financial assets to the holders. Incremental cdsestly attributable to the issue of equity
instruments are presented in equity as a deduftbomthe proceeds, net of tax.

ad, Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings e gEPS) data for its ordinary shares.
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit osd attributable to ordinary shareholders of
the Bank by the weighted average number of ordis@ares outstanding during the period.
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profitoss attributable to ordinary shareholders
and the weighted average number of ordinary sharetanding for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. For further informatédoout basic and diluted EPS, please see Note
34.

ae, New standards and interpretations not yet adoptd

A number of new standards, amendments to standadiiterpretations are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 December 2012, and have eenh lapplied in preparing these
consolidated financial statements:

« IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (effective for annual periods beginning on or afle
January 2015),

IFRS 9was issued as part of a wider project to replace 38. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies

the mixed measurement model and establishes twoapyi measurement categories for
financial assets: amortised cost and fair valuee Bhsis of classification depends on the
entity's business model and the contractual cash ¢haracteristics of the financial asset. The
guidance in IAS 39 on impairment of financial assahd hedge accounting continues to

apply.

IAS 39 will hold until outstanding parts of IFRSfifialised. The application of IFRS 9 might
have significant impact on the group financial eta¢nt, the group will analyse the impact
after the adoption of the standard by EU.
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* IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements’ adopted by the EU on 11 December 2012
(effective for annual periods beginning on or afteélanuary 2014),

The objective of IFRS 10 is to provide a single smlidation model that identifies control as
the basis for consolidation for all types of erstiIFRS 10 replaces IAS Zbnsolidated and
Separate Financial Statementnd Interpretation 12 of the Standing Interpretetio
Committee (SICYonsolidation—Special Purpose Entit{&C-12).

The adoption of the above presented new Standatddwtave no impact on the financial
statements.

¢ IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”, adopted by the EU on 11 December 2@af2ective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 014

IFRS 11 establishes principles for the financigloréing by parties to a joint arrangement, and
replaces IAS 3linterests in Joint Ventureand SIC-13Jointly Controlled Entities—Non-
monetary Contributions by Venturers

The adoption of the above presented new Standatddwwave no impact on the financial
statements.

« IFRS 12 “Disclosures of Interests in Other Entitie$, adopted by the EU on 11 December
2012(effective for annual periods beginning on or aftelanuary 2014),

IFRS 12 combines, enhances and replaces the diselosquirements for subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and unconsolidated sedceuntities.

The adoption of the above presented new Standargl mesult in extended disclosure
requirements.

* IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”, adopted by the EU on 11 December 2Qdf?ective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Jan2éri3),

On 12 May 2011, the IASB issued IFRSH&r Value Measuremerghereinafter "IFRS 13").

IFRS 13 sets out a single IFRS framework for meagurfair value and provides
comprehensive guidance on how to measure the dhievof both financial and non-financial
assets and liabilities. IFRS 13 applies when amotRRS requires or permits fair value
measurement or disclosures about fair value memsmnts.

The adoption of the above presented new Standamddwesult in extended disclosure

requirements.

« 1AS 27 (revised in 2011) “Separate Financial Stateemts”, adopted by the EU on 11
December 201 geffective for annual periods beginning on or aftelanuary 2014),

The requirements relating to consolidated finansiatements are deleted and moved to IFRS
10 where appropriate. The accounting and disclosegeirements for separate financial
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statements remain in IAS 27; the title is amendedséparate Financial Statementihe
remaining paragraphs are renumbered sequentibflyst¢ope is adjusted and other editorial
changes are made. The accounting and disclosutérestgnts remaining in IAS 27 (as
amended in 2011) are also updated to reflect tidaguoe in IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and
IAS 28 (as amended in 2011).

The adoption of the above presented Amendment wbaleé no significant impact on the
financial statements.

* |AS 28 (revised in 2011) “Investments in Associatesnd Joint Ventures”, adopted by the
EU on 11 December 20X2ffective for annual periods beginning on or aftefanuary 2014),

The adoption of the above presented Amendment wbalag no significant impact on the
financial statements.

« IFRS 1 (Amendment) “First-time Adoption of IFRS” - Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters, pigd by the EU on 11 December 2012
(effective for annual periods beginning on or aftefanuary 2013),

On 20 December 2010, the International Accountingn@ards Board (IASB) published
amendments to International Financial Reportingi@&ed (IFRS") 1 First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting StandardSevere Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First- time Adopterdereinafter "the amendments to IFRS 1"). The dahje®f the
amendments to IFRS 1 is to introduce a new exemptiche scope of IFRS 1 — namely,
entities that have been subject to severe hypatiofl are allowed to use fair value as the
deemed cost of their assets and liabilities inrtbpening IFRS statement of financial position.
In addition, those amendments also replace theemfes to fixed dates in IFRS 1 with
references to the date of transition.

The adoption of the above presented Amendment wbalag no significant impact on the
financial statements.

* IFRS 7 (Amendment) “Financial Instruments: Disclosues” - Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities, adopted by the EU on D8cember 2012 (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013),

On 16 December 2011, the International Accountingn&ards Board (IASB) published
amendments to International Financial Reportingh@ad (IFRS) 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures —Offsetting Financial Assets and Firedridabilities. The amendment to IFRS 7
aims to require the provision of additional quaatiite information in order to allow the users
to better compare and reconcile the disclosureemuiiRS and the Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP) of the United States.

The adoption of the above presented Amendment wbaleé no significant impact on the
financial statements.

« IAS 1 (Amendment) “Presentation of financial statenents” -Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive Income, adopted by the EU alurle 2012 (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012),
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On 16 June 2011, the International Accounting Sdest&l Board (IASB) published
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial &taetgs - Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income (hereinafter "the amendmemt$AS 1"). The objective of the
amendments to IAS 1 is to make the presentaticdhedfncreasing number of items of other
comprehensive income clearer, and to assist ths o§dinancial statements in distinguishing
between the items of other comprehensive income dha be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss, and those that will never be resif#sd to profit or loss.

The adoption of the above presented Amendment whalte no impact on the financial
statements.

* IAS 12 (Amendment) “Income Taxes”- Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets,
adopted by the EU on 11 December 2012 (effectivafmual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013),

On 20 December 2010, the International Accountingn&ards Board (IASB) published
amendments to International Accounting StandaAiS()l 12 Income Taxes Beferred Tax:
Recovery of Underlying Assdtsereinafter "the amendments to IAS 12"). The dbjewf the
amendments to IAS 12 is to introduce an excepticihé measurement principle in IAS 12 in
the form of a rebuttable presumption that assuimasthe carrying amount of an investment
property measured at fair value would be recovehedugh sale and an entity would be
required to use the tax rate applicable to theafalmderlying asset.

The adoption of the above presented Amendment whbalte no impact on the financial
statements.

* IAS 19 (Amendment) “Employee Benefits”- Improvements to the Accounting for Post-
employment Benefits, adopted by the EU on 5 Junk22@ffective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013),

On 16 June 2011, the International Accounting Siedwl Board (IASB) published
Amendments to IAS 1&mployee Benefitghereinafter "the amendments to IAS 19"). As to
the amendments to IAS 19, they should help usefgahcial statements better understand
how defined benefit plans affect an entity's firnahposition, financial performance and cash
flows. The objective of the standard is to presetie accounting and disclosure for employee
benefits.

The adoption of the above presented Amendment whalte no impact on the financial
statements.

* |AS 32 (Amendment) “Financial instruments: presentaion” - Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities, adopted by the EU on D8cember 2012 (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014),

On 16 December 2011, the International Accountingn&ards Board (IASB) published
amendments to International Accounting StandardS)}IA32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and e Liabilities. The IASB amended IAS
32 to provide additional guidance to reduce incstesit application of the standard in
practice.

The adoption of the above presented Amendment wbalag no significant impact on the
financial statements.
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IFRIC 20 “Stripping Costs in the Production Phase 6 a Surface Mine”, adopted by the
EU on 11 December 2012 (effective for annual perioeginning on or after 1 January 2013).

On 19 October 2011, the IASB issued Interpretatith of the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee ('IFRIGYripping Costs in the Production Phase of a
Surface Ming"IFRIC 20"). The objective of IFRIC 20 is to prald guidance on recognition
of production stripping costs as an asset and einitial and subsequent measurement of the
stripping activity asset in order to reduce theedsity in practice as to how entities account for
stripping costs incurred in the production phasa sifirface mine.

The Group does not expect IFRIC 20 to have matérighct on the financial statements,
because of the nature of the Group’s operationgtamtypes of financial assets that it holds.

Risk management

a, Introduction and overview

All the Group’s activities involve a certain degreé risk assumption. The measurement,
evaluation, acceptance and management of theseaiskintegral parts of the Group’s daily
operative activity.

Risk management is an integral part of the Groop&arations and a crucial component of its
business and overall financial performance. The MBBup’s risk management framework
has been designed to foster the continuous momgtai the changes of the risk environment
and is supported by the strong commitment to aqrudsk management culture both on the
strategy and business line levels.

The main principles and priorities of the Groupiskrmanagement function include the
ultimate oversight by the Board of Directors (thmpval of the Supervisory Board is also
required for some specifically defined risk deaisiy the importance of independent review
of all risk-taking activities separately from busés lines, and the proper evaluation,
diversification, limitation, monitoring and reporgj of all risks. Decisions in respect of major
risk principles are approved at group level, anel ianplemented individually by the own
decision making boards of the Group members.

The effective communication on risk and risk appetthe on-going initiatives to better
identify, measure, monitor and manage risks, theavement of efficiency, user-friendliness
and awareness of key risk processes and pracéicdghe employment of highly-skilled staff
are the bases of running an effective risk managefoaction in the Group.

The Group has exposure to the following risks fitsuse of financial instruments:

» creditrisk :
The risk of lending comprises the potential riskied business partner failing to
fulfil its payment obligations or failing to do sm time as well as the risk of the
value of the receivable diminishing because theness partner’s credit rating
decreases. Risks stemming from loans or other tga@s commitments extended
to associated enterprises are also included inBdmk’s credit risk managing
mechanism.
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e country risk:
The country risk generally refers to a potentiasldriggered by an economic,
political or other event which takes place in tletigular country and cannot be
controlled by MKB, as creditor or investor. As aul of such an event(s), the
obligor cannot fulfil his obligation in time or all, or the Bank is unable to
enforce its rights against the obligor. The compmismeof the country risk are
transfer risk, sovereign risk and collective deloisk.

» participations risk:
The patrticipations risk is defined as the risktedao the following events:

o Potential losses from providing equity / equityrakihancial products or
subordinated loan capital; This involves potenlieses realised during
the sale of participation or loss occurring as sulteof a participation’s
bankruptcy, the (partial) write-off of the partiejions (also including
write-off settled on business or company value ocodyvill value), i.e.
loss suffered on the book value of the investment

o0 Potential losses from a possible commitment/ligbéxtended in addition
to equity investment (i.e. profit/loss transfer emnents), letters of
comfort, capital contribution commitments, addigbn funding
obligations)

o Potential losses originating from other risks amged with the
participation such as reputation risk, operatioiskl, exchange rate risk.

* market risks (including foreign exchange and irdgerate risks):
Market price risk comprises potential losses frdrarnges in market prices in both
the trading and banking books.

* liquidity risk:
MKB defines liquidity as the ability to serve itayoment obligations entirely as
they fall due and to fund new business at all timéhout having to accept
unplanned liquidation losses on the asset sideareased refinancing rates on the
funding side.

e operational risks:
Operational risk means the risk of loss resultigf inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from externaksvand includes legal risk.
Operational risk does not include business andtatipnal risks.

* legal risk:
Legal risk is the risk of losses due to the noneobence of the scope set by legal
provisions and jurisdiction caused by ignorancek laf diligence in applying law
or a delay in reacting to changes in legal framéwamditions (including non-
observance which is unavoidable or not attributablene’s own fault).

* reputational risk:
Reputational risk is defined as the risk of a baniéputation falling short of
expectations, reputation being a bank’s public ienagterms of its competence,
integrity and reliability as perceived by groupshna legitimate interest.

* real estate risk:
Real estate risk covers potential losses that coeddlt from fluctuations in the
market value of real estate owned by MKB Group.IRstate risks arising from
collateral provided for real estate loans are cedvemder credit risk.
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» strategic risk:
Strategic risk is defined as the negative impactapital and income of business
policy decisions, deficient or unsatisfactory immpkntation of decisions, or slow
adjustment to changes in the economic environment.

* business risk
Business risk is defined as unexpected changéwiedonomic environment that
cause negative changes in business volume or nsaagith are not attributable to
other types of risk. It quantifies the differencetvbeen planned and actual costs
and income.

Below information is presented about the Group’posxire to each of the above risks, the
Group’s objectives, policies and processes for om@ag and managing risk, and the Group’s
management of capital.

b, Risk management governance

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility the establishment and oversight of the
Group’s risk management framework, including apprguhe Risk Strategy (requiring final
approval by the Supervisory Board), the relatinticies and guidelines, and the monitoring
activities relating to risks the Group exposed to.

The Group's Risk Strategy was set up in consistemite the Business Strategy, the
regulations of the Hungarian Financial Supervisduyhority and BayernLB group standards.
The tasks incorporated in the Risk Strategy aienatring a balanced risk/return relationship,
development of a disciplined and constructive adrégnvironment, defining the Bank’s risk

assumption willingness, risk appetite and the omg@ibility of the Group to manage its risks
and the maintenance of its funds to cover risk sypes in the long term. This will also ensure
the capital preservation and guarantee the solvefhtlge Group at any time. It defines the
targets of the risk management of the Group’s nhaigsiness activities including mid-term

planning, thus providing the annual profit and g&nning framework.

The directions incorporated in the Risk Strategg apecified in internal policies and
instructions that must be adhered to in order tueae the Risk Strategy goals and targets.
The Risk Strategy is approved by the Supervisorgréo

The Supervisory Board on the highest level controls the harmonised andgnt operation of
the Bank and the credit institutions, financialegptises and investment companies under its
controlling influence.

The Supervisory Board controls the management efctmpany, and steers the company’s
internal audit organisation. It analyses the regaital ad-hoc reports prepared by the Board of
Directors, and exercises a right of approval wébards to certain risk decisions to be made
by the Board of Directors as specified in the Aescof Association of the Bank.

TheRisk Committee of the Supervisory Board primarily performs taskportfolio-level risk
supervision. It makes decisions related to the maod developments and events affecting the
risk position, as well as the tasks related todbmprehensive implementation of group-level
risk management principles and guidelines, andksh#w status of these. In this framework,
the Committee evaluates the reports of the BoarDidctors on risk management makes a
decision on the risk relevant topics and findinfygternal, external and regulatory audits.
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It also reviews in advance and prepares for theefigory Board's approval the Risk
Strategy of the Bank and the Bank Group.

The Board of Directors is the company's operative managing body; it carrizut
management-related tasks and ensures the keepirtgeo€ompany’s business books in
compliance with the regulations. Certain decisimfsthe Board of Directors of key
importance require the approval of the Supervi8wogrd. Its most important tasks include:
e Tasks related to the general meeting, shares aidbdd.
* Tasks related to the company’s organisation angesobactivities.
* Tasks related to strategic planning (preparatiothefbusiness policy and financial
plan, and risk strategy).
¢ Regulation tasks:
0 Approves the policies and regulations relatedgk aissumptions.
0 Prepares the Risk Decision Competence Regulation.
* Decision-making related to individual business deal
« Evaluation of regular and ad-hoc risk reports.

The Special Credit Committeeis the bank’s organisation with the highest levat decision
authority regarding the customers handled by trecf@pCredits Unit (SCU), whose decision-
making competency is extended to the following:
0 Special credit decisions on deals handled by thg &€ording to the Risk Decision
Competence Regulation;
o Decision making on measures, becoming necessamtrimduce with regards to the
SCU portfolio exposures, based on the quarterlycther risk reports.

Committees made up by the Bank’s managers can lnedfon the middle level of risk
management.

The LLP Committee has the competence to make decisions on provigipniithin the
frames of the Problematic Exposures and Provisgpritolicy and the Risk Decision
Competence Regulation.

The Advisory Committee is the permanent committee of Bayerische Landédsban
(BayernLB), which, in order to ensure the groupeleiisk control of BayernLB, supports the
decision-making of the Bank’s decision-making bedithrough the formulation of
recommendations of non-binding effect for risk dems above a certain value limit, and for
risk reports and risk strategies.

The Risk-Market Board is the bank’s permanent body with the highestghked decision-
making authority under the Board of Directors. Tihigly has the authority to make decisions
on credits case-by-case according to the Risk ec{Sompetence Regulation.

The Credit Committees are the bank’s permanent bodies vested with diddgaecision-
making competences.

The competency of thé&/holesale and Retail Credit Commitieeludes the making of case-
by-case credit decisions according to the Risk fi@esiCompetence- Regulation.

ALCO is responsible for the asset and liability managrgnand for the management of the
Group’s liquidity, funding, capital adequacy andrke risks. ALCO is responsible for the
elaboration of policies in principle for the managnt of liquidity risk, interest rate risk,
exchange rate risk (foreign exchange and secyritiapital adequacy risk, and the submission
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of this policy to the Board of Directors at MKB a@&toup level. Such high level policies
must include the following:

¢ measurement guidelines and limit system for thevalisks;

* competence and decision-making mechanism;

e guideline for managing limit excess.

The Pricing Committee has a leading role in forming the credit instibntiexchange rate
policy and pricing system. The Pricing Committealsbe responsible for drawing up and
submitting to the ALCO the exchange rate policy @imel pricing system of the Bank. Its
further task is to regularly review, during the exon, implementation of the annual
business plan, whether the pricing of productssises, and the order of granting preferential
conditions adequately support the Bank’s busingssfitability targets, to initiate the
modification thereof, if necessary. The Pricing Qoittee shall regularly report to ALCO
about its decisions adopted within its scope didad authority.

c, Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a coster or counterparty fails to meet an obligation

under a contract. It arises principally from theo@y's lending, trade finance and leasing

business, but also from certain off-financial positproducts such as guarantees, and from
assets held in the form of debt securities.

For risk management reporting purposes, the Groupiders and consolidates all elements of
credit risk exposure (such as individual obligofadé risk, country and sector risk).

Credit risk management

The members of the Group have standards, policiepeocedures dedicated to the effective
monitoring and managing risk from lending (incluglidebt securities) activities. The Bank

sets a requirement for the Group members to el&baral publish their own regulations that

comply with the Group-level rules approved by iheTrisk management of the members of
the MKB Group control and manage credit risks ghlgtandards, in a centralised manner. Its
responsibilities include:

¢ Formulating the Group member’s credit policy in soltation with business units by
establishing credit approval policies, standard®jtd and guidelines that define,
quantify, and monitor credit risk.

« Establishing the authorisation structure for theprapal and renewal of credit
facilities. In order to establish an adequate ¢rddcision-making system in which
decisions are made on time, the limit amounts sta@béished differently according to
the customer segment, the customer quality andts@ess line, for the delegated
credit decision authorities and the boards andviddal decision-makers of the
Business and Risk Units.

* Monitoring the performance and management of ratadl wholesale portfolios across
the Group.

« Supervising the management of exposures to debtises by establishing controls
in respect of securities held for trading purposes.

» Establishing and maintaining the Group members’centration risk management
policies ensuring that the concentration of expesioes not exceed the limits stated
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in the internal and regulatory limit systems anchaantration risks are effectively
managed without any need for additional capitaliregnents if possible.

* Developing and maintaining the Group members’ @skessment systems in order to
categorise the exposures according to the degrée ofsk of financial loss faced and
to manage the existing risks adequately. The perpbshe risk assessment system is
to define when impairment provisions may be reqlimgainst specific credit
exposures. The risk categorisation system coneistseveral grades which reflect
sufficiently the varying degrees of risk of defaaltd the availability of collateral or
other credit risk mitigation options with regard @aospecific exposure (see Credit
rating system subchapter).

* Providing position statements, guidance and pradrassupport to the business units
of the Group members in credit risk management.

Each group member must implement and apply theitgpeticy, harmonised at group level,
with credit approval authorities delegated by th#harised decision maker bodies. Each
Group member must prepare regular and ad hoc seporthe local management and, in
certain cases, to the Group leader and Bayern M&rowy the major cases and events of
lending. Each group member is responsible for tinity and results of its credit portfolio
and for monitoring and controlling all credit risksits portfolios. This includes managing its
own risk concentrations by market sector, geograptt/product. The control systems applied
by the Group enable the Group members to contrdlraonitor exposures by customer and
retail product segment.

In order to comply with the prudential requireme8<B Bank developed and operates its
borrower group forming concept, in harmony with thkevant prescriptions of BayernLB. As
part of that, the forming of Economic Groups in @biance with the BayernLB group level
requirements is to be highlighted as well as thedweer group-levelmonitoring concept.
According to the processes, the complete risk agiom process must be executed at the
level of borrower groups: in the case of the ingdiindl groups the limit proposal and
monitoring process for each individual group memliakes place at the same time based on
the collective analysis and consideration of risks.

With regards to the management of concentratioksrisMKB Bank Group fulfils the
BayernLB Group requirements on the limitation ofncentration risks. The group-level
concentration risk management process (Klumpenstegg and the global concept of
concentration risk limits is part of the concentmatrisk limitation. As part of the concept, the
Bank set up sector and product limits, in orderdstrain the assumption of further risks
arising from the characteristics/risks rooted iffietient sectors and the assumption of risks of
products representing high or special ri&kning at avoiding high risk concentration within
the portfolio, the concentration risk limit values been established for the total bank
portfolio, with the stipulation that the limits ¢fe individual customers/customer groups may
exceed this target value only in extraordinary arslified cases, based exclusively on the
strategic guidelines approved by the SupervisorgrBand on the relevant decision by the
Board of Directors.

The Bank introduced several further process related regulatory aggravations and
efficiency measures in 2012, taking into considenathe sustained financial and economic
crisis. Among such measures the establishmenteoR#structuring Department in June 2012
has to be highlighted. The mission of the departneio support the recovery of corporate
customers dealing with material financial problemystransforming their processes/finances
and furthermore restructuring their deals.
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The table below shows the Group’s maximum exposlassified as credit risk at the end of
the reporting period:

51

Loans and . N
Loans and advance Investmentin  Derivative OFF B/S

Cash reserves advances to "
to banks debt securities’ assets exposures
customers

Individually impaired

Performing (pass and special mention) - - 104 638 - - 1396
Substandard - - 79 904 - - 1390
Doubtful - - 142 124 - - 385
Bad - 18 160 047 - - 452
Total individually impaired gross amount - 18 486 713 - - 3623
Total individually impaired allowance for impairnten - (18) (218 190) - - (1907)
Total individually impaired carrying amount - - 268 523 - - 1716

Collectively impaired

Performing (pass and special mention) 2 26 365 1012 794 - - 330877
Substandard - - 96 330 - - 23
Doubtful - - 9 662 - - 19
Bad - - 4595 - - -
Total collectively impaired gross amount 2 26 365 1123381 - - 330919
Total collectively impaired allowance for impairnten - (50) (42 250) - - (2 407)
Total collectively impaired carrying amount 2 26 315 1081131 - - 328 512

Past due but not impaired

Performing (pass and special mention) - - 17 029 - - -
Substandard - - 2312 - - -
Doubtful - - 230 - - -
Bad - - 1214 - - -
Total past due but not impaired carrying amount - - 20 785 - - -
Past due comprises:
up to 30 days - - 3652 - - -
30 to 90 days - - 8212 - - -
over 90 days - - 8921 - - -
Total past due but not impaired carrying amount - - 20 785 - - -

Neither past due nor impaired

Performing (pass and special mention) 413788 55 001 285 905 229 230 20973 25 606
Substandard - - 1613 - - 34
Doubtful - - 124 - - -
Bad - - 276 - - 159
Total neither past due nor impaired carrying amount 413788 55 001 287918 229 230 20973 25799

Includes receivables with renegotiated terms

Total gross amount 413 790 81 384 1918 797 229 230 20973 360 341
Total allowance for impairme nt - 68 260 440 - - 4 314)

Total carrying amou 413 790 658 357

* Debt securities and other fixed income securtiesl. shares and other non fixed income secsyitie
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5.2

Individually impaired

Loans and advance
to banks

Cashreserves

Loans and
advances to

d
customers

OFF B/S
exposures

Derivative
assets

Investment in
lebt securities*

Performing (pass and special mention) 150 926 2343
Substandard 96 651 1075
Doubtful - 109 260 1093
Bad 20 182771 4676
Total individually impaired gross amount 20 539 608 9187
Total individually impaired alowance for impairnten (18) (221 999) (4 965)
Total individually impaired carrying amount 2 317 609 4222
Collectively impaired
Performing (pass and special mention) 29 264 1169 069 372339
Substandard - 85329 25
Doubtful 1065 2
Bad - 1821 -
Total collectively impaired gross amount 29 264 1257 284 372 366
Total collectively impaired allowance for impairnten (1149) (27 275) (2388)
Total collectively impaired carrying amount 29 150 1230 009 369 978
Past due but not impaired
Performing (pass and special mention) 20 650
Substandard 5003
Doubtful 2
Bad 905
Total past due but not impaired carrying amount 26 560
Past due comprises:
up to 30 days 4981
30 to 90 days 9031
over 90 days 12548
Total past due but not impaired carrying amount 26 560
Neither past due nor impaired
Performing (pass and special mention) 321677 55 900 419 334 288 738 22785 29 405
Substandard - - 588 - - 68
Doubtful 470 187 126
Bad - - 63 - - 625
Total neither past due nor impaired carrying amount 321677 55 899 420 455 288 925 22785 30224
Includes receivables with renegotiated terms
Total gross amount 85183 2243907 288 925 22785 411778

Total allowance for impairment

Total camying amount

321677

321677

* Debt securities and other fixed income securities. shares and other non fixed income secsiitie

Credit classification system

1994 633

7 354)

288 925

The Group’s credit risk classification systems pracesses differentiate exposures in order to
highlight those with greater risk factors and higpetential severity of loss. For individually
significant accounts, classifications are reviewagllarly and amendments, where necessary,
are implemented at least quarterly in terms of igioxs or exposure classification. Exposures
below specific amounts are assessed in groupselation to which the provisions are
reviewed at least yearly or, more frequently ifuieed, in line with the changes of the main
economic conditions. Within the framework of indival valuation, the Group uses the
following classification categories:

 Pass

e Special mention
e Substandard

e  Doubtful

e Loss

In classification based on group assessment, tloaviag four categories are applied:
* Pass
e Special mention
¢ Problematic

Materially problematic
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Within the rating categories, the pass indicatesm#& which are likely to return, as it is

substantiated by documents, and where the Grouly does not have to expect a loss, or the
delay in the repayment of the principal and therests, or in the performance of any other
repayment obligations does not exceed fifteen d@aygbthe loss likely to arise due to such
delay is fully covered by the value of the avaitabbllateral;

Special mention: exposures falling under this dalbing category show the signs of such
potential or actual worsening which, in lack of ejpiate measures, reduces the probability
of future repayment.

In this case the primary source of repayment isenatently jeopardized yet, maximum 10%
potential loss may be expected, however, the depemdon the collaterals or on those
granting the collaterals are increasing.

For credits, the repayment of which basically delseon the collateral, i.e., are based
primarily on the value of collateral, this ratingtegory is to be applied if the value of
collateral becomes uncertain or falls below thecleas defined in the framework of the
respective decision.

In contrast to the category of “Special mentioh& exposures with rating “Substandard” have
one or more such features, which unambiguously teferoblems in respect of ability of the
Customer to repay the credit. The rate of potetdis exceeds 10% and the collaterals do not
provide coverage either with proper safety. Theggwsures can be regarded as not properly
secured in case of possible occurrence of any [bissse features may cover but are not
limited to the following: considerable worseningtbe financial position, worsening of the
payment discipline, improper collaterals or pod#ies of enforcing the collaterals.

Exposures that need partial or full restructuririgthee credit documentation or important
change in the payment schedule, are to be cladsiie'Substandard” as well. The same is
applicable to the exposures, in the case of whiehfiture necessity of the above measures
may be considered presumably likely.

The exposures under the category “Doubtful” hawe dtiributes in addition to those of the
category “Substandard” whereby the problems arigenthe position, indicators and
management environment of the debtor make the nepaly of the loan doubtful or
improbable.

Exposures must be classified into this categorypayment delay exceeds 90 days and the
collaterals available do not provide appropriateecage for the expectable losses.

In this category the probability of loss is highn @e other hand, significant and important
events may still result in improvement of the qgwyalof loan. Since such events may
incidentally occur, neither the rate of loss noe tilate of its occurrence can be exactly
estimated.

Exposures having an expected rate of loss exceetlfg and the debtor fails to meet his
payment obligations despite several reminders te dfifect, should be classified under
category “Loss”.

Receivables from debtors under liquidation procedmust be classified under category
“Loss”, unless higher recovery than 30% may be egpg with great probability on the basis
of the collateral available.

The possible types of exposure handling are: ngrmtdnsive and problematic. The type of
exposure handling is determined by a set of catdefined in internal regulation based on
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relevant indicators warning of the customer or tila@saction being problematic. There is a
correlation between the provision amount and hagdiypes. Only such customers may be
managed within the framework of the normal or istea procedures, related to whom there is
no individual (not Incurred Loss) provision bookdddividual provision making involves
problematic handling parallel in each and evergcas

Clients in normal, intensive and also in problem#tatment may be managed by the Special
Credit Unit (SCU) established in 2011.

In case of Wholesale clients outside of SCU, intensare may be ensured either as the task
of the originally competent Business and Risk Ufalso executing normal management) or

as the task of Restructuring units, depending envtfilume of the exposure and the type of the
problem.

Problematic Loan Treatment Directorate takes ollevfahe tasks of dealing with the given

customer, preparing the necessary applicationscamging out the tasks of receivable and
customer rating in its own scope of competencdetms of the organisation structure, the
Problematic Loan Treatment Directorate belongs¢oRisk Office.

The units responsible for the customers monitooskpes on an ongoing basis and in the case
of default it has to be ensured that the custormdransferred to the appropriate type of
customer handling (intensive or problematic).

Periodic risk-based audits of the Group’s crediicpsses and portfolios are undertaken by the
Group’s Internal Audit function. During the audithe auditors check the adequacy, and
consistency with the regulations, as well as gtanf credit regulations and the consistency

between the regulations and the practice; an imhdapalysis of a representative sample of
accounts; consideration of any oversight or rewiewk performed by credit risk management

functions and the adequacy of impairment calcutgtiand a check that Group and local

standards and policies are adhered to in the appaon management of credit facilities.

Impaired loans and securities, off-balance sheents with provision allocated

Impaired loans and securities are those for whiehGroup estimates that it is probable that it
will be unable to collect all principal and interelsie according to the contractual terms of the
loan / securities agreement(s).

When impairment losses occur, the Group reducesairging amount of loans and advances
through the use of an allowance account. When imypit of available-for- sale financial
assets occurs, the carrying amount of the assetlized directly against net profit. Two types
of impairment allowance are in place: individualligsessed and collectively assessed, as
discussed below.

In determining the provision of off-balance shetms, for items subject to individual
assessment, the probability of the potential losstsken into account.

Individually allocated impairment and provision

In determining the level of allowances on indivittyaignificant loans, the Group applies the
discounted cash flow method. The amount and tiroingxpected receipts and recoveries and
the value of collateral and likelihood of succeBgftealizing it are considered in estimating
the allowance.

Cash-flow calculations for items in normal care agement, satisfying the criteria defined

for the Pass rating category, are not mandatobgtperformed in cases if
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a current limit review proposal or monitoring eepnot older than three months is
available, and

no such indicator or transfer criterion has ooediras apparent from the above or
during the period since then, or no such action esome necessary, which
would require the transfer into intensive care mbfem loan treatment based on
the Criteria catalogue of the monitoring and cusitoimeatment type of wholesale
clientele.

Regardless of the above, an individual impairmaftwation has to be made by all means in
the case of exposures outstanding to a customectedf by any of the below-listed criteria
(objective evidence):

Treasury default event

Outstanding exposure regarded as a restructaeed |

Material delay in time in the case of projects

~Balloon/bullet” type of financing structure

Interest capitalisation

Adverse change of collateral

If any of the definition “Substandard” or wordéaot classification is applicable

In the case of customers in intensive care or praldban treatment it is mandatory to carry
out such calculations.

Individually assessed impairment allowances andigpians are only reversed when there is
reasonable and objective evidence of a reductidhdrestablished loss estimate.

In case of provision calculation of contingent ligies the likelihood of turning into a balance
sheet item is to be defined and taken into conatater.

Collectively allocated impairment and provision

Collectively assessed provision is allocated ferfdilowing three main portfolios:

« on standard retail credits, rated on product basig;
» for homogeneous groups of balances that are naidened individually significant,
such as

0 balances up to HUF 250 million in the case of whkale customers managed
in normal or intensive care outside the portfoliamaged by SCU,

0 customers with less than HUF 125 million total esqpes, managed in
problematic treatment or SCU, or

0 in the case of other retail exposures being ndijesti to problem loan
treatment.

* In the form of portfolio based provisioning to coymtential, not yet identified losses
for deals for which provisions have not been alledandividually (rated as Pass).

Retail credits rated on product basis

The following credits are assessed on product basis
* Retail:

0 Credit cards

0 Open credit

0 Housing loans secured against real property (mgetd@ans)
0 Loans for unlimited purposes, secured againstmegderty
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o Personal loans
0 Loans taken over from Quality Financial
e Small corporate customers:
0 Széchenyi Card credit (state subsidised loangecial purposes)
0 1x1 Micro-company current account overdraft in Reobloan treatment

In case of retail credits assessed on product basiBank accumulated provisions with regard
to the following aspects:

* recovery expectations on problem loans,

* expected loss on performing loans.

Homogeneous groups of loans (group assessment)

A large number of relatively low value assets affebalance sheet items are valued in groups
in order to calculate impairment and provisionse Téquired provisioning rates are calculated
based on the statistical analysis of default amdhistoric tendency of the actual incurred
losses. Homogeneous groups are formed based omakevieria, including the payment
delay related to the specific contracts, and thstarner’'s involvement in bankruptcy or
liquidation procedures.

Incurred but not yet reported impairment loss

In case of items where no specific provision hankget aside (neither in course of Individual
evaluation, nor in Group evaluation), a portfolasbd Incurred Loss provision is allocated to
reflect those expected losses that may be suffaristhg from damages not yet detected. In
calculating the provision, the loss-related histatata of portfolios having similar credit risk

attributes as well as the ,loss identification pdfi (the estimated period between the
occurrence of the provision and the establishmedtalocation of the appropriate provision

for the loan to cover the loss) are taken into anto

Past due but not impaired loans

Loans and securities are presented as past dusgbunpaired where contractual interest or
principal payments are past due but the Group \ei¢hat the allocation of provision is not
appropriate on the basis of the level of securigollateral available and/or the stage of
collection of amounts owed to the Group.

Write-off policy

The Group, in compliance with the stipulationsexjdl regulations, writes off a loan / security

balance (and any related allowances for impairmesses) when there is documented

evidence that no further recovery can be expedikis. determination is reached on the basis
of a final statement in case of liquidation or ugmtablishment that after ceasing the debtor
and/or collateral provider to exist, and/or afteing all proceeds from collaterals there is still

unrecovered exposure remaining.

Collateral structure
The Group applies the basic principle, wherebyxiereds loans primarily in relation to and

based on the customer’s repayment capacity, instéadlying too much on the available
collateral. Depending on the customer’s paying cipand rating, as well as the product
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type, unsecured loans may be extended only intlgtriegulated and controlled cases.
Nevertheless, collateral may be an important nmitigé credit risk.
The main collateral types are as follows:

« primarily mortgages on residential properties ia tétail sector;

« pledge on business assets, such as real estatas,asid debtors, in the commercial
and industrial sector;

« mortgages on the financed properties in the comaleeal estate sector; and
e securities, guarantees,
e money, securities deposited as collateral.

The Bank establishes the coverage ratio requirednidividual exposures and makes its
decisions on the basis of the so-called liquidatialue of the collateral items instead of their
market value. This amount reflects the estimatexteeds which may be obtained from the
properly prepared and professionally executed tbisade of the collateral item. The use of
this amount in the calculations also contributeghi® prudent management of the existing
risks, in line with the related procedures, laidvdan the strictly defined responsibility and

decision-making regulations.

Taking into account the EU and Hungarian regulatmyironment and legal practices, and
relying on its own experiences and known Hunga&dgperiences in the enforcement of the
collateral items, the Bank restricted, as muchassiple (within the limits of the economies of
scale) the rules of acceptability of the varioudlateral items and the calculation of the
liquidation values assigned to them. The regulanitodng and revaluation of the collateral
items securing the individual exposures is an irgydr pillar in the Bank’s monitoring
system.

The values of collaterals held at the end of tip@rng period were as follows:

5.3

Loans and
Loans and Guarantees and

advances to Securities 8 , Letter of credit Undrawn credit
contingencies

advances to banks
Customers

Cash deposit - 28271 - 13093 118 1635

Debt securities issued by

Central governments 174

Companies - 1099 - 966 - 157
Others - 4848 - -
Shares
Mortgage - - - -
Building (incl. plot) - 919 800 - 19 495 3931 17 270
Other (ship, patent, chattel, goods st - 81 428 - 8025 162 4663

lien on assets over total assets, etc.)
Guarantees from

Central governments - 59 679 - 1469 - 9488

Other banks - 51515 - 18 761 - 843

Companies - 40 668 - 16 225 276 10 635
Others - 47 631 - 163 - 17191
Total collateral - 1234939 - 78371 4487 61 881
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Loans and ot Guarantees and
advances to Securities Letter of credit  Undrawn credit

advances to banks contingencies
Customers

Cash deposit - 20 935 - 14137 188 1210

Debt securties issued by

Central governments - 25 - 478 -
Companies - 2545 - 841 - 181
Others - 8552 - -
Shares
Mortgage
Building (incl. plot) - 1154 524 - 25329 6 689 22170
Other (ship, patent, chattel, goods stt - 86 447 - 13775 90 2479

ien on assets over total assets, etc.)
Guarantees from

Central governments - 84 615 - 2 446 6421 11244

Other banks - 94 670 - 27 368 - 6522

Companies - 35677 - 17 342 249 8735
Others - 32214 - 4247 - 13 963
Total collateral - 1520203 - 105 963 13637 66

The Group obtained assets by taking possessionllateral held as security, or calling upon
other credit enhancements, as follows:

2012 2011

%
"h

Non-financial assets

Properties 14 463 9 905

Inventories 1373 3 097

Other 4 5
Total assets obtained 15 840 13 0O
Thereof properties from discounted operation 3315 9 52

The management and processes related to asseisedbtae regulated in Debt to Asset
Policy.

Concentrations
The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk d®ctor and by risk classification. An

analysis of concentrations of credit risk by se@nd by risk classification at the end of the
reporting periods is shown below:

41/129



MKB Bank Zrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Consolidated Financial Statements as at Decemh&03P

Loans and . o
Loans and advance Investment in Derivative OFF B/S
Cash reserves advances to "
to banks debt securities* assets exposures

customers
Category | - without country risk - 36 004 53 545 598 6 368 14 808
Category Il - with low to medium country r - 4373 31905 - 1329 1764
Category Ill - with medium to high country r - 7049 129 148 - 6 312
Total exposure - 47 426 214 598 598 7 703 16 884

Loans and . o
Loans and advance Investment in Derivative OFF B/S
Cash reserves advances to "
to banks debt securities* assets exposures

customers
Category | - without country risk - 51 855 75 086 2530 - 5615
Category Il - with low to medium country r - 2904 46 006 8441 - 4804
Category I1I - with medium to high country risk - 571 158 137 - - 13
Total exposure - 55 330 279 229 10971 - 10 432

* Debt securities and other fixed income securfiesl. shares and other non fixed income secsitie

« Category | comprises countries in the EMU, GredtiaBr and Switzerland

» Category Il comprises countries with BayernLB coyntating 1 to 11 excluding
countries in Category |, e.g. Russia, Croatia, iaat€zech Republic

e Category lll comprises countries with BayernLB cwounrating over 11, e.g.
Romania, Bulgaria, Turkey, and Ukraine.

This categorization is based on BLB rating

5.6
Loans and advance LTSEI Investment in Derivative OFF B/S
Cash reserves advances to "
to banks debt securities* assets exposures
customers

Aerospace - - 630 - - 26
Automotive - - 57 582 - - 12 755
Aviation - - 17 870 - 78 1847
Banks - 40 002 5944 976 8 296 11418
Chemicals - - 17771 - 1 4622
Construction - - 51417 - 29 73 600
Consumer Durables - - 10911 - 1 3340
Defence - - 1 - - 45
Food + Beverages - - 127763 - 121 28 868
Gas - - 10 202 - 31 2133
Health Care - - 6029 - - 2924
Hotels - - 22 140 - - 886
Insurance companies - - 513 - - 873
Logistic - - 59 106 - 2525 17 116
Manufactoring and Engineering - - 17 268 - 25 6872
Media - - 7975 - - 3845
Metals +Mining - - 8235 - 1 2929
Oil - - 15 426 - - 24905
Pharmaceuticals - - 13614 - 158 9838
Pulp + paper - - 13294 - - 480
Real Estate - - 724 414 - 9423 4255
Retail - - 47 765 - 7 26 746
Sovereigns 394 098 34 648 8644 223212 2 11 904
Steel - - 19 282 - 2 792
Technology - - 26 988 - 144 30513
Telecom - - 3117 - - 20013
Texties + Apparel - - 10 380 - 3 1553
Tourism - - 1248 - - 2909
Utilities - - 47 905 - - 35381
Non profit organization - - 1408 - - 97
Without sector 19 692 6734 5545 5042 42 5498
Private - - 558 411 - 84 11 358
Total exposure 413 790 81 384 1918 798 229 230 20973 360 341

* Debt securities and other fixed income securtiesl. shares and other non fixed income secsiyitie
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Loans and

Loans and advance Investment in Derivative OFF B/S
Cash reserves advances to "
to banks debt securities* ESS exposures
customers
Aerospase - - 705 - - 32
Automotive - - 58 790 - 446 14772
Aviation - - 20283 - - 2301
Banks 271 802 82678 29920 4751 9217 14 084
Chemicals - - 18 636 - 19 4871
Construction - - 63 839 - 508 97 635
Consumer Durables - - 13382 - 30 3724
Defence - - 2 - - 45
Food + Beverages - - 137 146 - 276 30 908
Gas - - 6692 - - 720
Health Care - - 9 480 - - 5549
Hotels - - 18 237 - - 826
Insurance companies - - 398 - - 2102
Logistic - - 69 361 - 2141 23 816
Manufactoring and Engineering - - 22 604 - 182 6201
Media - - 9040 - - 3829
Metals +Mining - - 9205 - 13 3158
Oil - - 9575 - - 29 500
Pharmaceuticals - - 17975 - 859 8592
Pulp + paper - - 15 365 - - 807
Real Estate - - 843 582 - 7972 18 276
Retail - 56 281 - - 23841
Sovereigns 33643 - 12 109 275733 38 20 568
Steel - - 7287 - - 40
Technology - - 30322 - 629 24 217
Telecom - - 31786 - - 10 387
Textiles + Apparel - - 10 243 - 6 2094
Tourism - - 1710 - - 2534
Utilties - - 50 319 - 66 30561
Non profit organization - - 2058 - - 75
Without sector 16 232 2505 7178 8441 32 16 924
Private - - 660 395 - 351 8790
Total exposure 321 677 85 183 2 243 907 288 925 22 785 411778

* Debt securities and other fixed income securfiesl. shares and other non fixed income secsyitie

d, Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group's casbwik may not be adequate to fund operations
and meet commitments on a timely and cost-effediaas. This risk arises from mismatches
in the timing of cash flows.

Management of liquidity risk

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is tswee, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities hen due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable lossegsking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group requires its operating entities to maingastrong liquidity position and to manage
the liquidity profile of their assets, liabilitiesnd commitments with the objective of ensuring
that cash flows are appropriately balanced andkdijations can be met when due.

The management of liquidity and funding is primardarried out locally in the operating

entities of the Group in accordance with practiaed limits set by the Board of Directors.
These limits vary by entity to take account of tepth and liquidity of the market in which

the entity operates. It is the Group’s generalgyothat each banking entity should be self-
sufficient with regards to funding its own operaso

The daily liquidity position is monitored and reguliquidity stress testing is conducted under
a variety of scenarios covering both normal andevsmvere market conditions. All liquidity
policies and procedures are subject to approvaheyBoard of Directors following the prior
review and approval by the ALCO.
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Contractual maturity of liabilities

5.7

Carrying

Gross nominal up

tol

1 monthto 3 3 monthsto1l 1yearto5 5 years and

Non-derivative liabilities

amount

inflow/(outflow)

month

months

ear

ears

over

Trading liabilties (21 835) - - - - - -
Amounts due to other banks (674 216) (852 620) (26 381) (10 227) (227 118) (467 831) (121 063)
Deposits and current accounts (1389037) (1453687) (844 303) (283 833) (261197) (58371) (5983)
Issued debt securities (170 246) (168 415) (3759) (11 192) (24138) (129 327) -
Subordinated debt (101 642) (122 190) (62) (548) (3547) (86876)  (31157)
Derivative liabilities
Trading: outflow (277 113) (58 232) (20 755) (97 779) (90 014) (10 333)
Trading: inflow 268 601 56 966 18 175 95 433 88 382 9645
Risk management: outflow (2 867) - (110) (2757)
Risk management: inflow 2719 1 53 2 665
Loan commitments (202863) (10 489) (22 405) (98 265) (22 492) (49 212)
Loans and advances 1739673

Carrying

amount

Gross nominal up
inflow/(outflow)

tol

month

1 monthto3 3 monthsto1l 1yearto5 5 years and

Non-derivative liabilities

months

Trading liabilties (33 463) - - - - - -
Amounts due to other banks (977 326)  (1372980) (112 661) (21 052) (293 353) (655 776) (290 138)
Deposits and current accounts (1463472) (1536607) (924 351) (319 801) (235637) (56 540) (278)
Issued debt securities (171 145) (174 412) (16 266) (9 106) (62855) (86 184) -
Subordinated debt (108 486) (139 724) (150) (606) (4707) (35013) (99 248)
Derivative liabilities
Trading: outflow (454 564) (175 543) (100 893) (111197) (41 694) (25 238)
Trading: inflow 452 439 174 069 94 896 116 726 42 124 24 624
Risk management: outflow (3180) (117) - (3 062)
Risk management: inflow 2981 11 49 2922
Loan commitments (217 926) (10 774) 977) (104 478) (20 525) (72 377)
Loans and advances 2 079 685

The above table shows the undiscounted cash flowth® Group’s financial liabilities and
loan commitments on the basis of their earliessinbs maturity. The Gross nominal inflow /
(outflow) disclosed in the previous table is thentcactual, undiscounted cash flow on the
financial liability or commitment. The disclosurerfderivatives shows a gross inflow and
outflow amount for derivatives (e.g., forward exebe contracts and currency swaps).

The Group’s expected cash flows on these instrusneaty significantly from this analysis.
For example, demand deposits from customers areceeghto maintain a stable or increasing
balance; and loan commitments are not all expetttdze drawn down immediately. Due to
the significant difference between the expected thiedcontractual cash-flows, the Group’s
risk management department use both analysis tocageatiquidity risk. The expected,
undiscounted cash-flows on the Group’s financailities were as follows:
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Expected maturity of liabilities

5.8

Carrying Gross nominal upto 1 1 monthto3 3 monthsto1l 1yearto5 5 years and

amount inflow/(outflow) month months

Non-derivative liabilities

Trading liabilties (21 835) - - - - - -
Amounts due to other banks (674 216) (852 620) (26 381) (10 227) (227 118) (467 831) (121 063)
Deposits and current accounts (1389037) (1474958) (209 611) (76 439) (120 067)  (81602) (987 239)
Issued debt securities (170 246) (168 415) (3759) (11 191) (24138) (129 327) -
Subordinated debt (101 642) (122 190) (62) (548) (3547) (86876)  (31157)

Derivative liabilities
Trading: outflow - (277 113) (58 232) (20 755) (97 779) (90 014) (10 333)
Trading: inflow - 268 601 56 966 18 175 95 433 88 382 9 645
Risk management: outflow - (2 867) - (110) - (2 757)
Risk management: inflow - 2719 - 1 53 2 665

Loan commitments - (44 630) (44 630)

Loans and advances 1739673

Carrying Gross nominal upto 1 1 monthto3 3 monthsto1l 1yearto5 5 years and

amount inflow/(outflow) month months

Non-derivative liabilities

Trading liabilties (33 463) - - - - - -
Amounts due to other banks (977326)  (1372356) (112 661) (21 489) (295 411) (652 658) (290 138)
Deposits and current accounts (1463472) (1559800) (118 146) (51271) (41 072) (15 713) (1 333598)
Issued debt securities (171 145) (174 412) (16 266) (9 106) (62855) (86 184) -
Subordinated debt (108 486) (139 724) (150) (606) (4707) (35013) (99 248)

Derivative liabilities
Trading: outflow - (454 564)  (175543) (100 893) (111197) (41 694) (25 238)
Trading: inflow - 452 439 174 069 94 896 116 726 42 124 24 624
Risk management: outflow - (3180) - 117) - (3 062)
Risk management: inflow - 2981 - 11 49 2922

Loan commitments - (68 995) (15 821) (30 205) (22 969)

Loans and advances 2079 685

The decision of the Management of the Group, howesalso based on the liquidity gap (net
position) between contractual in- and outflows réfi@re both financial assets and liabilities
are grouped into liquidity brackets.

The following table presents the amounts expeatdoetrecovered or settled after more than
one year and within one yeatr:

59
2012 2011
Uptolyear Overlyear Uptolyear Overl yea
Loans and advances to banks 81294 22 85 028 24
Loans and advances to customers 401 169 1257 188 11823 1371520
Trading assets 13674 20 204 25 500 32 148
Investments in AFS securities 95 482 133 748 84 083 8204
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e, Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market ggjcsuch as interest rate (interest rate risk),
equity prices (equity risk), and foreign exchangtes (foreign exchange risk) will affect the
Group’s income or the value of its holdings of fical instruments.

Management of market risks

As part of the Risk strategy, the Board of Direstapproves the maximum amount and scope
of market risks incurable by the Bank, ensured bgomprehensive limit structure broken
down by relevant portfolios. The main market rigkil is arising from the annual capital
allocation process based on ICAAP requirements.

The Board has established the Asset and Liabiity0O) committee, which is responsible
for developing and monitoring Group market risk ag@ment policies. ALCO has the overall
responsibility for establishing and managing mantsk policies for the Bank, within the
framework of internal policies, covering risk maeagent, assessment of risk and related
limits, competence and decision-making mechanigmd, regulation for breaches of limits,
approved by the Board of Directors. The memberthef ALCO are senior executives who
have principal decision-making responsibilities lfoisinesses throughout the whole Group. At
the operational level, market risk is managed leyNoney and Capital Markets Directorate
on a group-wide basis.

The objective of market risk management is to manaigd control market risk exposures
within acceptable parameters, while optimizingriteirn on risk.

The Group separates its exposure to market risideet trading and non-trading portfolios.

Trading portfolios include those positions arising from market-makiogstomer business
driven proprietary position-taking and other markednarket positions as designated.
According to the risk strategy of the Group thesendb own account activity (proprietary
trading) with the purpose of short term profit Bvgsfrom market changes. Trading activities
include transactions with debt and equity secwititoreign currencies, and derivative
financial instruments.

Non-trading portfolios include positions that arise from Group’s retaildacommercial
banking activity and the interest rate managemdnthe Group’s retail and commercial
banking assets and liabilities. The Group's nodiigaactivities encompass all activities other
than accounted for as trading transactions, inodiénding, accepting deposits, and issuing
debt instruments.

Exposure to market risks — trading portfolios

The Group manages exposure to market risk by ésiélg and monitoring various limits on
trading activities. These limits include:

¢ Product volume limits define maximum aggregate am®wf trading products and
contracts that the Group may hold at any time.

* FX position limits restrict the long and short gmsi for each currency and the total
net amounts of FX positions that can be held inithding and banking books.

¢ VaR limits: The VaR limit of a trading portfolio ithe estimated maximum loss that
will arise on the portfolio over a specified periotitime (holding period) from an
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adverse market movement with a specified probgbilionfidence level). MKB
Group applies parametric VaR method with 1-day imgigoeriod at 99% confidence
level with 0.94 decay factor, and with an obseoraperiod of 187 business days.
PLA (Potential Loss Amounts) limits define maximamount of loss that the Group
is willing to assume.

The VaR model used is based mainly on historictd.dBaking account of market data from
the previous 187 business days, and observedamrdaips between different markets and
prices, the model calculates both diversified andiversified total VaR, and VaR by risk

factors such as interest rate, equity and currstady.

Although VaR is an important tool for measuring kedrrisk, the assumptions on which the
model is based do give rise to some limitationgluiding the following:

A 1-day holding period assumes that it is possibléedge or dispose of positions
within that period. This is considered to be aistial assumption in almost all cases
but may not be the case in situations in whichghgsrsevere market illiquidity for a
prolonged period.

A 99 percent confidence level does not reflectdeghat may occur beyond this level.
Even within the model used there is a one percetigbility that losses could exceed
the VaR.

VaR is calculated on an end-of-day basis and doegeflect exposures that may arise
on positions during the trading day.

VAR only covers “normal” market conditions.

The VaR measure is dependent upon the Group’sigosind the volatility of market
prices. The VaR of an unchanged position reducethdf market price volatility
declines and vice versa.

The overall structure of VaR limits is subject gview and approval by ALCO. VaR limits
are allocated to trading portfolios. VaR is meaduon a daily basis. Daily reports of
utilisation of VaR limits are prepared by the GrsuRisk Unit and regular summaries are
submitted to ALCO.

A summary of the VaR position of the Group’s tragportfolios (i.e. only trading book) at 31

December and during the period is as follows:

5.10

2012 Average Maximum Minimum Stress (15%)
Foreign currency risk 519 1396 294 5415
Interest rate risk 442 1027 96 -
Equity risk 8 13 - -

Overall market risk of trading book 969 390
Credit spread risk of trading book 865 1226 652 -

2011 Average Maximum Minimum

Foreign currency risk 715 1527 327
Interest rate risk 650 1252 295
Equity risk 11 16 7
Overall 1376 2795 62
Credit spread risk of trading book 1192 1621 867

47/129



MKB Bank Zrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Consolidated Financial Statements as at Decemh&03P

Important notes in connection with the table above:

- MKB applies parametric VaR for general marketkriaccording to Risk metrics
methodology (1 day holding period; 99% confideneeel, 0,94 decay factor, number of
observation: 187 business days)

- MKB calculates specific interest rate risk (ctespread risk) separately from general interest
rate risk based on the swap and bond yield cumesasp

- The table contains only VaR of the trading bookipon.

- There is no commodity in MKB Group position.

- MKB Group does not have significant open positfoom options therefore there is no
volatility VaR calculation.

A potential adverse 15% change in the fx rates (Hipreciation for long position and HUF
depreciation for short position) would cause HU#15 M losses based on the end of year fx
open position (majority of the fx position arisifigm foreign investments, end of the year
provision is not taken into account).

Exposure to interest rate risk — non-trading portfos

The principal risk to which non-trading portfoliee exposed is the risk of loss from
fluctuations in the future cash flows of financiaktrument because of a change in market
interest rates.

The management of interest rate risk is supplemdehye monitoring the sensitivity of the
financial assets and liabilities to various staddand non-standard interest rate scenarios.
Standard scenarios that are considered on a mobdsig include a 200 basis point parallel
fall or rise in all yield curves worldwide.

The ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance wabproved limits and is assisted by
Risk Controlling in its monitoring activities. A sunary of the Group’s interest rate gap
position on non-trading portfolios is as follows:

At the end of the reporting period the interesk rptofile of the Group’s interest-bearing
financial instruments was:

511

As at 31 December 2012

Fixed rate instruments in HUF millions
Financial assets 657 731

Financial liabilties 1 147 784)
Total fixed rate instruments (490 053

Variable rate instrume nts

Denominated in

Other currencies
Financial assets 539 723 445 866 978 776 29 739 92 295
Financial liabilties 16 019)
Total variable rate financial instruments 144 222 116 440 415 454 q
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As at 31 December 2011

Fixed rate instruments in HUF millions
Financial assets 683 212

Financial liabilties 1 238 607)
Total fixed rate instruments (555 395

. . Denominated in
Variable rate instruments

HUF CHF EUR USD Other currencies

Financial assets 501 953 620 704 1153119 33165 70 446
Financial liabilties

Total variable rate financial instruments

An analysis of the Group’s sensitivity to an in@ear decrease in market interest rates is as
follows:

5.12

As at 31 December 2012

Effect on equity Effect on P/L

HUF
200 bp increase 623 941
200 bp decrease (614) 1039
CHF
200 bp increase (105) 1019
200 bp decrease 3 (2 442)
EUR
200 bp increase 27 (356)
200 bp decrease (89) (246)
uUsD
200 bp increase 178 9
200 bp decrease (59) 1132
Other currencies
200 bp increase 926 (398)
200 bp decrease (826) 2 130
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As at 31 December 2011

Effect on equity Effect on P/L

HUF
200 bp increase (698) (1 751)
200 bp decrease 736 726
CHF
200 bp increase (14) (704)
200 bp decrease (45) (4 315)
EUR
200 bp increase 952 (3 006)
200 bp decrease (758) (612)
uUsD
200 bp increase 237 (1 037)
200 bp decrease (122) 930
Other currencies
200 bp increase 412 (1 804)
200 bp decrease (326) 1448

The amount of change, during the period and curvelgt in the fair value of the financial
liabilities designated as at fair value throughfipiar loss, that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of that liabilities are the followings:

5.13

Effect of credit risk changes of liabilities measwed at Fair

2012

Value Through Profit or Loss

Changes during the reporting period (1942) 2
Changes cumulatively (since designation of thenfiie liabilities) (2 396) (454)
Difference between the financial liability's cangiamount and the (4 562) (7 272)

amount contractually required to pay at maturity
Total (8 900) (7 724

The amount which reflects on changes in market itomd for these liabilities as changes in
interest rate, is estimated as follows:

(a) First, computing the liability’s internal raté return at the start of the period using the
observed market price of the liability and the ili®§js contractual cash flows at the start of
the period. It deducts from this rate of return tiserved (base rate of the relevant market)
interest rate at the start of the period, to aravean instrument-specific component of the
internal rate of return.

(b) Next, calculating the present value of the déshis associated with the liability using the
liability’s contractual cash flows at the end oétheriod and a discount rate equal to the sum
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of (i) the observed (base rate of the relevant etarkterest rate at the end of the period and
(i) the instrument-specific component of the int@rrate of return as determined in (a).

(c) The difference between the observed markeemfche liability at the end of the period
and the amount determined in (b) is the changaiimvalue that is not attributable to changes
in the observed (base rate in the relevant maikietlest rate.

Exposure to other market risks — non-trading portites

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk gindts holdings of financial instruments
denominated in foreign currencies. Exchange riskagament aims to reduce the adverse
impact of potential changes in the market valuefoséign currency financial instruments
induced by exchange rate fluctuations. The Grofip&ncial position in foreign currencies at
the end of the reporting periods was as follows:

5.14
In functional In foreign currencies
2012 currencies UsSD EUR CHF Other Total
Financial assets except for derivatives 1002 63940 719 960 745 392963 182107 2579173
Financial liabilties except for derivatives 10886 167 195 866 887 311327 147158 2579173
Net derivative and spot instruments (short) / lpagition 54 093 126 580 (99 236) (84 777) 3340
Total net currency positions (29 874) 104 (5378) (3141) 38289 -
In functional In foreign currencies
2 currencies Usb EUR CHF Other Total
Financial assets except for derivatives 101373249451 1123675 563947 193156 2943961
Financial liabilties except for derivatives 114156 177 598 962667 517077 139004 2943961
Net derivative and spot instruments (short) / pogition 124557 125777 (172976) (47 252) (30 106)
Total net currency positions (9326) (2370) (11968) (382) 24046

f) Credit spread risk

Credit spread risk is the risk of changing marké&tepof the bonds due to change in spread of
bonds’ issuer which may have negative impact orGtwip’s performance.

Managing and monitoring credit spread risk

The framework of credit spread risk managementefidd in the risk strategy. According to
this risk strategy credit spread risk may be takaety within the approved limits. Credit
spread risk is managed on operative level by thexdyloand Capital Market Directorate.
Group’s Risk Unit is responsible for measuring dredread risk, controlling limit utilisations
and reporting it to ALCO.

Risk measurement

Similar to the general interest rate risk measurgnifee Group establishes the credit spread
risk figures based on the present value of theéutash flows.

The applied credit spread stress test values argeckregularly, but at least bi-yearly. The

length of liquidation periods used for the calcigias are matched to the required liquidation
time of the products.
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g, Operational risks

Operational risk means the risk of loss resultirggrf inadequate or failed internal processes,
people and systems or from external events, arlddes legal risk. Operational risk does not
include business and reputational risks.

Legal risk is the risk of losses due to the noneobance of the scope set by legal provisions
and jurisdiction caused by ignorance, lack of éifige in applying law or a delay in reacting

to changes in legal framework conditions (includman-observance which is unavoidable or
not attributable to one’s own fault).

Procedure

The principles, rules and procedures that serveroperly identify, manage and monitor
operational risk are defined in the BayernLB GraypRisk Guidelines, in the Risk Strategy
and in the OpRisk policy, operative directives &HO directive established by taking into
considering the local requirements as well.

Risk measurement

The operational risk capital requirement of MKB Ra#drt. is calculated by using The
Standardised Approach (TSA) both at single and gréavel since January 1st 2008.
According to the Standardised Approach the operatioisk capital requirement is the
average of the preceding three years’ total of weeghted governing indicators of the
business lines (gross income).

Risk management and monitoring

The system that serves to evaluate operationalisidkilly integrated in the Bank’s risk
management process and in the work processes.

The centralised unit of the Bank’s operational neknagement is the Centralised OpRisk
Management that is responsible for the establishnagrni maintenance of the internal
regulation and organisation (including the IT sgstand the oprisk network) of operational
risk management and for the establishment and owdidn of the oprisk management
methods and tools. Besides, its task is to ensugep loss data collection and in connection
with that the reporting obligations.

Besides the Centralised OpRisk Management, DedizettaOpRisk Units (extended to the
whole organisation) were established that identi&port and manage operational risks and
their tasks and responsibilities are included & dbprisk regulations. The Centralised OpRisk
Management keeps independent control over the Detised OpRisk Managers that are
assigned in the various units and responsible famaging operational risk and reporting of
loss events.

At group level the Centralised OpRisk Management&fB determines the operational risk
regulations required from the subsidiaries, and dlse framework for operational risk
management at group level and in this respect sigesr the subsidiaries as well. The
centralised and decentralised operational risk gament units have also been established in
the subsidiaries that have loss data collectionrapdrting obligation towards the Centralised
OpRisk Management of MKB.

The Centralised OpRisk Management of MKB preparespart on the current status of the
operational risk management of the Bank and oEtlsidiaries for the Board of Directors on
a quarterly basis. Besides, an oprisk risk repoprepared at group level for BayernLB, also
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on a quarterly basis (as a part of the so-calledimrisk report). The Bank fulfils oprisk
COREP data delivery to HFSA on a quarterly basgraip level.

Risk management methods and tools

Loss data collection

MKB Bank Zrt. has been performing operational fiss data collection continuously which
includes the electronic reporting and managingpafrational risk loss events.

OpRisk Self-Assessment — ORSA

The Bank performs the oprisk self-assessment ynitniit, with the help of a questionnaire, in
order to recognise and understand the operatidsied related to the work processes and to
increase the level of risk-awareness of the units.

Key Risk Indicators - KRIs

The key risk indicators are those performancefrilos that are suitable for revealing areas
and factors critical for operational risk, the charof value of which indicates the change of
factors important from the point of view of riskaoerence. By defining and monitoring the

values of the suitable indicators the Bank intetadiselp forecasting, preventing and reducing
operational risks.

Business Continuity Planning

In order to undisturbedly maintain the Bank’s opieral processes it is necessary to evaluate
the potential threats of the certain processeg, phebability of occurrence and the potential
damages resulting from the fallout of the proces3éss risk analysis and the procedures
needed to maintain the functionality of the Ban&iganisation is included in the Business
Continuity Plan and the Disaster Recovery Plan (BE#) The BCP-DRP includes
measures that have to be taken when the procdsaesire critical regarding the Bank’s
operation and (eg. IT) resources that support th@seesses get damaged or become
unmaintainable.

Membership of the Hungarian Interbank Operational Risk Database (HUnOR)

The Bank is one of the foundation members of theddrian Interbank Operational Risk
Database (HunOR) that began its live operation sy M007 with the participation of 13

domestic financial institutions. The member ingtitns report their loss data towards the
Consortium regularly and-, anonymously.

h, Capital management

The Group’s lead regulator, the Hungarian Finan8igbervisory Authority sets and monitors
capital requirements for the Group as a whole. paeent company and individual banking
operations are directly supervised by their loegltators.

In June 2006, the Basel Committee on Banking Sigierv (‘the Basel Committee’)

published the final comprehensive version of ‘Intgronal Convergence of Capital
Measurement and Capital Standards’ (‘Basel II')ahihieplaced Basel I. The new framework
is designed to more closely align regulatory cépiguirements with underlying risks by
introducing substantive changes in the treatmentredit risk. Moreover, an explicit new
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capital charge for operational risk has also be¢moduced, as well as increased supervisory
review and extended public disclosure needs.

The Group’s regulatory capital is analysed into tiees:

« Tier 1 capital, which includes ordinary share cpishare premium, perpetual bonds
(which are classified as innovative Tier 1 secesij retained earnings, translation
reserve and minority interests after deductionggfaydwill and intangible assets, and
other regulatory adjustments relating to items thie included in equity but are
treated differently for capital adequacy purposes.

« Tier 2 capital, which includes qualifying subordieg liabilities and the element of
the fair value reserve relating to unrealised gaimequity instruments classified as
available-for-sale.

Various limits are applied to elements of the alpitase. The amount of innovative tier 1
securities cannot exceed 15 percent of total tieagital; qualifying tier 2 capital cannot
exceed tier 1 capital; and qualifying term subaaitiid loan capital may not exceed 50 percent
of tier 1 capital. There also are restrictions loe amount of collective impairment allowances
that may be included as part of tier 2 capital. édttleductions from capital include the
carrying amounts of investments in subsidiaries #r@ not included in the regulatory
consolidation, investments in the capital of baakd certain other regulatory items.

Banking operations are categorised as either tgdolook or banking book, and risk-weighted
assets are determined according to specified mmeints that seek to reflect the varying
levels of risk attached to assets and off-finangtaition exposures.

Capital allocation

It is the Group’s policy to maintain a strong capibase to support the development of its
business and to meet regulatory capital requiresnanall times. The Group also maintains a
strong discipline over its investment decisions arere it allocates its capital, seeking to
ensure that returns on investment are appropriéte @king account of capital costs. The
Group recognises the effect on shareholder retafribe level of equity capital employed
within the Group and seeks to maintain a prudetanice between the advantages and
flexibility afforded by a strong capital positioméh the higher returns on equity that are
possible with greater leverage.

In 2008, the Group introduced the Economic Valuedédl (EVA) method for capital
allocation and budgeting purposes.

Economic Value Added is a financial performancehodtto calculate the true economic
profit of a corporation. EVA can be calculated &t aperating after taxes profit minus a
charge for the opportunity cost of the capital sted.

EVA is an estimate of the amount by which earniexggseed or fall short of the required
minimum rate of return for shareholders or len@ggrsomparable risk. EVA can be calculated
for a divisional (Strategic Business Unit) level.

By taking all capital costs into account, includihg cost of equity, EVA shows the financial
amount of value a business has created or destioyereporting period.

The Group has identified the following as being ti&terial risks faced and managed through
the Capital Management Framework: credit, mark@grational, and asset and liability
management risks.
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Basel Il

The supervisory objectives of Basel Il are to prtensafety and soundness in the financial
system and maintain at least the current overakll®f capital in the system, enhance
competitive equality, constitute a more comprehanapproach to addressing risks, and focus
on internationally active banks. Basel Il is staret around three ‘pillars’: minimum capital
requirements, supervisory review process and matiseipline. The Capital Requirements
Directive (‘CRD’) implements Basel Il in the EU.

Basel Il provides three approaches of increasimghistication to the calculation of pillar 1
credit risk capital requirements. The most basie, standardised approach, requires banks to
use external credit ratings to determine the riskghtings applied to rated counterparties, and
groups other counterparties into broad categoriesagpplies standardised risk weightings to
these categories. The next level, the internahgatbased (‘IRBF’) foundation approach,
allows banks to calculate their credit risk capreguirements on the basis of their internal
assessment of the probability that a counterpaittydefault (‘PD’), but with quantification of
exposure at default (‘(EAD’) and loss given defasdtimates (‘LGD’) of wholesale exposures
are subject to standard supervisory parameterse whtase of retail exposure own estimated
LGD is to be used. Finally, the IRB advanced apphnaalows banks to use their own internal
assessment of not only PD but also the quantifinatf EAD and LGD. Expected losses are
calculated by multiplying EAD by PD and LGD. Thepial requirement under the IRB
approaches is intended to cover unexpected losgeg aerived from a formula specified in
the regulatory rules, which incorporates theseofacand other variables such as maturity and
correlation.

For credit risk, the Group has adopted the stamslzddapproach to Basel Il with effect from 1
January 2008. A rollout plan is in place to advat@wdRBF approach over the next three
years. During 2011 the Bank has finished the pregasrocess for IRB implementation and
the Bank has achieved the readiness.

Basel Il also introduces capital requirements fperational risk and, again, contains three
levels of sophistication. The capital required untie basic indicator approach is a simple
percentage of gross revenues, whereas under thdasfived approach it is one of three
different percentages of gross revenues allocatedath of eight defined business lines.
Finally, the advanced measurement approach useks’bamvn statistical analysis and
modelling of operational risk data to determineidpequirements. The Group currently has
adopted the standardized approach to the deteiiorinaf Group operational risk capital
requirements.
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5.15

2011

2012 2011 Basel Il

Basel Il

Basel Il after before
capital increase  capital
increase

Share capital 108 936 82 733 20 733
Nominal value of repurchased own shares - - -
Issued, but unpaid - - -

Outstanding share capital 108 936 82 733 20 733
General reserves 10 217 62 410 62 410
Intangible assets (20 484) (24 827) (24 827)
Reserve for general banking risk 1074 1340 1340
Tier 1: Net core capital 99 743 121 656 59 656
Considerable subordinated debt 49 872 60 828 29 828
Revaluation reserves 2353 55 55
Difference from capital consolidation 715 715 715
Tier 2: Supple me ntary capital 52 940 61 598 30 598
Other deductions (110) (110) (17 787)
Participations in financial institutions (1610) (a773) a773)
Unused subordinated loan for market risk 3048 6 523 6 523
Regulatory capital 154 011 187 894
Risk-weighted assets (RWA) 1 454 927 1726412 1726412
Operational risk (OR) 219 775 232 138 232 138
Market risk positions (MR) 57 153 122 312 122 312
Total risk weighted assets (RWA +12.5*(MR+OR)) 1 73855 2 080 862 2 080 862
Regulatory capital / Total assets 5,97% 6,38% 2,62%
Capital adequacy ratio 9,20% 9,59% 3,94%

Capital ade quacy ratio (including market risk) 9,03% 3,71%

The main owner of the MKB, The Bayern LB with stgorapital background
contributes to its safety, promotes customer cemfee, and helps the Bank to manage
the negative effects on its profitability which cerftom macroeconomic turbulences.
In case of additional capital needs the ownersigeothe capital needs in from of
capital injection based on unique decision.

The second pillar of Basel Il (Supervisory Reviemd &valuation Process - SREP) involves
both the Bank and the Supervisory regulators takingew on whether a Bank should hold
additional capital and how much against risks mmteced in pillar 1. Part of the pillar 2
process is the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessierdess (‘ICAAP’) which is the Bank’s
self-assessment of risks not captured by pillaiTie Group has identified the following
additional risks not covered in pillar 1 as matesiad implemented policies and practices to
measure the effect of these risks in pillar 2:
¢ Credit concentration risk
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« Participation risk

e Country risk

« Non-trading book interest rate risk (Banking boolerest rate risk)
» Settlement risk

¢ Reputation risk

¢ Liquidity financing risk

» Strategic risk

* Risk derived from other assets

Pillar 3 of Basel Il is related to market discigiand aims to make firms more transparent by
requiring them to publish specific, prescribed detaf their risks, capital and risk
management under the Basel 1l framework.

During 2011 the Bank has prepared a monitoring esysivhich is based on Basel3
requirements.

The Group's Asset and Liability Management CommittALCO) has the overall
responsibility for managing capital adequacy ratiathe Group. Besides this the Group is
required to disclose capital adequacy ratio toHbagarian Financial Supervisory Authority.
The Group has its own capital management systenshwiki able to report on a daily base
towards ALCO.

The BayernLB has increased the issued capital With- 36.3 billion which was
completed on 21 of February, 2013.

The Group and its individually regulated operatidmsve complied with all externally
imposed capital requirements throughout the period.

6 Cash reserves

6.1

2012 201
Cash and balances with Central Banks 78 336 74 386
Treasury bills and Bonds issued by Central Banks 4535 247 291

Cash reserves 413 790 321 67

The Group is required to maintain a minimum resexith the National Bank of Hungary
(NBH) equivalent to 5% (2011: 3%) of certain depmsThe balance of the minimum reserve,
in line with the prescription of NBH, is based dretbalance at the end of October of these
deposit accounts and amounted to HUF 60,311 midi®mt 31 December 2012 (2011: HUF
38,469 million). At 31 December 2012, cash on hamdunted to HUF 50,939 million (2011:
HUF 49,108 million).
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v

Loans and advances to banks

N
[E=Y

2012 2011
Current and clearing accounts 13788 8 550
Money market placements 17 844 23 656
Loans and advances 49 752 52 977
Less collective allowances for impairment (68) (131)
Loans and advances to banks 81 316 85 052
Collective allowances for impairment
Balance at 1 January (131) (447)
Impairment loss for the year:
Charge for the year (49) (102)
Reversal 100 429
Effect of foreign currency movements 12 (12)
Unwinding of discount - -
Reclassification - -
Write-offs - -
Balance at 31 December (68) (13

From the balance of Current and clearing accouhts: 3,559 million (2011: 521 million)

was due from BayernLB and was granted at market rat
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8 Trading assets

8.1
2012 2011
Cost Unrealised Book Cost Unrealised Book
result value result value
Debt and equity instruments
Government Treasury bills 3086 9 3095 6361 - 6 361
Government bonds 6 786 319 7105 24530 (457) 24 073
Hungarian corporate sector bonds 2388 109 2497 2790 296 3086
Foreign corporate sector bonds - - - 769 34 803
Hungarian equities 208 - 208 547 8) 539
Foreign equities - - - - - -
Total debt and equity instruments 12 468 437 12905 34 997 (135) 34 861
Derivative instruments by type
FX-based derivatives instruments - 4383 4383 - 8802 8 802
Index-based derivative instruments - 13 13 - 7 7
Interest-based derivative instruments - 14978 14 978 - 12171 12171
Options 2304 (705) 1599 1958 (152) 1806
Total trading assets 14772 19 106 33878 36 955 20693 57 64§

9 Micro hedge derivative assets held for risk managment

Fair value hedges of interest rate risk

The Group uses interest rate swaps designatedrasfae hedges to hedge its exposure to
changes in the fair value of certain loans and ades Interest rate swaps are matched to
specific loans. (see Note 4 n,)

Other derivatives held for risk management

The Group uses other derivatives, not designatedjualifying hedge relationship, to manage
its exposure to foreign currency, interest ratejitggmarket and credit risks. The instruments
used include interest rate swaps, cross-curreneyeist rate swaps, forward contracts, and
options. The positive fair values of those deriwdi are shown in the table above and the
negative fair values are presented in Note 17.
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10

Investments in securities

10.1
2012 201
Available-for-sale
Hungarian Government bonds 211 749 273 582
Hungarian corporate sector bonds 2832 6066
Foreign Government bonds 13678 5525
Foreign corporate sector bonds 922 4765
Hungarian equities - -
Foreign equities 87 92
Less specific allowances for impairment (38) (1 105)

Investment in securities 229 230 288 924

Specific allowances for impairment

Balance at 1 January (1 105) (222)
Impairment loss for the year:
Charge for the year (33) (883)
Reversal 878 -
Utilisation 222 -

Effect of foreign currency movements - -
Unwinding of discount - -
Write-offs - -
Balance at 31 December (38) (1 109

At 31 December 2012, HUF 105,224 million (2011: HW@E,409 million) from the total
amount of Investments in securities were pledgedo#lateral for stock exchange and credit
card transactions in the ordinary course of busines

The total revaluation effect excluding deferredetsin equity comprises HUF 2,008 million
gain (2011: HUF 12,397 million loss) and HUF NILIoin deferred tax asset and HUF 16
million deferred tax liability (2011: NIL deferradx asset and NIL deferred tax liability).

In 2012 HUF 388 million gain was recognized in theome statement relating to AFS
securities, which is a reclassification from otbemprehensive income into profit or loss.

Due to the downgrading of Hungary by rating compardat the end of November, 2011 the
market prices of government issued securities drdpfn line with accounting policy (see

Note 4.1) impairment was recognized on governmemidls up to the level of nominal amount,
and amounted to HUF 883 million. Due to the favbilgamarket environment in 2012 the

total amount of impairment was reversed at thedaérite reporting period.
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As at 31 December 2012, the carrying amount, tirevidue and the amortized cost of all
investments in debt instruments (included eithezash reserves or investments in securities),
other than those classified as FVTPL are as follows

10.2
2012 Carrying Fair value AL
amount cost
Investments in debt instruments classified as:
Loans and receivables - - -
Held-to-maturity investments - - -
AFS financial assets 564 597 564 597 562 728
Total 564 597 564 597 562 728
2011 Carrying Fair value AL
amount cost
Investments in debt instruments classified as:
Loans and receivables - - -
Held-to-maturity investments - - -
AFS financial assets 533 618 533 618 546 660
Total 533 618 533 618 546 660
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11 Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost

11.1
Gross  Specific allowances Collective allowances Carrying
amount for impairme nt for impairment amount
Corporate
Overdrafts 67 248 (2 121) (476) 64 652
Trading and industrial 314 602 (26 787) (2 057) 285 758
Real estate 676 059 (83 399) (3179 589 480
Total corporate 1057 909 (112 307) (5712) 939 890

Small- and medium sized enterprises (SME)

Overdrafts 26 960 (4 845) (185) 21929
Trading and industrial 173724 (66 765) (767) 106 192
Real estate 16 505 (7 482) (10) 9014
Credit card 6 611 (436) (57) 6118
Total SME 223 800 (79 528) (1019) 143253
Retail
Overdrafts 16 956 (3 935) (1423) 11 598
Residental mortgage 462 618 (3 265) (27 364) 431 989
Credit card 18 540 (48) (641) 17 852
Personal 1501 - (415) 1 086
Employees 9 369 - (25) 9344
Trading and industrial 128 104 (19 107) (5 651) 103 345
Total retail 637 088 (26 355) (35519) 575214

Loans and advances to customers 1918 797 (218 190) (42 250) 1658 35

Gross  Specific allowances Collective allowances Carrying

amount for impairment for impairment amount
Corporate
Overdrafts 62 984 (1942) (356) 60 685
Trading and industrial 352 341 (12 864) (6 789) 332 688
Real estate 775 043 (70 521) - 704 522
Total corporate 1190 368 (85 327) (7 146) 1097 895
Small- and medium sized enterprises (SME)
Overdrafts 36 055 (5 544) (194) 30 318
Trading and industrial 239 960 (73 348) - 166 612
Real estate 17 502 (8 153) - 9348
Credit card 8 462 (295) (76) 8 091
Total SME 301 979 (87 341) (270) 214 369
Retail
Overdrafts 16 891 (3824) (883) 12 184
Residental mortgage 558 229 (24 950) (16 195) 517 084
Credit card 19 585 a7 (558) 19011
Personal 1846 (5) (535) 1306
Employees 11 447 2) ()] 11 438
Trading and industrial 143 562 (20 534) (1 680) 121 347
Total retail 751 560 (49 332) (19859) 682369
Loans and advances to customers 2 243 907 (221 999) (27 275) 1994 63
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Collective impairment contains incurred but notamed loss and other portfolio based
provisions.

Allowances for impairment

[EEN

=

N
N
o
=S
[y

2012

Specific allowances for impairment on loans and ahces to customers

Balance at 1 January 221 999 169 175
Impairment loss for the year:
Charge for the year 83 662 119 467
Reversal (24 539) (33 991)
Utilisation (43 136) (25 848)
Recoveries 8538 4316
Effect of foreign currency movements (7 303) 9932
Unwinding of discount (8 727) (8 842)
Reclassffication 349 327
Discontinued operation (4 115) (8 221)
Balance at 31 December 218 190 221 999

Collective allowances for impairment on loans andances to customers

Balance at 1 January 27 275 30 379
Impairment loss for the year:

Charge for the year 24 951 11 301
Reversal (7 149) (8442)
Utilisation (1 238) (2 940)
Effect of foreign currency movements (1 159) 1610
Unwinding of discount - -
Reclassffication (350) (16)
Discontinued operation (80) (4 617)

Balance at 31 December 42 250 27 275
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The concentration of Loans and advances to cus®imeindustry at 31 December was as
follows:

11.3

Sectors 2012 Gross Specific allowances Collective allowances

Carrying amount

amount for impairment for impairme nt
Real Estate 724 414 (105 142) (3671) 615 601
Food + Beverages 127 763 (19 981) (668) 107 114
Financial services 5944 (538) (53) 5352
Construction 51 416 (13 751) (823) 36 843
Trade and sevices 47 765 (7 034) (413) 40 318
Logistics 59 106 (4 362) (442) 54 301
Utilities 47 905 (3 590) (190) 44 125
Automotive 57 582 (5 010) (401) 52171
Oil and gas 25 628 (1 309) (157) 24 163
Technology 26 988 (5 209) (535) 21 245
Metals +Mining 8235 (1763) (35) 6 437
Hotels 22 140 (4 607) (155) 17 378
Non profit organizations 1408 @7 (10) 1381
Chemicals 17 771 (4 620) (52) 13 099
Manufactoring and Engineering 17 268 (4 278) (81) 12 909
Sovereigns 8 644 (129) (67) 8 448
Consumer Durables 10 910 (2 029) 97) 8784
Media 7975 (1561) (95) 6319
Telecom 3117 (1273) (62) 1782
Pharmaceuticals 13 614 (293) (1 780) 11 541
Textiles + Apparel 10 380 (2 839) (78) 7 462
Pulp + paper 13 294 (1 146) (85) 12 063
Other 51 120 (12 875) (240) 38 004
Private 558 411 (14 834) (32 060) 511 517

Loans and advances to customers 1918 798 (218 190)
Assets from discounted operations 40 262 (6 781) (7 438) 26 043
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Gross Specific allowances Collective allowances

Sectors 2011 Carrying amount

amount for impairment for _impairment
Real Estate 843 582 (96 898) - 746 684
Private 660 395 (12 664) (18 779) 628 952
Food + Beverages 137 146 (22 521) - 114 625
Logistics 69 361 (5611) (425) 63 325
Automotive 58 790 (4 961) (297) 53 532
Trade and sevices 56 281 (6 496) (352) 49 433
Construction 63 839 (14 961) (260) 48 618
Utilities 50 319 (1 935) (182) 48 202
Telecom 31786 (457) (193) 31136
Other 46 645 (13 573) (5948) 27123
Technology 30 322 (5327) (388) 24 608
Financial senices 30318 (9 037) (76) 21205
Pharmaceuticals 17 975 (433) (72) 17 470
Manufactoring and Engineering 22 604 (6 243) (64) 16 297
Oil and gas 16 267 (1552) (5) 14 710
Chemicals 18 636 (3982 - 14 654
Pulp + paper 15 365 (1317) - 14 048
Hotels 18 237 (5363) - 12873
Sowereigns 12 109 (137) (52) 11 920
Consumer Durables 13 382 (2 166) (76) 11139
Textiles + Apparel 10 243 (2 555) (51) 7638
Media 9 040 1 774) (7) 7259
Metals +Mining 9205 (1997) (35) 7172
Non profit organizations 2058 (37 (11) 2009
Loans and advances to customers 2 243 907 (221 999) (27 275) 1994 63

At 31 December 2012 the carrying amount of loarsgiated as hedged item in a fair value
hedge relationship was HUF 2,766 million, whileitla@nortised cost amounted to HUF 2,647
million.

Finance lease receivables

As part of its financing activities, the Group astto finance lease transactions as a lessor.
At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the reconciliatibthe Group's gross investment in the
lease, and the net present value of minimum leagments receivable by relevant remaining
maturity periods are as follows:

114
2012 up to 1 year to over Total
1 year 5 years 5 years

Gross investment in the lease 11 346 15 367 953 27 666
Unearned finance income (2 011) (2 818) (136) (4 965)
Present value of minimum lease payments 9335 12 549 817 22 701
Accumulated allowance for uncollectible minimumdegpayments - - - -
Finance leases as per balance sheet date 9335 12 549 817 22 70
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2011 up to 1 yearto over Total
1 year 5 years 5 years
Gross investment in the lease 18 938 18 335 6 701 43974
Unearned finance income (2 006) (2 814) (668) (5 488)
Present value of minimum lease payments 16 932 15 521 6 033 38 486
Accumulated allowance for uncollectible minimumsegayments (4 350) (168) (16) (4 534)
Finance leases as per balance sheet date 12 582 15 353 6 017 33 952
From discontinued operation:
2012 up to 1 year to over Total
1 year ECES 5 years
Gross investment in the lease 6 236 858 163 7257
Unearned finance income (109) (179) (9) (297)
Present value of minimum lease payments 6127 679 154 6 960
Accumulated allowance for uncollectible minimumdegpayments (4 877) (46) (6) (4 929)
Finance leases as per balance sheet date 1250 633 148 203

In 2012, HUF 902 million contingent rents which &ased on a future amount of a factor that
changes (eg. inflation) were recognized in finam@me (2011: HUF 548 million), and
unguaranteed residual value amounted to HUF 58®mi2011: HUF 421 million).

Contracts original maturity ranges from 1 year @oygars. Most of the leasing agreements are
CHF and EUR based. The contracts earn interestaniable rates linked to the relating
BUBOR, LIBOR, EURIBOR. In general office buildingand vehicles are leased. No
guaranteed residual value exists.
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12 Other assets

121
2012 201
Prepayments and other debtors 8 63818 486
Inventory 755 1697
Collaterals held in possession 7 569 14 618
Corporate income tax refundable 81 38
Other taxes refundable 357 751
Specific allowances for impairment (1 324) (2 909)
Other assets 16 076 3268
Specific allowances for impairment
Balance at 1 January (2909) (1 348)
Impairment loss for the year:

Charge for the year (526) (1830)

Reversal - 8

Utilization 2125 -

Effect of foreign currency movements (14) (14)

Unwinding of discount - -

Reclassification - 273
Balance at 31 December (1324) (2909

At 31 December 2012, the net carrying amount of roturrent assets, which have been
acquired through enforcement of security over loand advances amounted to HUF 6,251

million (2011: HUF 11,737). The disclosed spec#itowances contain mainly the relating
impairment.

13 Investments in jointly controlled entities and asociates

[EEN
w
[EEN

2012 2011
Cost 13629 13590
Goodwill arising on acquisition 1528 1528
Goodwill impairment (1528) (1528)
Share of post acquisition reserves (4 415)3 603)

Investments in jointly controlled entities and assoiates 7686 8459
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General and financial data of the jointly contrdllntities and associates are as follows:

13.2

MKB MKB Pannonhalmi MKB MKB MKB
Ercormner

Euroleasing Euroleasing GIRO Zzr. Apatsagi Altalanos  Elethiztosit6 Autopark
Znt. Autépark Zrt. : Pincészet Kft Biztosito Zr. Zrt. 00D

General data

Ownership (%) 50,00% 49,99% 50,00% 22,19% 45,48% 37,50% AT 49,99%
Involvement equity equity equity equity equity equity agui equity

Financial data

Current assets 938 7 760 2 3885 248 2171 9164 1221

Non-current assets 9 374 19 447 10 105 3678 1159 151 63 536 3
Total assets 10 312 27 208 10 107 7 563 1407 2321 9 227 4 757

Current liabiities 1608 13451 7 499 244 478 91 13 139

Non-current liabilties 7 13 518 - - 45 1040 8 031 4597
Total liabilities 1615 26 969 7499 244 523 1131 8 044 4736
Equity 8 697 239 2 608 7 319 884 1190 1183

Revenues 346 13 352 1 4698 227 1487 3897 1445

Expenses 1125 13 244 195 3298 251 2194 4255 1440
D) (773) 140 (194) 1197 (24) (707) (358) 7
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Intangibles, property and equipment
14.1

Intangible Freehold Investment

Equipment  Total

assets propert propert

Cost

Balance at 1 January 49 310 49 909 - 32653 131872
Addttions — including internally developed 3593 2414 - 1354 7 361
Other additions - - 3247 - 3247
Disposals (5876) (2 746) - (3527) (12149
Effect of movements in exchange rates (72) 8 - (192) (272)

Balance at 31 December 46 955 49 569 3 247 30288 130 059

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 26430 8639 - 19885 54954
Depreciation and amortization for the year 2973 1658 - 2 960 7591
Impairment loss 3482 767 - 1140 5389
Reversal of impairment loss - - - - -
Disposals (5002) (1668) - (3292) (9962)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 21 2 - 124 147

Balance at 31 December 27 862 9394 - 20 569 57 825

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 22880 41270 - 12768 76918

Balance at 31 December 19 093 40 175 3247 9719 72234
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Intangible Freehold Investment

2011 assets propert prope rt Equipment  Total

Cost

Balance at 1 January 35989 51331 - 49 625 136 945
Addttional from first consolidation - 185 - - 185
Addttions — including internally developed 21219 2226 - 2359 25804
Disposals (8071) (3891 - (19 567) (31529)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 173 58 - 236 467

Balance at 31 December 49 310 49 909 - 32 653 131 872

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 13408 7900 - 23911 45219
Addttional from first consolidation - 8 - - 8
Depreciation and amortization for the year 4456 1739 - 3256 9451
Impairment loss 13 150 302 - 609 14 061
Reversal of impairment loss - - - (4831) (4831
Disposals (4674) (1322 (3218) (9214)

Effect of movements in exchange rates 90 12 - 158 260
Balance at 31 December 26 430 8639 - 19 885 54 954
Carrying amounts

At 1 January 22580 43431 - 25714 91725

At 31 December 22880 41270 - 12 768 76 918
Depreciation and amortization is presented amoe@iperating expenses.

Due to the unfavourable external environment litegysating economy, the Group tested its
primarily software assets for impairment. Duringesd impairment calculations, the
replacement cost approach was applied. The replttecosts of the most significant, key
software assets were defined on the basis of dulicemse fees, estimated necessary internal
resources as well as external consultants’ costumently available prices that should be
incurred during different phases of the implemeatabf new software assets with exactly the
same functionalities as the existing ones. In @mlditthe replacement costs of smaller, less
significant software assets were defined at theamesimpairment rate calculated in the case
of key software assets as detailed above.

According to these calculations, a total impairmehtHUF 3,230 million for the Group’s
software assets had to be accounted for as aty&@izend.

Besides the above, as part of its normal annualrgjoprocess of the Group also revised the
useful economic lives of all assets at 2012 yedr-éccording to this revision, additional
impairments of HUF 252 million (2011: HUF 2,980 figih), HUF 767 million (2011: HUF
302 million) and HUF 1,140 million (2011: HUF 3 ivin) were necessary for Intangible
assets, freehold properties and Equipment, resjedctiThese figures include also the cost of
restructuring, which amounted to HUF 1,520 million.
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In December, 2012 the Group acquired a hotel fwestment purpose and entered in
operating lease as a lessor. The Group intend Itb this property to earn rentals and for
capital appreciation.

The fair value of the investment was HUF 3,247 ionill which is based on a valuation by an
independent valuer, who holds a recognized andvasteprofessional qualification and
experiences.

Based on the Group Accounting policies investmaoperties are measured at using Cost
model. (see Note 4.e) The reconciliation of theytag amount at the beginning and end of
period is disclosed in Table 14.1.

Aggregated rental incomes under operating leaseglbyant remaining maturity periods are
as follows:

14.2

up to 1 yearto over

1 year 5 years 5 years
Minimum lease payments 342 114 228 684
Non-cancellable operating leases 342 114 228 684

No contingent rent was recognized during the year.

The contracted original maturity is three yearscolihtan be extended by additional -three
years. The rental fee is sum of a fixed fee pléleating fee which calculation is based on the
net operating result of the Hotel as at the year-@ecreased by the paid rental fee for the
year. As the expected floating fee is not matertahpared to the fixed fee, the Bank cannot
be regarded as direct investor. The Group pays sbireet costs of the property which does
not generate rental income, but it is expensetddessor.

HUF 1.5 million rental incomes was recognized iafpror loss from the investment property,
and HUF NIL million direct operating expenses eneern the reporting period.

Amounts due to other banks

15.1

2012 201
Due on demand 2194 3567
Money market deposits 368 667 627 279
Borrowings 303 355 346 480
Amounts due to other banks 674 216 977 324
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16  Deposits and current accounts

16.1

2012 201
From corporate clients 591 974 628 910
From retail clients 797 063 834 562

Deposits and current accounts 1389 037 1463 472

As at 31 December 2012, from the amount of curesmd deposit accounts, HUF 34,238
million (2011: HUF 28,832nillion) has been measured as a fair value thrqangfit or loss.

Finance leases as a lessee

As part of its business activities, the Group enteto finance lease transactions as a lessee.
At 31 December 2012 and 2011, the reconciliatiorthaf Group's future minimum lease
payments at the end of the reporting period and fresent value by relevant remaining
maturity periods was the following:

16.2
2012 upto 1yearto over Total
lyear 5years 5 years
Future minimum lease payments 1885 7578 25817 35280
Unpaid finance expense (1 385) (5 856) (20912) (28 153)
Present value of minimum lease payments 500 1722 4905 7127
Finance leases as alessee 500 1722 4905 7127
2011 upto 1lyearto over Total
1year 5years 5 years
Future minimum lease payments 1884 7793 29238 38915
Unpaid finance expense (1 440) (6 133) (23938) (31511)
Present value of minimum lease payments 444 1660 5300 7404
Finance leases as alessee 444 1660 5300 7404
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18

From discontinued operation:

upto 1l1lyearto over

2012 1lyear 5years 5 years Total
Future minimum lease payments 22 6 - 28
Unpaid finance expence (22) (6) - 27)
Present value of minimum lease payments 1 - - 1
Finance leases as alessee 1 - - 1

In 2012, the net carrying amount of the leasedceffequipment amounted to HUF NIL
million at the end of the reporting period (2011UH 232 million), and the net carrying
amount of the lands and buildings used by the temgpentity was HUF 6,961 million (2011
HUF 7,404 million).

Trading liabilities

171

2012 2011

Cost Unrealised Book Cost Unrealised Book
result value result value

Derivative instruments by type

FX-based derivatives instruments - 3520 3520 - 15090 15090
Index-based derivative instruments - 4 4 - 10 10
Interest-based derivative instruments - 14931 14931 - 12517 12517
Credit default swaps 52 323 375 52 422 474
Options 99 2 905 3 005 324 5 048 5372
Total derivative instruments 151 21 683 21835 376 33087 33463

Total trading liabilities 33087 3346

Derivative liabilities held for risk management

18.1

2012 2011
Accumulated Accumulated

Cost . Book Cost ) Book
unrealised unrealised
value value
result result

FX-based derivatives instruments - - - - - -
Interest-based derivative instruments - 214 214 - 262 262

Derivatives held for risk manage ment

The Bank designates Interest Rate Swaps as heitigingments for hedging interest risks.

For more information see Note 11 and Note 29. Themghas no cash flow hedges.
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Other liabilities and provision

19.1

2012 201
Accruals and other creditors 16830 21533
Corporate income tax payable - -
Other taxes payable 1374 1 600
Dividends payable - -
Provision for contingencies and commitments 9303 7723

Other liabilities and provisions 27 507 30 858

Provision for contingencies and commitments

19.2
2012 2011

Balance at 1 January 7723 6 090
Provisions set up during the year 7 253 5963
Provisions used during the year - (47)
Provisions reversed during the year (5 6624 343)
Effect of foreign currency movements (172) 185
Unwinding of discount - -
Discontinued operations - (125)

Balance at 31 December 9 142 77

Provisions recognized for different type of produate disclosed in Note 35.

Provision of Restructuring amounted to HUF 161 iomllis not included in Table 20.2 as the
movement of this item is disclosed as Restructugixgenses. (see Note 30)
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Operating lease as a lessee

The Group leases some of its branches in the fdraperating lease. At 31 December 2012
and 2011, the total amount of future minimum legsgyments under non-cancellable
operating leases by relevant remaining period Wwaddllowing:

19.3
2012 upto 1yearto over Total
1lyear 5years 5 years
Minimum lease payments 1789 3325 4371 9485

Non-cancellable operating leases 1789 3325 4371 9485

upto 1lyearto over

2011 lyear 5years 5 years

Total

Minimum lease payments 2199 4 068 5436 11703

Non-cancellable operating leases 2199 4 068 5436 1B

From discontinued operation:

upto 1yearto over

Total
lyear 5years b5 years

Minimum lease payments 15 - - 15

Non-cancellable operating leases

No sublease payments are expected under theseanoeliable leases.

In 2012, lease and sublease payments were recdgassan expense in the period amounted
to HUF 2,042 million (2011: HUF 3,043 million). Rbermore no contingent rents (2011:
NIL) and no sublease payments were recognised.

The leasing contracts original maturity ranges frbryear to 10 years. The contracted lease

payments are usually linked to the customer pmckex. There are no purchase options or
restrictions.
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20 Issued debt securities

20.1
Reference Interest Parvalue  Firstissuance Due date Carrynzwg EIE Carryl;gﬂnoum

MKB ARFOLYAMSAV Structured 558 6.02.2012 6.02.2013 No 552 -
MKB ARFOLYAMSAV EUR/USD Structured 851 11.07.2012 11.2014 No 827 -
MKB ARFOLYAMSAV PLUSZ Structured 1404 5.03.2012 13.2813 No 1446 -
MKB DEV.IND. EUR Structured 13 187 21.03.2011 21.032No 11 683 11337
MKB EURO FIX 2013 4% Fixed rate 3204 9.12.2010 9.1220Blo 3155 -
MKB FIX 2013 Fixed rate 3000 15.02.2006 15.02.2013 (BET) 330 310
MKB FIX 2016 Fixed rate 3000 15.02.2006 15.02.2016 (BET) - 93
MKB FIX 5X5% EUR Fixed rate 3902 18.11.2011 18.11.2016 3898 4098
MKB FPIK Structured 401 26.04.2010 2.05.2013 No 351 831
MKB FPIK EUR Structured 225 19.11.2010 24.11.2014 No 211 -
MKB FPIK IND.20150402 KOTVENY Structured 578 1.04.2012.04.2015 No 507 -
MKB GLOBALIS RESZV. IND. HUF Structured 359 9.07.2012..07.2014 No 357 -
MKB GLOBALIS RESZV.IND. EUR Structured 996 15.06.2018.06.2015 No 1034 -
MKB IX KOTVENY Floating rate 23482 30.08.2012 29.1010Yes (BET) 23310 -
MKB KISZAMITHATO Fixed rate 7119 20.06.2011 8.01.201®N 7099 21135
MKB KISZAMITHATO EURO Fixed rate 13275 20.06.2011 8.2013 No 13220 4479
MKB KISZAMITHATO HUF Fixed rate 872 26.07.2011 5.02.2No 871 -
MKB KISZAMITHATO USD Fixed rate 4490 1.08.2012 25.2014 No 4488 -
MKB NEMET RESZV.IND.EUR Structured 1315 30.03.2012 042015 No 1334 -
MKB OTOSFOGAT RESZV.IND. Structured 968 13.11.2012 582015 No 949 -
MKB RESZV. IND. EUR Structured 2009 7.03.2011 12.032No 1892 -
MKB TARTOS KAMATELONY 2013/2015 Fixed rate 12 300 20.04.2010 17.12.2013(B&S) 12 295 10 789
MKB USD FIX Fixed rate 1195 24.09.2012 24.09.2013 No 195 1229
MKB VI. KOTVENY Floating rate 24 999 04.11.2010 19.1212 Yes (BET) 24913 8 706
MKB VII. KOTVENY Floating rate 12776 04.11.2010 16.2016 Yes (BET) 12 709 8381
MKB VIl KOTVENY Floating rate 26 000 05.10.2011 10.2014 Yes (BET) 25 697 19 842
MKB X KOTVENY Floating rate 2500 04.12.2012 16.03.2046s (BET) 2340 -
MKB D130201 Zero Coupon Bond 3000 29.06.2012 1.02.2043 2969 -
MKB D130606 Zero Coupon Bond 4000 10.10.2012 6.06.2043 3772 -
MKB EUR D130904 Zero Coupon Bond 1165 10.09.2012 2@MB No 158 -
Accrued interest of the bonds 2 256 2746
MKB Unionbank AD 2234 N.A. N.A. No 4363 4659
Accrued interest of the bonds issued by subsidiarie 65 69
MKB Bonds matured in 2012 72 441

Issued debt securiti

= 175 363 = = - 170 246 171 145

Bonds with similar characteristic are grouped, Be tue date does not reflect the on
repayment date. The dates which are disclosedharéirst issuance and the last maturity in
each group. Cash outflows can be seen in Note 5.8.

The Group use fair value revaluation through profitoss for structured bonds, as they are
related to assets, which share the same risk ihatrige to opposite changes in fair value. At
31 December 2012 the carrying amount of FVTPL ossuéd bonds amounted to HUF
21,364 million (2011: HUF 23,143 million).
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21  Subordinated debt

21.1

Borrowed

on

Amount in
original

Original

currency

currenc

Interest

Due date

Listed

Carrying
amount

Subordinated loans from the shareholders

BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 30.10.2002 50000000 EUR  6MEWOR+3.12% 30.10.2017 No 14 654
BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 10.06.2005 45000000 EUR  6MEWOR+1.5% 15.06.2015 No 13109
BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 21.10.2008 50000000 EUR  6M EWBOR+5% 22.10.2018 No 14 704
BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 24.11.2010 5 000 000 EUR 6M EURDR+5.5%  24.11.2020 No 1463
BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 13.12.2011 148 224 000 CHF  3M COBPR+6.27% 31.07.2017 No 35824
Subordinated notes issued

BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 31.07.2007 75000000 EUR 3M EWBOR+0.92% 31.07.2017 No 21888
Subordinated de bt 101 642

Borrowed

on

Amount in

original

Original

currency

Interest

Due date

Listed

Carrying
amount

Subordinated loans from the shareholders

currenc

22

BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 30.10.2002 50000000 EUR  6MEWOR+3.12% 30.10.2017 No 15 688
BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 10.06.2005 45000000 EUR 6MEWOR+1.5% 15.06.2015 No 14 003
BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 21.10.2008 50000000 EUR  6M EWBOR+5% 22.10.2018 No 15 750
BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 24.11.2010 5 000 000 EUR 6M EURDR+5.5%  24.11.2020 No 1566
BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 13.12.2011 148 224 000 CHF  3M CIBPR+6.27% 31.07.2017 No 38 045
Subordinated notes issued

BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 31.07.2007 75000000 EUR  3MEWOR+0.92% 31.07.2017 No 23434
Subordinated de bt 108 486

The above debts are direct, unconditional and wmsdcobligations of the Group, and are
subordinated to the claims of the Group's depas#ad other creditors.

Share capital and share premium

The Bank’s authorised, issued, called up and fpdid share capital comprises 108,936,494
(2011: 20,732,902) ordinary shares of HUF 1,000 {2CHUF 1,000) each. All issued shares
rank pari passu in the event of a winding up.

During March, 2012, the shareholders increasedtnk’s share capital by HUF 23,203.592
million with nominal amount HUF 1,000 per sharetta price of HUF 2,672. The premium
was accounted for against share premium in an anwduiJF 38,797 million.

During October and November, 2012, the shareholdersased the Bank’s share capital by

HUF 35,000 million and HUF 30,000 million with nomal amount HUF 1,000 per share at
the price of HUF 1,000.
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Reserves

Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve comprises allijorexchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of forexgrerations.

Share premium

Share premium comprises of premiums on share t#gsteances.

Retained Earnings

Retained earnings comprise the accumulated priéit gaxes earned in the course of the
operating life of an entities of the Group less aliwidend payment. The Group includes

entities which employees have dividend prefererdtzres, which do not enable them to
exercise any owner’s right. Dividend payment foesth shares decreased the Retained
Earnings of the Group, and amounted to HUF 37 omilln 2012.

There is no available Retained Earnings for digtidm for the parent of the holding company.

General reserve

According to the Act on Credit Institutions and &mcial Enterprises (Banking Act), banks
shall set aside as general reserve 10% of Pradit tfxation. Dividends can be paid only after
recognition of general reserve. This reserve carutilzed only for losses derived from

ordinary activity. Credit institution can reclagsipart or total of its retained earnings into
general reserve. Supervisory authority can alloe #émtity not to set aside the amount
calculated as above stated.

The Group discloses general reserve as part aheet@arnings. In 2012 MKB recognized as
general reserve of NIL (2011: NIL).

General reserve set aside by foreign entities d@dién Romania amounted to HUF 1,544
million (2011: HUF 1,529 million). In 2012 there weeNIL (2011: NIL) general reserve
recognized. In Bulgaria there was NIL general neseecognized.

Revaluation reserves
A / Revaluation on AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets’ revaluation reserve incluthescumulative net change in the fair value
of available - for - sale investments until thedatment is derecognized or impaired.

B / Revaluation of equity put option

Equity put option’s revaluation reserve includemalative net change in fair value excluding
gains or losses from currency translation of anyitggput options which gives a right to the
non-controlling interest to sell its shares withramium.

This separated reserve contains equity put optiaron-controlling interest (NCI) which has

a right to call this option at any time. The prafepurchase is calculated by using a multiplier
on the net asset value in 2009 and interest payoreetaich capital injection from 2009. The
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25

fair value of the option is calculating by purchgse&e on the reporting day less NCI's net
asset value.

On 2 July, 2012 EBRD exercised half of its option $elling its shares in MKB Unionbank
A.D. Due to the transaction MKB acquired additioaiee percentage interest in MKB
Unionbank A.D. so MKB shares increased to 97%. Tigigsaction resulted a reclassification
between the Revaluation of equity put option andhiRed earnings in an amount of HUF

2,189 million.

Non-controlling interest

During 2012 dividend payments out of the group e€ased Non - controlling interest by HUF
111 million. Capital injection into MKB Unionbank [A and MKB Romexterra Bank SA

increased Non — controlling interest by HUF 189inomil.

The EBRD’s exercise of put option right decreasedddquity of Non-controlling Interest in an
amount of HUF 849 million.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attribiablthe following:

25.1
2012 2011
Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net

Intangibles, property and equipment 8 593 (585) - 696 (696)
Investments in subs., jointly contr. entities asdaziates - - - - - -
Available-for-sale securities 33 22 11 9 335 (326)
Loans and advances to customers - 4309 (4309 230 2997 (2767)
Allowances for loan losses 211 408 (197) 243 1079 (836)
Amounts due to customers 942 - 942 - -
Issued debt securities - 11 (11) - 267 (267)
Provisions (included general risk reserve) 108 15 93 3 - 3
Derivatives 242 49 193 - -
Other items 855 31 824 50 494 (444)
Tax loss carry-forwards 3208 3208 3544 - 3544
Offsetting (5174) (5174) - - -

Net tax assets / liabilities 433 264 169 4079 5868 (1789
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27

Interest income

26.1
2012 201

Cash reserves 23 092 15 343
Loans and advances to banks 1491 2723
Loans and advances to customers 114 850128 133
Derivatives 5207 10 533
Investments in securities 13946 12 060
Interest income 158 586 168 79

There is a difference of HUF 723 million betweene tiConsolidated Statement of

Comprehensive Income and the Note for the year 206&tause Romexterra Leasing is
disclosed as discontinued operation in the Conatil Statement of Comprehensive Income
in accordance with IFRS 5.

Included within various captions under interesome for the year ended 31 December 2012
is a total of HUF 8,728 million (2011: 8,842) aceduwon impaired financial assets.

Interest expense

27.1

2012 2011
Amounts due to other banks 15 894 22 995
Deposits from customers 59823 51227
Issued debt securities 10 607 10 094
Subordinated liabilties 4 661 3428
Other fees and commisions similar to interest egpsn 38 99
Derivatives 4187 3922
Interest expense 95210 9176

Included within interest income there is NIL intgréncome from derivatives held in a
qualifying fair value hedging relationship, and liuded within interest expense is HUF 89
million from qualifying fair value hedging relatiship.

The only components of interest income and expesgerted above that relate to financial

assets or liabilities carried at fair value throymbfit or loss are the income and expense on
derivative assets and liabilities held for risk mgement purposes.
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Net income from commissions and fees

28.1
2012 2011

Commission and fee income 24 175 25 658
Payment and account services 9771 9 829
Credit related fees 3880 4 299
Card services 2 706 2 675
Brokerage fees and other securities business 3621 985 3
Other commission and fee income 4197 4 870

Commission and fee expense 10 638 11 598
Payment and account services 3020 2769
Credit related fees 4 420 5 866
Card services 1091 1082
Brokerage fees and other securities business 588 658
Other commission and fee expense 1519 1223

Net income from commissions and fees

There is a difference of HUF 26 million between ti@onsolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income and the Note for the year 206&tause Romexterra Leasing is
disclosed as discontinued operation in the Conatitl Statement of Comprehensive Income
in accordance with IFRS 5.

Brokerage fees include fees from trust managenrahbther securities services in the amount
of HUF 2,124 million (2011: HUF 2,27/illion). For further information on the Group’s
fund management activity, please see Note 40.

In order to decrease the credit risk BayernLB piedi guarantee for some clients’ exposures

in an amount of HUF 64,194 million at the end 0120The concerned credit fees paid by the
Bank amounted to HUF 1,9%8illion among credit related fees.
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Other operating income / (expense), net

29.1
Gain on trading securities 2838 656
Gain / (loss) on sale of available-for-sale seiesrit (209) (2 293)
Net gain on disposal of group companies 10 -
Net gain on trading derivative transactions 14651 178
Gains and losses on fair value hedges

Gains and losses on hedging instruments 49 3

Gains and losses on underlyying transactions (48) 5)
Fair Value results from FVTPL revaluation (FVO) (@2 1794
Net income from collaterals held in posses 62: (17)
Expenses relating to bank levies (13 615) (2 601)
Other (6 387) 3981
Other operating income / (expense) (3299) 6696

There is a difference of HUF 129 million betweere tiConsolidated Statement of

Comprehensive Income and the Note for the year 206&tause Romexterra Leasing is
disclosed as discontinued operation in the Conatdil Statement of Comprehensive Income
in accordance with IFRS 5.

The result from fair value revaluation of structldeonds designated at fair value through
profit or loss was HUF 1,376 million loss (2011495 million loss), and it amounted to HUF
1,731 million loss regarding long term deposits desigdade fair value (2011: 299 million
gain).

In 2010 the government levied special tax for fiiahinstitutions called banking tax. This
special tax has different tax base depending otyfieof the financial institutions:

¢ in the case of banks, the adjusted balance-shegtclculated based on the annual
local account for 2009 The tax levy can be decetése30% of the loss from FX —
Loan repayments, in 2011 and 2012. ;

* in the case of other financial institutions the sofmet interest income and income
from fees, charges and commissions, but chargescamanission expenses cannot
exceed the income from fees and commission. Cdlonlanust be based on the
annual local account for 2009.

« for investment fund management companies, the auedbiotal of the net asset value
of the funds they manage, shown on 31 December 20d%he value of assets of
funds and other portfolios shown on 31 Decembe®200

The rate of special tax used by the entities ingitoeip is also different depending on the tax

base. This banking tax is shown under other exgess@ does not meet the criteria of current
income tax.
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Financial institutions operating on 1 January, 26tall be liable to pay this tax in the whole
amount also in 2012 according to the Act. The gowvimt intends to levy this special tax also
in the upcoming years, and there is no intent bygitvernment to decrease the rate.

Restructuring Expenses

At the end of last year, the Board of Directors maddecision to achieve significant cost
savings in 2013. To realize this target, it wasessary to introduce some restructurings in the
framework of such a complex and overall progrant ikaplanned and controlled by the

management, and that materially changes eithes¢bpe of a business undertaken by an
entity or the manner in which that business is coied.

Based on the above intentions MKB prepared a @etaibstructuring plan, which was
accepted by the Board of Directors.

On 25th April 2012, an information letter was sdiyt CEO of the Bank to inform the
employees about the already executed and expensedjes within the restructuring program.
Additionally the changes were also announced tdipubthe media and on the Bank’s web-
site on 15th May.

As a result of the restructuring process 8 braneta® closed and MKB Bank carried out
collective redundancies affecting 165 employees.

During 2012 HUF 6,718 million Restructuring expenseurred on MKB Group level. Major
part of the Restructuring expenses was persontagedein the amount of HUF 3,191 million.
Expenses for the recognition of restructuring psmns amounted to HUF 161 million and
HUF 1,520 million impairment losses were recognireldted to the closing of branches (see
Note 15).
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32

Impairments and provisions for losses

31.1
Note 2012 2011
Impairment loss, net of reversals on
Loans and advances to banks 7 (51) (327)
Loans and advances to customers 11 76926 72977
Investments in securities 10 (845) 883
Goodwill - 30 692
Other assets 12 526 1822
Direct write off 9503 18695
Provision on
Guarantees and contingencies 19 1591 1620

Impairments and provisions for losses

There is a difference of HUF 951 million betweene tiConsolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income and the Note for the year 206&tause Romexterra Leasing is
disclosed as discontinued operation in the Conatitl Statement of Comprehensive Income

in accordance with IFRS 5.

Operating expenses

32.1
2012 2011

General and administration expenses 8 507 11 552
Wages and salaries 18 452 20 885
Compulsory social security obligations 5 368 5899
Occupancy costs 18 811 26 254
Marketing and public relations 1586 2 267
Communication and data processing 7 390 7 846
Operating expenses 60 114 74 71

There is a difference of HUF 565 million betweenre tiConsolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income and the Note for the year 206&tause Romexterra Leasing is
disclosed as discontinued operation in the Conatditl Statement of Comprehensive Income

in accordance with IFRS 5.

In 2012, the Group's average statistical employselrer was 3,6962011: 3,796).
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Occupancy costs significantly increased due toimmgairment on Intangible assets which
amounted to HUF 3,230 million (2011: 8,319 million)

Income tax

Income tax expense recognized in the Statement ob@prehensive Income

33.1
2012 2011

Current tax expense 453 2823
Hungarian corporation tax charge — on current yeait 453 620
Romanian corporation tax charge — on current yeait p - 2 136
Bulgarian corporation tax charge — on current yaefit - 67
Deferred tax expense/(income) (1958) 8908
Origination (reversal) of temporary differences 96b) 14 159
Effect of changes in deferred tax rates 7 (5251
Income tax (credit) / expenses (1505 11731

There is a difference of HUF 46 million between ti@onsolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income and the Note for the year 206&tause Romexterra Leasing is
disclosed as discontinued operation in the Conatditl Statement of Comprehensive Income
in accordance with IFRS 5.

In the reporting period 10% current income tax ghplied under HUF 500 million taxable
profit and 19% tax rate above this amount in HupgBwue to this calculation method 10%
current income tax rate applied in the Hungariarrketaas current income tax rate, and
18.76% deferred tax rate was calculated basedseryéars plans.

In Romania, the current income tax rate for 2012 Wé% (2011: 16%) and the deferred tax

rate used was the same. In Bulgaria, the currexunie tax rate for 2012 was 10% (2011:
10%), and the deferred tax rate is the same.
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate

33.2
2012 2011
% MHUF % MHUF
Profit / Loss before income tax (89 174) (109 295)

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate 8,76% (16 729) 18,60% (20 329)

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions -7,17% 380 -7,46% 8 150
Effect of changes in tax rates -0,41% 369 -0,17% 183
Movement of unrecognized temporary differences 1,78%(1 586) -1,46% 1590
Unrecognized tax losses for the reporting period 31D 10531 -1550% 16 939
Tax Losses expiring in current year 2,07% (1 845) -1,15% 1261
Non-deductible expenses -1,63% 1455 -0,88% 958
Tax exempt income 0,06% (54) 0,19% (204)
Effects due to permanent differences - - 0,00% -
Other tax effects 0,04% (36) -2,91% 3183
Income tax 1,69% (1 505) 8,20% 11731

MKB used a prudent approach concerning tax lodseskout companies was not allowed to
recognize any deferred tax assets above the livdeferred tax liability in their books, and
the relating tax income and other companies useit five years plan for calculation the
upper limit. In 2011 legal base of tax loss changed due to this fact tax losses can be used
at maximum the 50% of the tax base in the futussdgl on this calculation, deferred tax asset
on balance sheet items and on tax loss carry folsvntalled at HUF5,607 million (2011:
4,079 million) before offsetting (see Note 25).

At 31 December 2012, the Group had unused tax doaswunting to HUF 324,628illion
(2011: HUF 256,166 million) with the following maity:

33.3

2012 2011
Without maturity 306 304 227 500
Mature within 1 year 238 -
Mature between 1 and 5 years 18 087 1678

Tax loss carryforwards 324 629 229 17

Tax loss carry forward of discontinued operatioroanied to HUF 29,609 million.

The Group without of the discontinued operatioro dlas HUF 302,294 million (2011: HUF
234,262 million) tax losses carried forward, onethno deferred tax asset was recognised.
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35

In 2012, the Group booked HUF 16 million deferrax liability (2011: NIL) directly against
equity relating to AFS securities’ revaluation.

Earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share at 8téeber 2012 was based on the profit
attributable to ordinary shareholders of HUF —8&,Tillion (2011: HUF -120,792 million)
and a weighted average number of ordinary shar¢stamaling of 48.883 million (2011:
20,733 million)

The calculation of fully diluted earnings per shavas based on the profit attributable to
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average auwibordinary shares outstanding after
any adjustment for the effects of all dilutive putel ordinary shares. In 2012 and 2011 there
were no dilution factor that might cause an adjestirin the weighted average number of
ordinary shares, therefore basic and diluted ER® eguivalent.

Contingencies and commitments

35.1

2012 Gross Provision Net
Contingencies
Guarantees and similar obligations 128 127 1718 026 4

Obiligations from letters of credit and other short

) 8 688 65 8623
term trade related iter
Other contingent liablities (including litigation) 0D78 4 986 5092
Total contingencies 146 893 6 769 140 1
Commitments
Undrawn commitments to extend credit 219 345 2 534 &16
Total commitme nts 219 345 2534 216 8
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2011 Gross Provision Net
Contingencies

Guarantees and similar obligations 151 327 2 556 128 7
Obiligations from letters of credit and other short

) 14 610 99 14 511
term trade related tems
Other contingent liablities (including litigation) 0B59 163 10 496
Total contingencies 176 597 2818 1737
Commitments
Undrawn commitments to extend credit 238 303 4708

Total commitments 238 303 4 708 233 54

From discontinued operation:

2012 Gross Provision Net

Contingencies

Guarantees and similar obligations 1204 0 1204
Other contingent liablities (including litigation) 13 413 0

Total contingencies

Commitments

Undrawn commitments to extend credit 2 489 0 2 489

Total commitments 2 489 0] 248

88/129



MKB Bank Zrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Consolidated Financial Statements as at Decemh&03P

2011 Gross Provision Net
Contingencies
Guarantees and similar obligations 1387 0 1387
Other contingent liablities (including litigation) 62 462 0

Total contingencies

Commitments
Undrawn commitments to extend credit 3017 0 3017
Total commitme nts 3017 0] 301

Concerning contingencies and commitments net amsametdisclosed in the table.

36  Use of estimates and judgements

Management discusses with the Group Supervisorydt# development, selection and
disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting p@g and estimates, and the application of
these policies and estimates.

These disclosures supplement the commentary ondiaaisk management (see Note 5).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Allowances for credit losses

Assets accounted for at amortised cost are evaluateimpairment on a basis described in
accounting policy (see Note 4 i,).

The specific counterparty component of the totdbvednces for impairment applies to
financial assets evaluated individually for impagémh and is based upon management’s best
estimate of the present value of the cash flowsdhaexpected to be received. In estimating
these cash flows, management makes judgements aboutnterparty’s financial situation
and the net realisable value of any underlyingatethl. Each impaired asset is assessed on its
merits, and the workout strategy and estimate oh cfiows considered recoverable are
independently approved by the Credit Risk function.

Collectively assessed impairment allowances coraitlosses inherent in portfolios of loans
and advances with similar credit risk charactersstivhen there is objective evidence to
suggest that they contain impaired loans and adgiat the individual impaired items

cannot yet be identified. In assessing the needcdtiective loss allowances, management
considers factors such as credit quality, portfeliz®, concentrations and economic factors. In
order to estimate the required allowance, assumpt&se made to define the way inherent
losses are modelled and to determine the requmpdtiparameters, based on historical
experience and current economic conditions. Theracy of the allowances depends on the
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estimates of future cash flows for specific coumdety allowances and the model assumptions
and parameters used in determining collective almes.

Uncertain or unanticipated future events could ltaaumaterial adjustments to provisions or
additional provisions. The accounting values deiieech are not fair values or market prices
that might be determined if the underlying asse¢ssald to a third party.

Impairment test of Goodwill

The recoverable amount of each cash-generating hiaite been calculated based on their
value in use.

Value in use has been calculated by discountingfuhge cash flows generated from the
continuing operation of the cash generating unjteBtimating the expected future cash-flows
from operation, the Group used its own method. daes assigned to the key assumptions
represent management’s assessment of future tientee Bulgarian, Romanian banking
industry and in the Hungarian leasing industry anel based on both external sources and
internal sources (historical data). Should MKB as# strategy on a market, expected selling
price is also taken into account by calculatingca$h flows. Due to the total impairment of
Goodwill in 2011, this paragraph was not applied.

Determining fair values

The determination of fair value for financial asseind liabilities for which there is no
observable market price requires the use of valnagchniques as described in accounting
policy. For financial instruments that trade infueqtly and have little price transparency, fair
value is less objective, and requires varying degref judgement depending on liquidity,
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, mgcassumptions and other risks affecting the
specific instrument. See also “Valuation of finahé¢hstruments” below.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Groyp’s accounting policies
Critical accounting judgements made in applying@meup’s accounting policies include:
Valuation of financial instruments

The Group’s accounting policy on fair value measwsts is discussed under Note 4.
The Group measures fair values using the followiiegarchy of methods:

« Quoted market price in an active market for an fidahinstrument.

« Valuation techniques based on observable inputis. ddtegory includes instruments
valued using: quoted market prices in active market similar instruments; quoted
prices for similar instruments in markets that evasidered less than active; or other
valuation techniques where all significant inputs directly or indirectly observable
from market data.

« Valuation techniques using significant unobservaibeits. This category includes all
instruments where the valuation technique includesits not based on observable
data and the unobservable inputs could have afisigmi effect on the instrument’s
valuation. This category includes instruments #rat valued based on quoted prices
for similar instruments where significant unobséteaadjustments or assumptions are
required to reflect differences between the instuis.
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Fair values of financial assets and financial liibs that are traded in active markets are
based on quoted market prices or dealer price tionsa For all other financial instruments

the Group determines fair values using valuatiechriéues. Valuation techniques include net
present value and discounted cash flow models, adsgn to similar instruments for which

market observable prices exist, Black-Scholes ahghpmial option pricing models and other

valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used lnatimn techniques include risk-free and
benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and giteenia used in estimating discount rates,
bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchargest equity and equity index prices and
expected price volatilities and correlations. Resitair value of OTC derivatives are adjusted
with counter party risk adjustment if the countetpahas a rating worse than 11. The
objective of valuation techniques is to arrive atam value determination that reflects the
price of the financial instrument at the end of teeorting period that would have been
determined by market participants acting at arergth.

The Group uses widely recognised valuation modelslétermining the fair value of common
and more simple financial instruments, like intenege and currency swaps that use only
observable market data and require litle manageimelgement and estimation. Observable
prices and model inputs are usually available iae tharket for listed debt and equity
securities, exchange traded derivatives and simopée the counter derivatives like interest
rate swaps. Availability of observable market mi@d model inputs reduces the need for
management judgement and estimation and also redihee uncertainty associated with
determination of fair values. Availability of obsable market prices and inputs varies
depending on the products and markets and is gmobanges based on specific events and
general conditions in the financial markets.

For more complex instruments, the Group uses et valuation models, which usually
are developed from recognised valuation models.eSomall of the significant inputs into
these models may not be observable in the mankdtaee derived from market prices or rates
or are estimated based on assumptions. Examplensifuinents involving significant
unobservable inputs includes certain over the @usttuctured derivatives and certain loans
and securities for which there is no active mark@tiuation models that employ significant
unobservable inputs require a higher degree of gemant judgement and estimation in
determination of fair value. Management judgemert astimation are usually required for
selection of the appropriate valuation model taibed, determination of expected future cash
flows on the financial instrument being valued,edetination of probability of counterparty
default and prepayments and selection of apprepdatcount rates.

The Group discloses the fair value of Equity putiayp of the non-controlling interest using
valuation techniques with significant unobservabilputs. Equity put options are initially
recognized in a separated equity element and theeguent measurement is at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

In the current pressed market environment thereoisactive market for selling financial
institutions and no observable inputs are avail&ehe fair value measurement of this kind
of option, the valuation is based on contractuahte The price of purchase is calculated by
using a multiplicator on the net asset value in®2@@d interest payment on each capital
injection from 2009. The fair value of the option ¢alculating by purchase price on the
reporting day less NCI's net asset value.

Remarkable increase of EURIBOR used for interegingat calculation on capital injections
and knowing the exact date when NCI intend ca#l tption (e.g. during 2013) would change
the fair value significantly.

The table below analyses financial instrumentsieduat fair value, by valuation method:
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36.1

Valuation techniques -
significant unobservable Total
inputs

Quoted market prices Valuation techniques

NI in active markets observable inputs

31 December 2012

Cash reserves 6 335454 - - 335454
Trading assets 8 12 991 20 887 - 33878
Derivative assets held for risk management 9 - - -
Loans and advances to customers 11 - - - -
Investments in securities 10 229 230 - - 229230
Current and deposit accounts 16 - 34238 - 34238
Trading liabilties 17 95 19511 2229 21835
Derivative liabities held for risk management 18 - 214 - 214
Issued debt securities 20 - 21 364 - 21364
Total 577 770 96 214 2229 676213
31 December 2011

Cash reserves 6 247 291 - - 247291
Trading assets 8 34978 22 670 - 57 648
Derivative assets held for risk management 9 - - -
Loans and advances to customers 11 - - - -
Investments in securities 10 288 925 - - 288925
Current and deposit accounts 16 - 28 832 - 28 832
Trading liabilties 17 102 29 195 4166 33463
Derivative liabiities held for risk management 18 - 262 - 262
Issued debt securities 20 - 23143 - 23143
Total 571 296 104 102 4166 679564

The Group did not reclassify any instrument frone oevaluation hierarchy level into another
during the reporting period.

As part of its trading activities the Group entem® OTC structured derivatives, primarily
options indexed to equity prices, foreign excharages and interest rates, with customers and
other banks. Some of these instruments are valsied models with significant unobservable
inputs, principally expected long-term volatilitieed expected correlations between different
asset prices or foreign currency exchange ralégse inputs are estimated based on
extrapolation from observable shorter-term volai, recent transaction prices, quotes from
other market participants and historical data.

In determining fair values, the Group does not aserages of reasonably possible alternative
inputs as averages may not represent a price ahvehiransaction would take place between
market participants on the measurement date. Wkemmative assumptions are available within
a wide range, judgements exercised in selectingnibst appropriate point in the range include
evaluation of the quality of the sources of ingfas example, the experience and expertise of the
brokers providing different quotes within a rang@jing greater weight to a quote from the
original broker of the instrument who has the naegailed information about the instrument) and
the availability of corroborating evidence in respef some inputs within the range.

Accounting classifications and fair values

The estimated fair values disclosed below are deségl to approximate values at which these
instruments could be exchanged in an arm’s lengdhstction. However, many of the
financial instruments have no active market andetfioee, fair values are based on estimates
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using net present value and other valuation teciasigsee Note 4 g, and Note 36), which are
significantly affected by the assumptions used lo& amount and timing of the estimated
future cash flows and discount rates. In many cagesould not be possible to realise
immediately the estimated fair values given the sizthe portfolios measured.

The table below sets out the carrying amounts airdvélues of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities:

37.1

Financial assets

Fair value

through Loans and Available

profit or receivables for sale
loss

Other

amortised

cost

Total

carrying amount

Fair value

Cash reserves 6 - - 335 454 78 336 413 790 413 790
Loans and advances to banks 7 - 81 316 - - 81 316 80 752
Measured at fair value - - - - - -
Measured at amortised cost - 81 316 - - 81 316 80 752
Trading assets 8 33878 - - - 33878 33878
Derivative assets held for risk management 9 - - - - - -
Investments in securities 10 - - 229 230 - 229 230 229 230
Loans and advances to customers 11 - 1658 357 - - 1658 357 1565 290
Measured at fair value - 2766 - - 2766 2766
Measured at amortised cost - 1655591 - - 1655591 1562524
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 15 - - - 674 216 674 216 654 462
Current and deposit accounts 16 34238 - - 1354799 1389 037 1438 382
Measured at fair value 34 238 - - - 34 238 34 238
Measured at amortised cost - - - 1354799 1354 799 1404 143
Trading liabiities 17 21835 - - - 21835 21835
Derivative liabiities held for risk management 18 214 - - - 214 214
Issued debt securities 20 21 364 - - 148 882 170 246 177 803
Measured at fair value 21364 - - - 21 364 21364
Measured at amortised cost - - - 148 882 148 882 156 439
Subordinated debt 21 - - - 101 642 101 642 103 826

Financial assets

Fair value
through

Loans and Available
profit or receivables for sale
loss

Other

amortised

cost

Total

carrying amount

Fair value

Cash reserves 6 - - 247 291 74 386 321677 321677
Loans and advances to banks 7 - 85 052 - - 85 052 84 187
Measured at fair value - - - - - -
Measured at amortised cost - 85 052 - - 85 052 84 187
Trading assets 8 57 648 - - - 57 648 57 648
Derivative assets held for risk management 9 - - - - - -
Investments in securities 10 - - 288 925 - 288 925 288 925
Loans and advances to customers 11 - 1994 633 - - 1994 633 2134 465
Measured at fair value - 3003 - - 3003 3003
Measured at amortised cost - 1991631 - - 1991631 2131 462
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 15 - - - 977 326 977 326 959 664
Current and deposit accounts 16 28 832 - - 1434639 1463 472 1413 140
Measured at fair value 28 832 - - - 28 832 28 832
Measured at amortised cost - - - 1434639 1434639 1384 307
Trading liabiities 17 33463 - - - 33463 33463
Derivative liabilities held for risk management 18 262 - - - 262 262
Issued debt securities 20 23143 - - 148 002 171 145 186 552
Measured at fair value 23 143 - - - 23143 23143
Measured at amortised cost - - - 148 002 148 002 163 409
Subordinated debt 21 - - - 108 486 108 486 109 052

93/129



MKB Bank Zrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Consolidated Financial Statements as at Decemh&03P

The methods and, when a valuation technique is, tsedassumptions applied in determining
fair values of financial instruments were as folsow

Cash reserves,

Due to the short term nature, the carrying amountCash reserves is a reasonable
approximation of their fair value.

Trading assets and liabilities and Derivative assednd liabilities held for risk
management

Fair values of Trading assets and liabilities an@r®hedge derivative assets and liabilities
held for risk management that are traded in actiegkets are based on quoted market prices
or dealer price quotations. For all other finanaiatruments the Group determines fair values
using valuation techniques. For further informatiplease see Note 36.

Investments in securities

The fair values of instruments grouped into Invesita in securities are based on quoted
market prices, when available. If quoted marketgsiare not available, fair value is estimated
using quoted market prices of similar securities. farther information, please refer to Note
10 and Note 4 |.

Loans and advances to banks and to customers

The fair value of loans and advances is based @ereéble market transactions, where
available. In the absence of observable marketsaetions, fair value is estimated using
discounted cash flow models. Performing loans ameupmed, as far as possible, into
homogeneous pools segregated by coupon rates. rleraje contractual cash flows are
discounted using a rate which is sum of the avklafterest rate which would have been
offered if the customer applied for loan at the ehthe reporting period plus the counterparty
marge. The used interest rates are available itighgld Terms and Conditions as of 31
December, 2012 and the counterpary marge is abiilan the Bank’'s systems. The
rediscounted cash flows are decreased using bsatine impairment percentage as it was used
for impairment purpose, and it is considered asviaue of the loan portfolio.

Amounts due to other banks and Current and dep@sgitounts

For the purposes of estimating fair value, Amouthus to other banks and Current and deposit
accounts are grouped by residual maturity. Faiueslare estimated using discounted cash
flows, applying current rates offered for depositssimilar remaining maturities plus MKB
own credit risk which is determined by productseThir value of a deposit repayable on
demand is assumed to be the amount payable on deah#ire end of the reporting period.

Issued debt securities and Subordinated debt

Fair values are determined using quoted markeepit the end of the reporting period where
available, or by reference to quoted market pricesimilar instruments plus own credit risk.
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Related parties

The Group’s related parties include the parent @mp associates, joint ventures, Key
Management Personnel, close family members of Keywddement Personnel and entities
which are controlled, jointly controlled or sigmiéintly influenced, or for which significant
voting power is held, by Key Management Personnéh@ir close family members.

Transactions with related parties

Related parties have transacted with the Groumduhie period as follows:

38.1

Parent company Non-consolidated  Jointly controlled . Key Management  Other related
. P " Associates A
and its group subsidiaries entities Personnel parties

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2

Assets

Amounts due from other banks 30284 46259 - - - - - - - - - -
Loans and advances to customers - - 1694 4875 46511 45 298 646 714 206 855 1155 1151
Derivative financial assets 4970 3123 - - - - - - - - - -
Other assets - -

Liabilities

Amounts due to other banks 531371 816 087 - - - - - - - - - -
Current and deposit accounts 241 328 5092 759 322 913 622 886 - - 21806 60 607
Borrowed funds and debt securities - - - - - - - - - -
Subordinated debt 101 642 108 486

Derivative finacial labiities 15963 16 319

Other liabiities - -

Income statement

Interest income 1288 4099 89 127 1966 1965 62 66 7 23 72 66
Interest expense 17304 22391 297 30 4 69 192 10 - - 1031 982
Other net income / (expense) (5589) (6 365) 24 19 24 27 188 12 (537) (1217) 34 30
Contingencies and commitments

Undrawn commitments to extend credit 2150 2000 343 13 2900 2368 189 10 - - 96 672
Guarantees 511 497 - - 134 65 - - - - 2056 2056
Provision 45 35 687 1479 3444 2692 6 5 - - 26 25

In order to decrease the credit risk BayernLB pitedi guarantee for some clients’ exposures
in an amount of HUF 64,194 million.

The amount outstanding from Key Management Perdaepeesents mortgages and secured
loans granted and these loans are secured ovesrpray the respective borrowers.

The above transactions with other than Key Managerfersonnel were made in the ordinary
course of business and on substantially the sammes téncluding interest rates and security, as
for comparable transactions with persons of a asimgfanding. The transactions did not
involve more than the normal risk of repayment m@spnt other unfavourable features.

Other related parties includes the interests oKigeManagement Personnel.

Impairment losses and provisions against balancgstamding with related parties were
recognized during ordinary course of impairmenteassient. Incurred loss has been
recognized on balance sheet items and off balameet #ems with related parties which were
individually or collectively assessed and the resiulted NIL impairment at the end of the
period.

Key management personnel compensation for thegpbedmprised:
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40

38.2
2012 2011

Short-term employee benefits 537 1217
Other long-term benefits - -

537 1217

Group entities

The subsidiaries and jointly controlled entitiedMB and their activities are as follows:

39.1

Company Pergentage i Pergentgge i . Claumisy pf Brief description of activities

equity owned voting rights  incorporation

MKB-Euroleasing Autélizing Szolgaltatd Kft. 65,23% 50% Hungan  Car finance activit
MKB-Euroleasing Autéhitel Zrt. 71,75% 50% Hungan  Car and consumer finance activit
MKB-Euroleasing Autopark Zrt. 74,97% 50% Hungary Caeflmanagement
MKB-Euroleasing Zrt. 50,98% 50% Hungan Holding of Euroleasing gro
MKB Uzemeltetési Kift. 100% 100% Hungary Property operaaind maintenance.
MKB Unionbank AD 97% 97% Bulgaria Fully licenced commiat bank.
Nextebank S.A. 93,73% 94,98% Romani Fully licenced commercial bar
MKB Romexterra Leasing IFN S.A. 97,57% 97 57% Romanii  Car and porperty leasing activ
S.C. Corporate Recovery Management S.R.L. 100% 100% maRia Claims buying/factoring activity.
MKB Befektetési AlapkezélZrt. 100% 100% Hungary Investment fund managementigcti
Resideal Zrt. 100% 100% Hungary Property investment and valuation.
Exter-Immo Zrt. 100% 100% Hungary  Financial leasingvitgt
Exter-Bérlet Kift. 100% 100% Hungary  Wholesale trade.
Ercorner Kft. 50% 50% Hungary  Property investments
Euro-Immat Uzemeltetési Kft. 100% 100% Hungary Intalegitssets, license maintenance.
Extercom Vagyonkez&Kft. 100% 100% Hungary Property investments

Funds management

The Group manages 24 close-ended (2011: 20) angdGended (2011: 17) investment fund
via MKB Befektetési AlapkezélZrt, a fully owned and consolidated subsidiarywdger, as

the funds themselves are not controlled by the @réluey are not consolidated. For funds
management services provided by the Group, fundaldtpay certain fees and commission
that is presented as ,Commission and fee incomeé (dote 28). In 2012 and 2011, the

volume of the funds, and transactions with the fuingmselves were as follows:
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40.1

2012 2011

Managed funds (in HUF milion)

Open-ended funds 71621 72 319

Close-ended funds 47 998 39274
Commission and fee income from funds 2254 2410
Deposits from funds 70 600 74 732
Interest expense on deposits from funds 3171 1816

Open-ended funds represent the net asset value and of reporting period, close-ended
funds represent the nominal amount at date of iERia

Segment information

The following segment information has been prepanestcordance with IFRS 8, “Operating
Segments,” which defines requirements for the d&ale of financial information of an
entity’'s operating segments. It follows the “mamaget approach”, which requires
presentation of the segments on the basis of thenial reports about components of the entity
which are regularly reviewed by the chief operatihgcision-maker in order to allocate
resources to a segment and to assess its perfaemdanagement reporting for the Group is
based on IFRS.

Business segments

The business segments identified by the Group septethe organizational structure as
reflected in its internal management reporting eayst The Group is organized into four

business lines, each with its own distinct market products. Each business line has its own
set of objectives and targets broken down by operatnits, which are consistent with the

Group's overall strategic direction. As of 31 Debem 31 2012, the Group's business
segments and their main products were:

Corporate Banking

The Group provides trade finance, a wide array reflit, account and deposit products,
forfeiting and factoring, letters of credit, guatess, international payments, portfolio
management, project and structured finance, invagtrand financial advisory services to
large Hungarian and regional public and privatdeseentities through branches and
electronic delivery channels.

Institutional Banking
MKB Group serves financial institutions and finaicgervice companies with nostro and

vostro account services, international and domegstigments, correspondent banking and
participates in bank-to-bank finance, club and syatéd loans.
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Retail and Private Banking

The Group provides a wide range of deposit andngavinstrument, credit and debit cards,
portfolio management, and a limited number of Ipaoducts to high net worth individuals
and entrepreneurs through 179 full-service branemelssub-branches (2011: 187 branches),
ATMs, telephone and electronic channels.

Money and Capital Markets

The Group serves domestic institutions with soptagéd cash management and risk
mitigation tools through money market products aedivative financial instruments, and

manages the Group's liquidity, interest rate ancbi§m exchange positions. The Group
provides capital market products, custody and assahagement, pension fund and
investment fund management, collateralised loaanipe, and investment and other financial
advisory services to large corporations and in#iis, and manages the Group's market
positions.

Other

Residual items which cannot be directly allocatedbtisiness segments (mainly general
administration expenses) are included in the Qthergory.
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Corporate

Institutional

Money and

41.1

Note
Assets
Cash reserves 6
Loans and advances to banks 7
Trading assets 8
Investments in securities 10
Loans and advances to customers 11
Assets from Discontinued operation 42
Other assets 12
Deferred tax assets 25
Investments in jointly controlled entities and asates 13
Intangibles, property and equipment 14
Liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 15
Current and deposit accounts 16
Trading liabiities 17
Derivative liabiities held for risk management 18
Liabiities of Discontinued operation 42
Other liabilties and provisions 19
Deferred tax liability 25
Issued debt securities 20
Subordinated debt 21
Shareholders' equity 22,23,24
Income statement
Gross revenue - external customers
Gross revenue - inter-segment
Interest and commission expenditure
Impairment and provisions for losses 31
Restructuring cost 30
Operating expenses 32
Expenses related to bank levies
Share of associates' loss
Profit / (Loss) before taxation
Result from discontinued operation 42

Segment result
Other information
Capital expenditure

Depreciation and amortisation 14
Other non-cash expenses

Banking

958 068
22438

166
7 686

988 358

581512

56 595
596
66

638 769

64338

(6 215)
(28 769)
(49 117)

(11 175)

(4‘{9)
(31 387)
(2 664)

(34 051)

5332
161

Banking

404 353
10277

1602
27769

75

444 074

306 442
10 462

1040
137

60

164 178
101 642

583 961

56 865
(10 814)
(40 676)
(18 257)

(6718)
(7 095)
(13 214)

(39 go.;;)
(3297)

(43 206)

96
102
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Private Banking

698 687
298

117

699 102

797 063

1185
82

798 330

69 954
17 029
(33 461)
(19 888)

(25 905)

7729
(35)

7 693

7552
374

Capital Markets

- 9437
71039 -
33878 -

229 230 -

- 15 668
- 16 076
56 19
- 72234
334203 113436
367 774 -
21835 -
214 -
905 957
20 25549
40 16
4428 1640
- 134715
395236 162877
2392 1459
(2942) -
(2319) -
(1916)  (14023)
- (401)
(4785) (12 965)
- (1.860)
(4785) (14 825)
- 7361
28 202

2579 173

2579 173

195 008

(105 848)
(89 581)

(89 174
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Note

Corporate

Institutional

Retail and

Money and Other

Assets

Cash reserves 6
Loans and advances to banks 7
Trading assets 8
Derivative assets held for risk management 9
Investments in securities 10
Loans and advances to customers 11
Assets from Discontinued operation 42
Other assets 12
Goodwil 13
Deferred tax assets 25
Investments in jointly controlled entities and adates 13
Intangibles, property and equipment 14
Liabilities

Amounts due to other banks 15
Current and deposit accounts 16
Trading liabilities 17
Derivative liabiities held for risk management 18
Liabiities of Discontinued operation 42
Other liabilties and provisions 19
Deferred tax liability 25
Issued debt securities 20
Subordinated debt 21
Shareholders' equity 22,23,24
Income statement

Gross revenue - external customers

Gross revenue - inter-segment

Interest and commission expenditure

Impairment and provisions for losses 31
Operating expenses 32
Expenses related to bank levies

Share of associates' loss

Profit / (Loss) before taxation

Result from discontinued operation 42

Segment result
Other information
Capital expenditure

Depreciation and amortisation 14
Other non-cash expenses

In presenting information on the basis of geogreghiareas, revenue is based on the
geographical location of customers and assets asedbon the geographical location of the

assets.

Banking

1203083
54 581

1727
8 459

1267 850

584 325

797 266

61317
(20 880)
(17 863)
(36 741)
(1598)
(1108)
(997)

(17 870)

(1813)

(37 553)

7 459
19

Banking

37 304

350 047
19851

818
235
1273

108 486

480 710

52716
12028
(51 496)
(33111)
(16 037)

(75)

(35 975)

(814)

(72 764)

253
191

Private Banking Capital Markets

- - 321677 321 677
- 50 672 - 85 052
- 57 648 57 648
- 288 925 - 288 925
789 248 - 1994 633
- 23 18799 73 889
- - 32682 32 681
1074 536 605 4079
- - - 8 459
- - 76918 76 918
790 322 397804 450681 2943 96
- 627 279 - 977 326
859 296 - - 1463 472
) 33463 33463
- 262 - 262
- 2150 1211 68 994
25 206 65 137 30 856
1679 1101 418 5868
29171 - 457 171145
- - - 108 486
- - 84089 84089
915 352 664 321 86312 2943 96
91 069 3330 (3018) 205 414
8852 - - -
(29 823) (4 180) - (103 362)
(53 734) (4 444) - (128 030)
(41112) (2224)  (13733) (74 703)
(398) (286) (734) (2 601)
- - - (997)
(25 146) (7804)  (17485) (104 280)
(2 208) (185) 5 (5015)
(52 499) (15792)  (34965) (109 295}
) - 25 804 25 804
10 969 - - 18 681
490 27 164 890

Romania Bulgaria

Net interest income 56 785 1491 7666 (2566) 63376
Net commission income 10 587 2988 (558) 13537
Other operating income / (expense) (10 9557 780) 875 6 704 (11 156)
Total revenue 56 417 (5769) 11529 3580 65757
Non current assets 67 427 2 344 1540 (2323) 68988
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2011 Hungary Romania Bulgaria Other Total

Net interest income 71088 2976 7634 (4671 77027
Net commission income 11143 700 2913 (696) 14 060
Other operating income / (expense) (1 823)6 469) 517 9 456 1681
Total revenue 80408 (2793) 11064 4089 92768
Non current assets 76 714 3131 1802 (4729) 76918

Measurement of segment profit or loss

Segment reporting under IFRS 8 requires a presentaff the segment results based on
management reporting methods with reconciliatiotwben the results of the business
segments and the consolidated financial statemdims. information provided about each
segment is based on the internal reports about exgigprofit or loss, assets and other
information which are regularly reviewed by theeftoperating decision maker.

Calculation of intersegment revenue

Intersegment revenues and expenses are calculatetket interest method. In the case of
refinanced loans, as well as those linked to a sigpare evaluated against the connected
transaction. Revenues and expenses on refinaneed land loans linked to deposit are
calculated with reference to the interest of théaulying transaction.

Since the Group’s business activities are divemseature and its operations are integrated,
certain estimates and judgments have been madeprteon revenue and expense items
among the business segments.

Discontinued Operation

During 2012 the management decided to sell not dwéxtebank S.A (former MKB
Romexterra Bank S.A) but also MKB Romexterra LegqdlN S.A as well, which represents
the main business in the Romanian market. The nesnewt is committed to cease businesses
which are categorised as non-core business byrthegtrategy. MKB expects to conclude
the sale during the financial year 2013.

Assets, liabilities and profit from discontinuedeogtion include the followings:
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2012 201
Assets
Cash reserves 12 262 18 780
Loans and advances to banks 1324 485
Trading assets 298 24
Derivative assets held for risk management - -
Investments in securities 26 461 26 791
Loans and advances to customers 22 438 27 790
Other assets 3008 19
Deferred tax assets - -
Investments in jointly controlled entities and asstes 129 -
Intangibles, property and equipment 253 -
Total assets 66 173 73 88
Liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 1040 818
Current and deposit accounts 57 482 66 962
Trading liabilties 18 2
Derivative liabilities held for risk management - -
Other liabilties and provisions 939 1197
Deferred tax liability 18 15

Issued debt securities - -

Total liabilities 59 497 68 99

2012 201

Income statement:

Interest income 4759 7091
Interest expense 2637 3098
Net interest income 2122 3991
Net income from commissions and fees 558 721
Other operating income / (expense) 367 (276)
Impairments and provisions for losses 3236 (225)
Operating expenses 7676 10 478
Loss before taxation (7 865) (5 815
Income tax expense 8 (208)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (7 857) (5 60

Other comprehensive income:

Revaluation on AFS financial assets 224 (61)
Exchange differencies on translating foreign opemat (700) (2 257)

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax 476) (2 318

[6)]

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR [CRERE)) (7 92
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Nextebank S.A was accounted under for IFRS 5 attlieof 2011, MKB could not finalize
the selling transaction, due to the approval paddNational Bank of Romania. Regardless
of the prolonged processes, the management iscstifimitted to sell it. Based on the
management expectation the recoverable amouneadhttestment in Nextebank S.A may not
achieve its net asset value. Due to this estimatenondary revaluations of the assets were
necessary. Intangible and tangible, and other sssete assessed for impairment, and
impairment was recognized in an amount of HUF 3,88Bion in 2011. In the reporting
period, additional revaluation was necessary whigsulted in a portfolio impairment of
Loans and advances in an amount of HUF 3,750 millMKB will reclassify the revaluation
from currency translation reserve of foreign ogeratinto profit or loss on the date of
disposal, which amounted to HUF 5,009 million lasshe end of the year.

Forborn assets

During the normal course of business the Groupremt¢o forbearance measures to decrease
the loan loss for the debtors who have problemb pétyment ability but not with willingness

to pay.

Restructured exposures are renegotiated, reschiedptelonged) as well as restructured
loans, receivables and credits (including also lpased ones) originated in the framework of
an amendment or termination of a previously conetucontract, initiated either by the debtor
or the Group, where

» the contract is amended in order to avoid defaedialise the debtor is unable to fulfil its
payment obligations in compliance with the condiicof the original contract due to
significant deterioration in its financial positian solvency,

» the amendments significantly change the originahseand conditions of the outstanding
contract, contrary to the market terms and conaktiapplicable to contracts of the same
type and concluded under the same conditions, and

* a supplementary agreement or a new contract isluaeat between the debtor and the
Group that relates to a new loan provided for thgayment of the outstanding debts
(principal and/or interest) arising from the origjirtontract that is terminated, or to any
further commitment assumed to avoid any increadhdrcredit risks and to mitigate the
possible loss.

The Group generally applies the following type$avbearance measures:

* interest rate cut, or lower pricing,

* interest capitalisation,

» extension of the tenor/final maturity of the loan,
* renegotiation of original repayment schedule,

e agreement on instalment payment,

» reduction of the collateral coverage,

» refinancing of the loan.

Besides the Group’s internal forbearance initiajthe home protection measures in the retail
clientele launched by the Hungarian governmeneiry 2011 and 2012, and set by legal
regulations also result in forborn assets. Sucetagsclude:
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» the preferential buffer account facility (“arfolygét”) granted pursuant to the act on FX
loans and the related original FX loan,

* loans converted into HUF until August 31, 2012 parg to the provisions and
conditions of Act LXXV of 2011 with the parallel we-off of 25% of the original debt.

Such exposures and associated credit risks aregednmonitored and reported distinctly by
specific restructuring business and risk units & Group on the basis of guidelines and
procedure rules set by internal regulations incatdiog also both legal and supervisory
requirements. When the conditions of forbearanese¢o exist and the customer performs its
amended contractual obligations duly through aifipdcperiod (180 days or 360 days) and
its risk position shows significant improvementspective assets are returned to normal
treatments both from business and risk manageneegpg@ctives.

Forborn assets are recorded separately, and thedachéerms and conditions of the contract
are also indicated in the accounting records. Ratiog, derecognition and subsequent
valuation of these assets are carried out accotditite general rules of accounting as
specified by the relevant IFRSs.

The detailed requirements of risk classificatiod anpairment valuation of forborn exposures
are included in the accounting policies, and ofinégrnal regulations on the valuation of
assets and liabilities, as well as in impairmend @novisioning policies. Based on these
internal guidelines, forbearance measures are alwegarded as impairment triggers and, as a
consequence, individual impairment assessment ghioel performed for such exposures
where the general methodologies and principlesséssment are to be applied. On the results
of such risk assessments, impairment losses andrehersals of previously charged
impairments are accounted for according to the comrules defined by IAS 39.

Compared to previous financial years, except foeilifees introduced by the central
government as detailed above, there were no chandegbearance practices applied by the
Group in 2012.

43.1
Corporate Institutional Retg el
Bankin Bankin Private Total
9 9 Banking
Forbearence loans and advances 236 622 14 280 73437 324 339
Specfific allowances for impairment
Forbearence loans and advances (38 120) - (5038) (43158)

Collective allowances for impairment
Carrying amount

693)
68 392 280 488

197 816 14 280

In 2012 carrying amount increased by HUF 13.8duilli
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Events after the end of the reporting period

1.) In December 2012, the main shareholders dedidddcrease the capital of the Bank
through issuance of new shares. Based on thisidecend approval of the European
Commission the main shareholder intends to incréfasecapital in MKB by HUF 36,314

million.

2.) In February, 2013 an early repayment of refonam loan denominated in CHF was done
to the parent company in an amount of CHF 154 omll{HUF 37,123 million as of 31
December, 2012). The original amount of CHF 300ioml (HUF 72,318 million as of 31
December, 2012) has a maturity in 2014 which watopged by three months.

At the end of February another refinancing loan a@® partly repaid before the maturity.
This loan was disclosed in the Statement of Firsreosition in an amount of CHF 400
million (HUF 94,424 million), and CHF 200 milliotHUF 48,212 million) was repaid.

3.) The sale transaction of Nextebank S.A has rehlroncluded till the date of approval of

these financial statements. However, the manageigestill strongly committed to sell this
operation and the Bank actively manages the tréinsac
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BUSINESS REPORT
to the consolidated 2012 financial statements of

MKB Bank Zrt. (Prepared under IFRS)

In 2012, the scope of activities of MKB Bank Zrgsbsidiaries and jointly controlled companies
comprised the following sectors

» banking services

» finance and operating leases

= financial and investment services

= valuation and sales tasks related to work-out actities
*= maintenance of buildings and fixed asset investmest
= property investment

= other loans (motor, car and other vehicle loans)

= renting vehicles, trade and repair

* management of investment funds

The activities of subsidiary companies and joimthytrolled entities were tightly fit to the coreedit
institutional feature and, moreover, to MKB Bank’Zown business strategy and business policies.

In line with group-wide business policy targetsbelated early 2001, finance and operating lease
activities were concentrated in MKB-Euroleasing r@and MKB Romexterra Leasing IFN S.A.

MKB Bank Zrt. acquired 2.79% stake in Nextebanlotigh issuance of new share capital. This is a
fully licensed commercial bank domiciled in RomarA& the end of period 2012 the total interest in
Nextebank S.A. is 93.73%. MKB acquired also 2.79%ittonal share in MKB Romexterra Leasing
IFN S.A through issuance of new share capital. @lbsing and the take-over of control over both
mentioned two companies took place in 2006. Onlg, 2012 EBRD exercised half of its option for

selling its shares in MKB Unionbank A.D. Due to ttransaction MKB acquired additional three
percentage interest in MKB Unionbank A.D. so MKEs#s increased to 97%.

MKB Group'’s profit after taxation for 2012 undeRBE amounted to HUF 87,669 million loss.
Consolidated shareholders’ equity was HUF 134, 7llfomat 2012 year-end.

At December 31, 2012, MKB Group held no repurchased shares in its portfolio.

MKB Bank’s corporate governance statement is attdéh Enclosure 1.

In 2012, the Group accounted for HUF 233 million R&osts.

After financial position date there occurred songmificant events, which is presented in Note 48, b
they may not have a material effect on volume aedme figures set out in the consolidated financial

statements for 2012.

Budapest, 5 March, 2013

Chairman & Chief Executive
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Enclosure 1

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
On the basis of s.95/B of Act C of 2000 on Accongti

The Corporate Governance system applied by MKB Bahk(hereinafter: Company) is based on the
effective Hungarian statutory regulations and thavisions of the Articles of Association.

The Shareholders’ Meeting is the supreme goverbotty of the Company. Each share entitles to one
vote at the Shareholders’ Meeting.

The ordinary Shareholders' Meeting shall be heltlialty, at the latest by the end of May each year.
Decision on issues conferred to the exclusive aiiyhof the Shareholders' Meeting under the law, or
the Articles of Association shall fall within the@usive authority of the Shareholders' Meeting.

The Board of Directors is the operative managerhedy of the Company. The members of the Board
of Directors represent the Company with regardhiiltparties, at court and before other authorities
The Board of Directors is entitled to take all an8 permitted by the effective legal regulationd an
the resolutions of the Shareholders' Meeting extmepnatters falling within the exclusive authoriaf

the Shareholders’ Meeting or the Supervisory BoBatticular decisions of the Board of Directors
listed in the Articles of Association may not beeented before the approval thereof by the
Supervisory Board.

The Board of Directors shall hold its meetings wdhan it deems necessary, but at least ten times a
year in order to perform its duties properly. TheaRl of Directors shall draw up its By-laws to be
approved by the Supervisory Board.

The members and the Chairman of the Board of Direchre elected and recalled, and their
remuneration is determined by the Shareholderstixige

With the cooperation of the members of the Boar®wéctors the following committees function in
the Company:

- Bank Development Committee

- Loan Loss Provisioning (LLP) Committee

- CSR Committee

- Asset and Liability Management Committee
- Risk Market Board

- Special Credits Unit Committee

The tasks and scope of the Committees are stipulatehe by-laws approved by the Board of
Directors.

The Supervisory Board shall control the managenwnthe Company, and when approving the
decisions of the Board of Directors listed under #rticles of Association it shall act as a Deaisio
Making Supervisory Board as set out under s.37afl¥k of 2006 on Business Associations.

The Supervisory Board shall hold its meetings whiendét deems necessary in order to perform its
duties properly.

The Supervisory Board shall draw up its By-lawséoapproved by the Shareholders' Meeting.
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The members of the Supervisory Board are electdderalled, and their remuneration is determined
by the Shareholders’ Meeting.

The members of the Supervisory Board shall be edeby the Shareholders' Meeting for a period of
no more than three years. One third of the memioérshe Supervisory Board shall be the
representatives of the Company's employees nondinatethe Works Council. Unless there is an
agreement between the Works Council and the Bdatltedirectors to the contrary, one third of the
members of the Supervisory Board shall be the sgmtatives of the Company's employees
nominated by the Works Council, to be elected by fiinst Shareholders’ Meeting following the
nomination, except for cases of disqualificatiapugated by law, when a new nomination is required.

With the cooperation of the independent membeth®fSupervisory Board an Audit Committee is in
place since March 2012 which, pursuant s.62. ®{ZAct CXX on the Capital Market is in charge of
the tasks defined in § 311 of the Business AssodistAct.

With the cooperation of the members of the Superyi8oard the following Committees function at
the Company:

- Risk Committee
- Audits Supervision Committee
- Remuneration Committee

The Risk Committee and the Audits Supervision Cottemiare responsible for decision preparing and
supporting tasks, while in addition to these thenReeration Committee also deals with remuneration
committee related tasks determined by the Crediitiriions and Financial Enterprises Act.

The list of the members of the Board of Directonsl ¢he Supervisory Board is enclosed hereto in
Appendix 1. of the present Statement.

Main characteristics of the internal audit system 6the Company:

The system of internal control functions within tinganisation has been developed in accordance with
the requirements set out in Recommendation No D&20 the Supervisory Council of the Hungarian
Financial Supervisory Authority on the “establishmhand operation of internal safeguards”, based on
statutory and EU standards. Within the internaégaérds — in addition to internal governance — the
system of internal control functions comprisesftiilwing main elements:

- Risk Management;

- Internal Audit System (therein: process integratedtrol, management control, management
information system, and independent internal ani@janisation);

- Compliance.

The units pursuing internal control functions arddpendent from each other within the organisation,
and from the banking organisational units the #ativ of which are controlled by them.

The elements of the internal audit system aimgu@&tess integrated control, management control and
the operation of the management information systerd, the regulated operation thereof are secured
by internal regulations, job descriptions and otffesupported solutions (e.g. the self control sgst
operated in the branch network) forming an intéghig, hierarchical system. In addition the Company,
in accordance with the relevant provisions of tlaev,| operates an independent internal audit
organization which is subordinated under the exetuauthority of the Supervisory Board and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. The internal agistem also performs group control tasks and in
addition to its own directly performed audits swyises the operation and tasks of the internal audit
functions of other group members.
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Brief presentation of the risk management system ofthe Company and the principles used
during risk management:

MKB Bank’s consolidated and non-consolidated Rigkategies are reviewed annually by MKB
Bank’s Risk Control Unit with the cooperation obtmvolved areas. The Risk Strategies - adapting to
the current economic environment and in accordavitethe Bank’s Business Strategy - incorporate
the principles and objectives of the Bank’s riglatggy in relation to each risk type, and deterntivge
consolidated and non-consolidated risk appetitdowing discussions with the Risk Committee it is
the Supervisory Board of the Company that is esttitb give final approval on the Risk Strategy.

In accordance with the basic requirements of theeBl preparations, and following the guidelinés o
BayernLB the concept globally concerning the Conyfrarisk bearing procedures was developed and
is being continuously fine-tuned within the framelwof different projects.

Main elements of the concept:

- Implementation of the Uniform Bank Segmentationegatisation applicable for the whole
clientele of the Company;

- The decision making system dependent on custortiegrand on the level of risk assumption;

- Application of Basel Il conform rating tools ancetdevelopment of analytic and behavioural
scorecards in the interest of IRBF compliance, thredcorresponding customer rating system,
which suitably supports the decision making adtieit the management of the bank;

- The annual internal model validation methodologgtifly and scoring tools, validation of
related processes);

- Monitoring process with a basic functionality ITpgort;

- Definition of an overall criteria system to idegtiendangered loans as soon as possible
containing and considering the relevant indicafarslitating the recognition of endangered
loans; definition of the applicable deal managenhgms, the related tasks, procedural rules;

- A prudent provisioning system and methodology nmgetihe requirements of both the
Hungarian accounting rules and IFRS;

- Regular executive reporting, back testing (RQR, tRBital requirement, data quality).

The most important risk management principles dorftaal control enforced at the level of the Board
of Directors, independent control separated fromrikk assumption areas and adequate measuring,
diversification, monitoring and reporting of theks.

Efficient communication of the risks and risk asgption willingness, continuous developments in the
interest of the recognition, measurement, monitpriri risks, making the risk processes of key
importance up-to-date and user friendly, enhantivar performance and the employment of well
trained workforce are the tokens of the efficiesik management function of the Company.

The Articles of Association of the company are lde for the public on the website of MKB Bank
Zrt (www.mkb.hy and in the registry of the Metropolitan CourtBafdapest as Court of Registration;
the By-laws of Supervisory Board are availabletfa public in the registry of the Metropolitan Cour
of Budapest as Court of Registration.
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Appendix 1
THE BOARDS OF MKB BANK ZRT

SUPERVISORY BOARD

CHAIRMAN:

Stephan Winkelmeier (2010)

Member of the Board of Management
Bayerische Landesbank

MEMBERS:

Gerd Hausler (2010)

Chairman of the Board of Management
Bayerische Landesbank

Marcus Kramer (2010)
Member of the Board of Management
Bayerische Landesbank

Nils Niermann (2011)
Member of the Board of Management
Bayerische Landesbank

Andreas Leonhard (2012)
Head of Risk Control
Bayerische Landesbank

Dr. Mészaros Tamas (2009)
Professor
Corvinus University, Budapest

Dr. Buzané Dr. Banhegyi Judit (2010)
Branch Director
MKB Bank Zrt

Dr. Kotulyak Eva (2007)
Legal Counsel
MKB Bank Zrt.

Lérincz Ibolya (2008)
Head of Division
MKB Bank Zrt.

Note: Beginning of membership in brackets
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CHAIRMAN:

Dr Simak Pal (2008)
Chief Executive Officer
MKB Bank Zrt.

MEMBERS:

Roland Michaud (2010)
Deputy Chief Executive
MKB Bank Zrt.

Michael Schmittlein (2011)
Deputy Chief Executive
MKB Bank Zrt.

Baldssy L&szI6 (2012)
Deputy Chief Executive
MKB Bank Zrt.

Nagy Gyula (2012)
Deputy Chief Executive
MKB Bank Zrt.

Selbk Andras (2012)

Deputy Chief Executive
MKB Bank Zrt.

Note: Beginning of membership in brackets
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MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
(International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS)

The following section of the Annual Report providasdiscussion and analysis of the Group’s
financial condition and results of operations sat@$elp the reader to assess any changes in the
financial condition and profits for the year 20Ithe forthcoming analyses are based on figures
reported in MKB Bank’s consolidated financial staents prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by th¢“ERS”) as at, and for the financial year ended,
December 31, 2012 and audited by Deloitte Kény\gahs és Tanacsado Kft. chartered accountants.
On this basis, the discussion focuses on the pedioce of the Group as an entity. The consolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance wiiSlBre presented separately.

OVERVIEW

Based on their fundamental condition and structsrlation, the CEE-SEE countries had partly
different responses to the effects of the curreisiscin 2012. Regarding the region as a whole, but
with remarkable differences of approaches and nmeasn the identical countries (Hungary, Bulgaria,
Romania), the macroprudential stability strengtderigeleverage continued on all levels, including
households, companies and sovereigns. The detimgpteend of sovereign rating experienced during
the previous years seems to be halted in 2012 arig 2013. In Bulgaria the fix currency board
regime provided certain level of stability and peonde, IFIs played key role in the Romanian crisis
management, while in Hungary the devotion to thietdbudget frames had priority. The region was
beneficiary of the strong financial investor apggetowards the region backed by the low internation
yield level (below 1% benchmark interest rates fréed, ECB and BoJ) and the global liquidity
supply. It largely supported the debt managemeaiveéver, a key challenge for 2013 for all countries
is to stimulate growth while keeping the macropnid¢ path in an environment, where banking
systems burdened by portfolio challenges and lanifofit generating capacity, and where
households and companies intend to further modere¢stment and consumption demand.

HUNGARIAN BUSINESS AREA" UNORTHODOX POLICY MIX RESULTED IN GROWTH SACRIFICE

Hungarian economy slipped into its second recegséviod within four years time in 2012. The GDP
contracted by 1.7% (yly) in real terms. The ecomoaativity was not supported by the general slow
of the main export markets in Europe. Other priacglement was that the agricultural production,
which was not able to repeat the extraordinary rdmuion of the previous year. Domestic
consumption remained depressed during the yeagstment rate floored at decades low level around
16% of GDP. Volume of industrial production decethdy 1.7%, domestic sales of industrial
products decreased by 3.9%, while export sales weveand the same as a year before (0,7%
contraction in 2012). Economic growth potential vwerificed for a better fiscal balance. After
Hungary had been under excess budget deficit pupeesince it joined the EU in 2004, it had to force
deficit below 3% of GDP in 2012 and after to avidieé suspension of access to EU cohesion funds.
The relative improvement of the budget deficit wasong the best performances within the Union.

Keeping the very strict budget frames under worsgrinternational environment and gradually
weakening growth prospects the government hadttodace several corrective measures mostly to
ensure the inflow of income side volumes and imalker extent to leash spending. During Autumn
2012 the government introduced three successiverdysneasure packages. Amongst many others it
contained extra tax on telephone calls, postpontwieihe wage increase for teachers, improvement
of tax collection effectiveness, introduction ofreviand cable tax, extra tax on public utilities
companies. More tax austerities were preparedrieedo force from 2013.
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The unconventional economic policy involved infmmgent procedures at the European Court. The
elevated macroeconomic risk and the moderate edongmowth prospects compelled Standard and
Poor’s to downgrade further the sovereign ratinthefcountry to the second notch below investment
category, however Fitch affirmed BB+ and improvedaok to stable from negative and Moody’s did
not change its Bal rating with negative outlooklye@013. Deleverage of the financial sector
continued.

Theoretically Hungary maintained the negotiatioocedure started in 2011 on a stand-by, safety loan
facility with the IMF and EU, effectively there weemore signs of the lack of willingness from the
Government side. The Government Debt Managemenh@gsucceeded to finance the budget from
domestic issues, but on a relatively high yieldthdiit the safety net of the IMF issues were reddyiv
expensive and partially squeezed out the finarioiekrmediary system from the household savings
market. Investment sentiment was positive overdégéon and after that Hungary proved its intention
to keep strict budget constraints.

Generally the business confidence decreased; howeeee were strategically important industries,
such as automotive or agriculture, or sectors, saghmicro- and small companies, where the
Government expressed its positive commitment. Asw& phenomenon, the Government began to
sign bilateral strategic partnership contracts witge multinational companies, assuring different
benefits for long term devotion to the country.

Improvement of the foreign trade balance was sotdg& B4 bn over 2011(HUF 2003bn in 2012). The
positive balance could be attributed to the runpupduction of some large automotive industry
corporate production and to the depressed doméstitand. The dynamics of export broke in 2012
and stagnated (+0.2% in EUR terms). Retail trade shirank further expectedly by around 2% in
2012.

Structural reforms were almost halted. The modifica of local authorities’ responsibilities and
funding structure divided the entities. Small regibgovernment offices were set up. Restructuring
the financial frames for university admittance geged massive protest from students and professors.
Debt of the smaller local authorities was takenr doyethe central government.

Unemployment remained almost flat. The restructuioh the durable unemployed to public social-
employment (assuring wage sort of benefit inste&daid) continued, meanwhile conventional
employment decreased. Earlier never experienced ofagorkforce started employment abroad.

Exchange rate of HUF strengthened mostly during fite¢ half of the year ending around 285
EUR/HUF in December. Interest rates were drove-dtwrthe 5 successive base rate cuts (25bps
each) to 5.75%.

Even though as a result of the central bank meassupporting growth the international financial
markets’ climate improved, Hungary is capable oéficing its debt without any external non-market
assistance and with only a slight decrease in #ie chtio, and the budget deficit is controllece th
business and the retail sectors have very littlefidence in the short-term future prospects and
fundamental conditions.

Regarding 2013 the Government already enactedraiest¢o ensure low deficit figure. Its net effect
could be around 2% of GDP (~3% gross). The mamsteere the introduction of the transaction levy
on bank cash and debit services, changing a st#he temporary extra crisis taxes to regular ones
including the bank tax, increase in social secufitygrges, connecting cash registers of shops tiathe
supervision authority, introducing electronic traftharges for trucks. State treasury issued EUR
bonds domestically with a ceiling of EUR 2 billiand also an international bond issue amounting to
USD 3.25 bn till February. The budget finance f062 seems to be solved as a large part of the needs
were covered. Negative trends in real economy,udinf the limited investment, small domestic
demand, stagnating industrial production a domegsticluction growth might be continued in 2013,
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also the change in the chair of the central banlegwr could ease monetary disciplines. But strict
budgetary policy, and the possible end of exceggdétudeficit procedure might create a firm base for
a gradual growth from 2014.

HUNGARIAN BANKING SECTOR: EXCESSIVE TAXATION HOLDS BACK ECONOMIC GROWTH

Contrary to earlier expectations, the pressureherHungarian banking sector was not eased in 2012,
in fact the negative factors increased, though fublgeonly temporarily. After 2009, recession
returned again to Hungary last year, in the foyehr of the global economic crisis. The declining
performance, the uncertainties of the populatiofiavourable labour market conditions, as well &s th
corporate sector’'s low investment appetite and rgayiapacity, created an extremely unfavourable
environment for the sector.

The continued hectic measures and communicatigheoHungarian economic policy makers during
the year made the situation worse. Contrary teetlréer agreement with the Banking Association, the
special bank tax was extended until H1 2014, amah tthe Government announced that the total
amount of the bank tax would be continued ever ai@3. The lump sum repayment at a preferential
fixed exchange rate, which ended in February 2@it2the banking sector with a HUF 370 billion
loss. In total, 169,000 loan agreements were regiaitie fixed exchange rate, in the amount of more
than HUF 984 billion. The parent banks made capitigictions into their subsidiaries to offset the
losses caused by the lump sum repayment and, etasdanks, to support their ordinary operation;
despite the recorded high loss reported by numdranks.

According to preliminary 2012 data, only 26% of tHigible individuals opted for the fixed exchange
rate scheme, the next component of the Home PrateProgramme aiming loss sharing (102,000
“overflow” accounts with total HUF 3.6 billion inokns). The repayments of clients with FX-
denominated loans applying for the fixed excharajesr before 29 March 2013 will be reduced and
become predictable until June 2017. The reguldiax® also considered extending the deadline, and
the Banking Association seems to be a construoggmtiation partner in regard to that proposal.

Following the replacement of some of the memberhefMonetary Council, under pressure from its
external members, the Council cut the 7% base liated for August, to 5.75% by the end of 2012.
Presumably, the interest rate cuts are likely tinoe in 2013, as well, unless some unexpectedteve
occurs. The transaction levy was introduced onrudey 2013 as a new tax imposed on financial
institutions. The preparations for that levy broughgnificant business policy and operational
challenges to the sector and triggers further bogseevenues. Similarly, the short-term effectshef
sets of measures which were announced in sevagéstduring the autumn are, overall, restrictive
and unfavourable for the financial sector in 2013.

All those factors cast a very negative shadow @naverall performance of the banking sector in a
regional comparison, holding it back in its cagftaid allocation, as a result of which Hungary is
dominated by the deleveraging process while, irerottountries, lending has grown or at least
stagnated since the onset of the crisis. It isrdtet in Hungary the parent banks focused primanil

the reinforcement of the fundamental requiremes#pital preservation, self-financing (which became
a priority for all actors) and loss avoidance. Fmm, the Hungarian market does not seem attractive
in the short or medium term, which is why they hitze their activities in Hungary by cutting back
their expansion plans, although they also stregbat they consider this market a strategically
important in the long run.

The Hungarian banking system remained stable mda@f capital position. The foreign parent banks
of the Hungarian banks expressed their commitmer20i12 with major capital increases made in
several leading credit institutions during the yeBre liquidity position of the sector is good, Bve

with the stagnating deposit portfolio, although thench of the government securities affected the
HUF funding resources negatively. Lending did nimkpup in 2012 either. Due to the weak, new
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credit market and non increasing deposit portfdli® international tendency of adjustments on the
asset sides dominated in the Hungarian bankingiseob, in 2012. The parent banks were forced to
optimise their capital; in the course of which,elglraging became a key issue. Due to stagnation in
lending, the return on the parent bank resourceslower, and the volume of exits from refinancing
increased; in fact, in Hungary, reaching one ofttighest figures in within the region. The situatie

also not helped by the fact that Hungary’s ratinggnot reach the investment category in any of the
credit rating agencies. However, it is a mitigatfagtor that, at the end of the year, the CDS puemi
showed some improvements. Based on the August 2@dr2s, foreign investment in Hungary have
shrunk by 37%, by EUR 13.3 billion since Septem®@t0. Some of the refinancing was converted
into capital.

According to the data available up to November fthieking sector is likely to close 2012, also, véth
loss. Based on the data, without the lump sum mapay period, the gross income of the sector is
down by 25.1%, and the interest, commission andnfieeme is down by 8.2% compared to the 2011
figures. In nominal terms banking costs stagnaited, increased by only 0.5%, which in fact is a
single-digit decrease in real terms, also congigettie one-off cost-increasing effects of the cared
cost cutting measures. The NPL figures continuedse, albeit less dynamically. Provisioning has
declined significantly since 2011. The problemsts euro zone, the lack of trust of the economic
operators, the environment, the unusual and hec@momic policy instruments generating major
effects, and the position of the parent banks (gachor reinforcing the effects of the others)
contribute to preventing the sector from fulfillinape of its basic tasks: the support of economic
growth in the event those factors do not vary sigantly.

BULGARIAN BUSINESSAREA: THE REGION’S BEST PERFORMER?

Despite the weak external environment, likely reaes of EU27 countries in 2012, Bulgaria proved
to be the best performing SEE country as far as rkegro figures are concerned. GDP growth
remained positive at 0.5% in Q3 just like in prexdcones. The export although slightly increased
shows a declining dynamics. The austerity policieglemented in a number of EU countries, have
already weakened the external demand and expanglgr The industrial production deteriorated to -
2.1% (yoy) in November 2012. There was only a $liglcovery of the investment activity (up by 1 %
y-0-y). Yet, the number of registered unemployedéased to 11.4% in 2012, which is slightly higher
than the 10.4% in 2011. Thus, the GDP growth igedirimainly by domestic demand and household
expenditures in particular (+3% yoy increase ofdabwld consumption in Q3). The annual inflation
rose to 4.2% in 2012, mainly due to higher enenggeg. The recovery of foreign investment activity
continued in 2012, as for the first ten monthscitcaunted for EUR 1.34 billion, almost 24% higher
than a year earlier, but still below the pre-crilggels. Current account balance went back into
negative territory, mainly due to higher importegistering a slight deficit of 0.1% of GDP in
October.

2012 budget deficit will be significantly lower thanitially forecasted, according to preliminary
official data it will be around 0.5% of GDP. This mainly due to higher budget revenues and strict
control of public expenses. Due to prudent and ister® monetary and fiscal policy, the European
Commission closed the Excessive Deficit Procedugeinst Bulgaria early 2012. During 2012
Bulgaria successfully issued Eurobonds what legscbuntry not to plan further borrowing on the
international market in the short-term. At the esfdthe year the Ministry of Finance registered
historical low long-term vyield (3.45% for 10.5-yegovernment securities compared to 5.35% in
January 2012). Eurobonds were issued in the anwiUEt/R 950 million that cause an increase in the
amount of gross external debt to EUR 36.7 billi®2,8% of GDP in October, but deleveraging in the
private sector continued. The country’s foreignrency reserves reached historical height in 2012
(EUR 15.6 billion), providing a good coverage fbe tstability of the currency board.

Moody's, S&P’s and Fitch all confirmed the invesitinegrade rating (Baa2, BBB and BBB-,
respectively) with stable outlook, emphasizing streng fiscal policies, low level of public debtdan
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positive growth prospects of the Bulgarian econoamynid-term. Although in 2012 Bulgaria met all
Schengen criteria, it still has to face the probthat the Netherlands will not open its labor maifke
Bulgarians. Application for Eurozone entry despiteeting all criteria is not on agenda in Bulgaria,
currently.

As far as the outlook for 2013 is concerned, 201@lget draft was passed by the Bulgarian
Parliament, that is to keep budget deficit at 1.8045DP with an expected 1.2% GDP growth for

2013. The government intends to continue its setidnomic policy measures, with a plan to impose
tax on interest earned on households’ term depasitie keeping personal and corporate income tax
flat at 10% in 2013, as well. However, the oveemlbnomic policy mix could be changed or at least
finetuned in 2013, since Bulgaria’s Prime MinisBoiko Borisov and his government resigned in

February 2013 due to nationwide protest againgt klgctricity prices and austerity measures which
later turned into anti-government demonstration.

24 commercial banks and seven branches of fore@ks operated in Bulgaria in 2012. As of
November 2012 their total assets accounted for B&Million, with an annual growth of 8.7% (3.9%

in November 2011). Still the aftermath of the eawiw crisis and the slow economic recovery
continued to weigh on the banking system’s grovihof November 2012, total loans in the banking
system reached BGN 56.5 billion, registering anuahnncrease of 4.3%. At the same time, total
deposits amounted to BGN 56.6 bn, marking an anmsglof 10.2%. The fastest growing segment in
lending is corporate loans (+7.3% yoy), while inisgs — deposits of individuals (+13.3% yoy). The
challenging operating environment still resultshie growth of non-performing loans in the Bulgarian
banking system. There are promising signs, howdwgemeaching soon the turning point where their
volume will begin to shrink. The major reason fbistis that on a monthly basis their growth is
decelerating or even negative.

In 2012 the Bulgarian banking system remained tabl¢, net income was BGN 566.8 m, registering
an annual decrease of 3.3%. During each month @2,2the impairments for provisions have
registered a constant decrease on a yearly basendd2012, the volume of impairments amounted to
BGN 1.2 billion. According to a report the Bulgarieorporate banks witnessed the steepest decline in
parent funding in the CEE region. The ROA of thekiag sector was 0.71% in 2012. Bulgarian
banking system continues to maintain a high levedapital adequacy of 16.7% and stable liquidity
ratio of 26%.

ROMANIAN BUSINESSAREA: RECOVERY WITH EXTERNAL SUPPORT

Backed by IMF support, followed a remarkable GDBwgh in 2011 (+2.5%) Romanian economy
expectedly grew again in 2012 but at a signifigasibwer pace (0.2%- 0.5%). Parallel with the
stagnation in the industrial output the constructiadustry grew by only 0.2% last year. The
unemployment rate reached 7.1% at end of Septeamtukexpectedly will reach the same level at the
end of the year. The domestic demand was on tharri2012, reaching a 2.9% growth. The budget
deficit for 2012 exceed somewhat IMF’s target df92.of GDP and reached 2.5%. Current account
deficit for the period January-November recorde@ugount of EUR 4.25 bn, which represents around
3.19% of GDP only. FDI inflow during the year wagak — in the January-September period was
only 0.8% of GDP covering 30.2% of the current actodeficit. The annual inflation showed a
soaring level compared to 2011, and reached 4.95%During 2012 NBR cut 3 times monetary
policy rate from 6% to 5.25%.

The rating agencies did not change their sovereagings of the long-term foreign currency debt
during the year so that Romania currently has imvest-grade credit ratings by two rating agencies.
(Fitch: BBB- (stable); Moody’s: Baa3 (negative); B&B+ (1 notch below investment grade)).

In 2012 January-February the Ministry of Financiéx USD denominated bonds on the US market
amounted to USD 2.250 bn. In October it was folldvay another issue on the international market
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where were sold EUR 1.5 bn with maturity of 7 ye&80 basis points over swaps. 5% of issued
bonds/T-bills are held by non-residents only, vétlot of room to raise their shares compared teroth
East European markets. After the dominant winnihghe Social-Liberal Union in the Romanian
legislative elections on 9th December, PM VictonBomost likely continues the reforms agreed with
the IMF. Improving the absorption of EU funds isnajor challenge for Romania in 2013 which if
successful would be favorable to the developme@DP (IMF forecast for 2013: 1.6%).

40 commercial banks operated in Romania last yida.longer lasting global financial and economic
crisis hit the Romanian banking sector severely a12012 (cumulative result for January-September
was in the red with RON 110 million loss). Resulfsthe banking system in 2012 were negatively
influenced by the decrease of operating profitsv€lio net interest income as a result of marked
adjustments in lending rates amid a modest righenvolume of loans). The share of fixed-income
government securities in total assets increas&Di? securing a comfortable liquidity position and
lower credit risk capital requirements. In termgradturity, short-term loans increased faster coegbar
to long-term ones. During 2012 there was a fiemmapmetition for taking short-term deposits. Also, in
2012 the crowding out effect was significant duéatge amount borrowed by the Minister of Finance
and higher yields paid in order to finance budgeficit. Furthermore, paying high deposit rates
generated pressures on keeping lending rates orbosiness high or lowering them at a relatively
slower pace, as interest rate margins are influikigethe constrained profitability of the banking
sector and the need to set up adequate provisosnsoh-performing loans, which still followed an
upward trend. The deteriorating portfolios of tlamks are reflected by the fact that in Decembef201
the credit risk ratio (loss and doubtful) reach@®2o (2011: 23.3%).

The loan to deposit ratio increased to 120.1% leyethd of 2012 from 116.7% in 2011. The reasons
behind are that total deposit volume decreased 3% 4nd gross credit volume increased by 3.3% in
nominal terms in 2012 (based on November 2012 ddath)s increase is due mostly to RON
depreciations. In 2012 the cost efficiency ratidhef sector was 58.1% (2011: 67.8%). The Romanian
banking system is stable and at the end of 201Zdbéal adequacy ratio reached 14.6%. Starting
with January 2012 Romanian banks implemented IR&R8umting principles and new IFRS provision
methodology.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

In 2012, MKB Group had to cope with the negativepats of the Europe wide macroeconomic
environment and the strong focus on every elemerislo management framework was characteristic
for its operation. The Group’s total operating im=o (net interest income plus non-interest income),
decreased significantly by 27.97% to HUF 65,757ioml(2011: HUF 91,298 million). Although net
interest income’s share showed an increase compargide previous year (2012: 96.38%, 2011:
83.58%) it dropped in nominal terms. The nominatrdase mainly driven by the shrinking interest
income earned on loans and advances to customefrsthen higher interest expenses paid on
customers’ deposits. The increase of Net interegime’s share in gross operating profit has caused
by the fall of other operating income and the llosm discontinued operations.

As per the end of 2012, Nextebank (formerly Romeat&ank) and Romexterra Leasing, two of the
Romanian subsidiaries of MKB Bank, were disclosgedliacontinued operation (based on IFRS 5) in
the Financial Statements of MKB Group. This disalesreflects the intention of MKB Bank to sell
two of its Romanian subsidiaries during 2013. Frormnagement point of view the total result of
Nextebank and Romexterra Leasing are shown as R#&euh discontinued operations, part of
operating income. Compared to the loss of HUF 5/®@lion last year, the result amounted to HUF
7,857 million loss in 2012. The operating lossedath entities increased due to the lower level of
business activity.
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The falling net interest and commission incomehs Group are in line with the shrinking lending
business, and was also the result of the loweritcvetime deriving partly from the early repayment
mortgage loans denominated in foreign currencies.

Other operating income - including banking tax ewhd a significant decrease from HUF 6,567

million gain in 2011 to HUF 3,299 million loss thygar. The burden caused by banking tax was
higher by HUF 11,014 million in 2012, since finaadinstitutions were allowed to reduce the earlier
defined bank levies by 30% of the loss recognizedtlte early repayment of foreign currency

mortgage loans in 2011.

In 2012, HUF 6,718 million Restructuring expensesdisclosed, in connection with the restructuring
process of the Group’s business activity. During tyear MKB Bank carried out collective
redundancies, and closed 8 of the less profitataledies in Hungary.

The Group realized a negative profit before taxafimm continuing operations with HUF 81,317
million for 2012, remarkably below the loss of HUB3,642 million in 2011. While gross operating
income reflected a significant decrease, impairsiand provisions for losses are substantially below
the previous year’s level. As a result of the aagting activity of the Group operating expenses —
taking into consideration restructuring expensewels — reflected a remarkable, HUF 7,307 million
decrease compared to 2011. The loss from equitgatidiated participations decreased by HUF 548
million: the losses of MKB Altalanos Biztositd6 Zrand MKB Eletbiztosité Zrt. decreased, while
MKB Euroleasing Autopark OOD —the Bulgarian asstziaf the Group - became profitable in
2012.The profit before tax in MKB’s stand-alonedittial statements increased compared to the
previous year level (2012: HUF 87,488 million 108611: HUF 103,537 million loss). This could
counterbalance the decreasing profitability of Bgarian Market and the Hungarian Leasing
Market, where the subsidiaries of the Group beclmasmaking in 2012. Previous year the losses
recognized on the fixed repayment of foreign curyemortgage loans (HUF 15,357 million realized,
HUF 21,894 million accounted for as impairment Jobeavily influenced the Group’s financial
performance. This reflected also on net provisibarge, which decreased from 6.29% to 5.29%
during the reporting period. Due to the losses taefax for 2012, the pre-tax return on averagetgqui
ratio (ROAE) and the pre-tax return on averagetasatio (ROAA) are still negative.

Taxes on income amounted to HUF 1,505 million g&ioll: HUF 11,777 million expense), which
consisted of HUF 1,958 million net deferred taxome and HUF 453 million current tax expense.
The deferred tax income included HUF 1,636 milligain, which was recognized at MKB Bank
mainly due to the increase of Deferred Tax Assetlline with the improving profitability expectatis

of the Bank. This Deferred Tax Asset was nettedh Wie Deferred Tax Liability in the Statement of
Financial Positions, according to the new nettiaguirements of Bayerische Landesbank applied by
the end of 2012.

As a consequence of negative profit after taxatitinbutable to the shareholders of HUF 86,771
million for 2012, the Board of Directors proposesdividend to be paid.
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Key Figures 2012

(IFRS)
(HUF million)
MKB Bulgarian Romanian Hungarian Leasing  Auxiliaries** MKB
Bank Market ***** Market*** Market* Group
Total Assets 2325673 241274 91 844 61 500 79412 2579173
Share Capital 108 936 18 239 16 581 2093 73872 108 936
Reserves 24 497 8840 (12 605) 4761 (8762) 21072
Operating Income 61 142 11 529 (8528) 3192 11 846 65 757
Net interest income 53 145 7 666 (397) 3543 97 63 376
Net commission income 10 217 2989 (1) (36) 407 13537
Other 10994 875 (274) 54 11376 10 315
Result from discontinued operations**** - - (7 857) - - (7 857)
Banking Tax (13 214) - - (367) (33) (13 615)
Operating Expenses (47 202) (6419) (661) (1568) (16 380) (60114)
Restructuring expenses (4 920) - - - (1819) (6 718)
Impairment and provision for losses (72 938) (8 700) (3010) (2 846) (74) (87 650)
Goodwillimpairment - - - - - -
Impairment of investments (23 569) - - - (6) (1052)
Share of jointly controlled and associated compsinie
§ . - (449)
profit / (loss) before taxation - - - -
Profit Before Taxation from continuing operations 7 (BY) (3589) (4 342) 1222) (6 432) (81317)
Profit After Taxation from continuing operations (B65) (3237) (4 342) 1127) (6 297) (79 812)
Profit After Taxation attributable to the Shareheisl (86 565) (3237) (12 199) (1127) (6297) (86 771)
Pre-tax Return on Average Equity (ROAE) -58,24% %5 -160,04% -15,25% -10,11% -42,65%
Earmnings per Average Outstanding Share (EPS) -1%7,09 -17,17% -709,72% -53,86% -9,76% -177,51%
Pre-tax Return on Average Assets (ROAA) -3,49% -2,75% -20,36% -1,74% -9,39% -3,21%
Cost-to-income ratio 77,20% 55,67% -98,35% 49,11% 138,27% 91,42%
Capital adequacy ratio 9,04% 12,37% 18,12% n.a n.a 8,89%

* Autéhitel, Autélizing

*MKB Uzemeltetési, Euro-Immat Uzemeltetési, Befetdsi Alapkezél,Resideal, Exer-Immo, Exter-Bérlet, Exercom

*** Nextebank, Romexterra Leasing, CRM

****However the Management considered in 2012 Nezek and Romexterra Leasing as an integral pateobperation, due to the decision of the Managéimed in
accordance with IFRS the Result from discontinupdration is not included in Profit Before Taxation

***xx MKB Unionbank AD
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Key Figures 2011

(IFRS)
(HUF million)
MKB Bulgarian Romanian Hungarian Leasing Auxiliaries** MKB
Bank Market ***** Market*** Market* Group
Total Assets 2694 824 272 104 107 648 78 940 86 515 2943961
Share Capital 20733 19 479 13471 2093 73 868 20733
Reserves 58 132 12 863 (12 795) 6117 (7 509) 56 762
Operating Income 87274 11112 (7 415) 4 056 12816 91 298
Net interest income 66 774 7634 (577) 4331 (17) 76 304
Net commission income 10716 2913 (1) (38) 465 14 034
Other 11905 565 (1231) 210 12 401 9168
Result from discontinued operations**** - - (5607) - - (5607)
Banking Tax (2121) - - (446) (33) (2601)
Operating Expenses (60 288) (6 268) (1038) (1 435) (17 449) (74 138)
Impairment and provision for losses (80 490) (4 068) (4 063) (2314) (3969) (94 719)
Goodwill impairment (26 564) - - - (30692)
Impairment of investments (23 469) 47) (354) (1667)
Share of jointly controlled and associated compsinie
§ 5 - (997)
profit / (loss) before taxation - - -
Profit Before Taxation from continuing operations 03B37) 729 (6 909) 307 (8 956) (103 642)
Profit After Taxation from continuing operations 21740) 650 (9 045) 169 (9176) (115 419)
Profit After Taxation attributable to the Shareherkl (112 740) 650 (14 652) 169 (9 176) (120 792)
Pre-tax Return on Average Equity (ROAE) -40,62% 2,73% -330,36% 3,65% -11,80% -41,86%
Earnings per Average Outstanding Share (EPS) -943,78 4,21% -1759,92% 8,07% -12,44% -582,61%
Pre-tax Return on Average Assets (ROAA) -3,81% 0,51% 20,25% 0,36% -10,38% -3,68%
Cost-to-income ratio 69,08% 56,41% -57,42% 35,37% 136,14% 81,20%
Capital adequacy ratio****** 9,17% 13,34% 16,32% na na 9,09%

* Autéhitel, Autélizing
**MKB Uzemeltetési, Euro-lmmat Uzemeltetési, Befeldsi Alapkezél,Resideal, Exer-Immo, Exter-Bérlet, Extercom
*** Nextebank, Romexterra Leasing, CRM

****However the Management considered in 2011 Nexek and Romexterra Leasing as an integral paheobperation, due to the decision of the Managéwmed in
accordance with IFRS the Result from discontinuperation is not included in Profit Before Taxation

*rxkk MKB Unionbank AD

**xx6% including capital increase in MKB Bank (seBlote 5)

The loss before tax d/IKB Bank amounted to HUF 87,488 million in 2012, mainly digethe
impairments and provisions for losses, the bankang and the impairment losses accounted for
subsidiaries of the Bank. These facts were mawmifest the pre-tax return on average equity, that
remained negative in 2012 and CIR which increaseth f69.08% in 2011 to 77.2% in 2012: the
achievements of the cost cutting measurements ganeterbalanced by the remarkable shrinkage in
operating income.

The pre-tax ROAE oBulgarian Market decreased significantly amounted to -11.58% coethéo
2.73% of the previous year-end. During the business, MKB Bank’'s ownership in Unionbank
increased from 94% to 97%. (Due to exercise of ERRDon)

There was a moderate increase (5.51%) of pre-poovitet operating profit amounting to HUF 5,111
million (2011: HUF 4,844 million). Comparing to pieus year, the ROAA deteriorated from 0.51 %
to -2.75% which reflected the higher impairmensksand conservative business activities that were
consistent with the increased risk from the ecoigoenisis. Impairment losses at Unionbank rose by
HUF 4.6 billion and reached the amount HUF 8.7idnllat the end of 2012. On one hand additional
(HUF 1,8 billion) impairment allocation was neceyseoncerning individual assessment, on the other

120/129



MKB Bank Zrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Consolidated Financial Statements as at Decemh&03P

hand Unionbank realised additional portfolio impaént by HUF 2 billion. As a result of above
mentioned fact the profit before tax remarkablerdased from HUF 0.7 billion to HUF -3.6 billion.

Earnings per average outstanding share (EPS) rédum® 4.21% to -17.17%. Cost to income ratio
was better than at group level (91.42%) and wabith)i improved to 55.67% from the 56.4% in 2011.

The composition oRomanian Market changed in 2012 as MKB Bank is going to sell th&lto
participation of MKB Romexterra Leasing beside Ndvenk. In accordance with IFRS 5, the
Romanian company’s figures are reclassified toatisnued operations in the consolidated financial
statements. During the business year, MKB Bank’sarghip in Romexterra Leasing also increased
from 94.78% to 97.57% and in Nextebank grown fréh¥2% to 94.98%.

Due to the above mentioned fact Corporate Recovagagement S.R.L is the only subsidiary of
MKB remained on Romanian Market. Main activitiestbé company are claim management and
factoring.

At the end of the reporting year, ROAA deteriorated20.36% from -20.25% and ROAE increased
to -160.04% (2011: -330.36%), though still remainedhe negative range. The pre-provision net
operating profit shows decrease from HUF -8.4dmllto HUF -9.2 billion, the figure is still negagiv
due to operating expenses exceeded the operatomen

TheHungarian Leasing Market's ROAE deteriorated and amounted to -15.25% comptar8d65%

of previous year-end. The ROAA slightly declined-1074% in 2012, due to the profit before tax
decreased from HUF 0.3 billion to HUF -1.2 billias a result of the ongoing crisis on the leasing
market. The CIR further increased to 49.11% in 20&gh 35.37% in the previous year, as the fall of
operating income exceeded the increase of operaipgnses. This was mainly the result of shrinking
business activities in the car finance markets.

Net interest income

Net interest income, the most important componédmtewenue, amounted to HUF 63,376 million,
16.94% short of HUF 76,304 million in 2011. Excewithe shrinkage in the previous year, the
average interest-earning assets decreased alsgetirigby HUF 277 billion), driven by the reduction

of average loans and advances (down by HUF 25%mll From one hand, the level of risk
provisioning increased, while also the gross voluhans and advances decreased compared to the
previous year.

The decline was caused partially by the intentiatedrease of the exposure in project and syndicate
project loans, however, in retail segment the firgbayment of mortgage loans denominated in
foreign currencies contributed significantly to thecrease in the volume as well. Furthermore dnop i
the volume of loan portfolio was caused by thengftieening of Hungarian domestic currency against
EUR and CHF as foreign currency loans representifgignt portion of the total portfolio.
Simultaneously, the tendency of increasing net mangs continued with an increase from 3.07% as
of 2011 to 3.22%

Following the tendency of the previous year, therage interest-bearing liabilities decreased by HUF
230 billion. The reduction was driven by the averaglume of customer accounts and deposits (by
HUF 225 billion). As far as the closing volumes smlered, the Bank deposits decreased mainly due
to the early and planned repayments of BLB refinamby HUF 285 billion.

At the same time Subordinated debts decrease wsgscaunsed by the strengthening of Hungarian
Forint as subordinated debts of MKB Bank are demateid solely in EUR and CHF. The Current and
deposit accounts of retail clients decreased coedptr the previous year’s level by 5.09% primarily
in case of micro enterprises and private clientxpGrate clients also contributed to the shrinking
deposit of funds with 3.9% decrease.
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Average interest asset/liabilities by main operating segments

million HUF
MKB Bank MKB Unionbank MKB Group
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Average Loans and advances 1847 454 2119521 179 127 173138 1774 663 2033517
Average securities 551 648 456 252 11278 7121 237514 255 296
Average interest-earning assets 2399 101 2575772 190 405 180 258 2012177 2288812
Average interest rate % 5,83 5,80 7,75 8,39 7,06 6,49
Average customer and deposit accounts 1954 990 2153843 207 595 210991 2129709 2354 878
Average issued securities 278 869 279 462 4367 1529 160 675 165 096
Average interest-bearing liabilities 2233859 2 433 305 211 962 212 520 2290 384 2519974
Average interest rate % 3,90 3,49 3,37 3,66 3,84 3,42
Difference betwen average rates % 1,93 2,31 4,38 4,73 3,22 3,07

In 2012,MKB Bank reported HUF 53,145 million net interest income, which lagdehind the level

in previous year (2011: HUF 66,774 million), followg mainly the shrinking business volume and
increasing provision level. As a result of thistfdaterest income related to Loans and advances to
banks/customers decreased by HUF 6,402 million,lewhiterest expense on Customer/Banking
deposits increased by 1.13%, (HUF 807 million).

As in 2011 compared to the previous years, in 20&2average volume of interest-bearing assets
decreased from HUF 2,576 billion in 2011 by 6.8@4tJF 2,399.7 billion. The significant reduction
was mainly driven by interest bearing assets dubecearly repayments of foreign currency loans at
the end of prior year and in the first two monttcofrent year.

Following the tendency of the previous year, therage interest-bearing liabilities decreased by HUF
199 billion. The reduction was driven by early ngpa@nts resulting a fall in the average volume of
customer accounts and deposits (by HUF 199 billidis) far as the closing volumes considered the
average interest bearing assets and liabilities/staohigher relative decrease than observing agsrag
due to fluctuations of the balances.

In addition to that, early repayments not merely lasubstantial impact on MKB Bank’s foreign
currency mortgage loan portfolio; it has also addcdeposits of the clients with disposing a higher
level of savings than the market average to finaacl/ repayments.

In 2012, the average portfolio ofterest-bearing assets of Unionbanlexpanded from HUF 180.3
billion in 2011 by 5.63 % to HUF 190.4 billion. Thecrease of the average portfolio was resulted
from the growth in private segment (13.65%). Averdgans grew by HUF 5.9 billion. The rise related
to private individuals was mainly denominated inHEdnd BGN. Meanwhile, in corporate segment
(SME and Micro segment) there was a reduction @Y Bulgarian local currency. At the same
time, average portfolio of securities rose by 5849 amounted to HUF 11.3 billion.

Compared to the growth in previous year (1.30%)a¥erage portfolio of interest-bearing liabilities
remained almost at the same level and amountedJ® 2.1.9 billion. In 2012, the average deposit
portfolio slightly decreased from HUF 210.9 billigby 1.61%) to HUF 207.6 billion. Compared to
previous year, the average volume of issued sé&siiitcreased and reached HUF 4.4 billion in 2012
(2011: HUF 1.5 billion). The moderate businessvéots and harsh competition on deposit markets
resulted in an increase of net interest margin #on3% to 4.38%.

Romanian Market’s net interest expense reduced from HUF 0.6 billion to HUF 0.Hidsi during
2012 due to the decrease of interest expensespmsitkefrom other banks by 31.48% at Corporate
Recovery Management in 2012.

Hungarian Leasing Market's net interest incomefurther decreased by 18.20% to HUF 3.5 billion
compared to previous year because of the droptefest income from lending and money market

122/129



MKB Bank Zrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Consolidated Financial Statements as at Decemh&03P

business by 24.47% to HUF 3.4 billion at MKB Eussing Autéhitel Zrt (2011: HUF 4.5 billion) as
the car leasing market is stagnated in Hungary.

Non-interest income

For 2012, the total non-interest income droppedHtd- 2,381 million (2011: HUF 14,994 million
gain), representing 3.62% of gross operating incorhe significant decrease of such income was the
net result of different factors as detailed below.

Total net commission and fee income of HUF 13,53lfiam reduced slightly by 3.54% from HUF
14,034 million in 2011. The decrease was partidilyen by Other commission and fee, the expenses
paid to the Hungarian Deposit Insurance Fund irsg@dy HUF 206 million. In line with that net
income from payment transactions and securitiegnbsises dropped due to the moderate business
activity, while net credit related fees showedmaaekable increase of HUF 1,026 million. This growth
in net credit related fees was caused by the shgmlof the fees paid to Bayern LB concerning to a
special construction of guarantee provided by theeqmt company (2012: HUF 1,959 million, 2011:
HUF 3,154 million).

Other operating income with HUF 3,299 million lofes 2012 was significantly below the total
amount of HUF 6,567 million net gain for 2011. Thimmarkable decline has been resulted by
different effects. On the one hand Expenses rglatirbank levies amounted to HUF 13,615 million in
2012 compared to the amount of HUF 2,601 millionMiKB Group level last year. This year the
banking tax was computed based on the adjusteddmkheet total for 2009 again, while in 2011 the
banks were allowed to reduce the earlier definetk bavies by 30% of the total loss suffered by the
fixed repayment of foreign currency loans. At tteme time, the result earned on securities and
trading derivative transactions showed a robusteBse compared to 2011, mainly caused by the
positive fair value changes following the favourlpharket environment. Major decrease is due to
other income amounted to HUF 6,382 million lossagiie to the gain last year. Last year’s positive
result included a one-off gain with HUF 7,569 naitli which was realized on the conversion of 120
million subordinated euro bonds to subordinated ld@nominated in Swiss franc.

Result from discontinued operations reflects thecldsure of Nextebank and Romexterra Leasing.
Nextebank is disclosed as discontinued operatidhérFinancial Statements of MKB Group starting
from previous year-end and from 2012 Romexterrasingpis also disclosed in accordance with
IFRS5, because the management of MKB Bank is cotadhib sell these Romanian subsidiaries. As a
result of the decision, the total result of thessBties was reclassified, and is disclosed amonguRRe
from discontinued operations as part of non-intereome. Compared to the prior year loss of HUF
5,607 million, the result amounted to HUF 7,857lionl loss in 2012. The losses of both companies
increased compared to previous year end due tonaedeusiness activity.

Within MKB'’s non-interest income, HUF 10,217 million net fee and commission income2012
remained almost at previous year’s level, which amted to HUF 10,716 million. Other operating
income significantly decreased on the one handtduke higher burden of banking tax (2012: HUF
13,214 million, 2011: HUF 2,121 million) and on théher hand due to the fall of other income as
detailed above in Group level analysis.

Unionbank’s net commission and fee incom&as slightly up by 2.60% to HUF 2,989 million in
2012. The significant increase was eventuated duextension of payment services (HUF 198.9
million) and other commission income (HUF 10.3 ioil). Meanwhile net income from lending
business was dropped by 7.68% to HUF 1.560 millid®.a consequence, the total amount of net
commission and fee incomes have reached HUF 10mliGn at the end of year 2012.

Romanian Market’s net commission and fee incomeemained the previous year’s level.
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Impairments and provisions

Impairments and provisions for losses reflect aamable decrease compared to the previous year.
However this reduction needs to be analysed ddtailghlighting one-off effects. In 2011, the Group
recognized HUF 37,251 million impairment lossesnoortgage loans denominated in CHF and EUR
due to the early repayments. In addition HUF 30,68ion impairment loss was recognized on
goodwill, since the total goodwill of the Group wamspaired by the end of previous year. It is
expressing that the Group continued to follow adpri approach in respect of credit risk portfolio
management, which caused further increase of poovikis year.

Total provision for losses in the year 2012 was HTE650 million, which has derived from Loans
and advances. Concerning Loans and advances thepGmcognized HUF 76,874 million
impairments and realized HUF 9,503 million directteoff.

The total credit risk provisions amounted to HUM 330 million in the statement of financial
position (2011: HUF 256,786 million). The increasas driven by MKB Bank, where impairment
losses on loans and advances increased by HUF @idn compared to prior year. The growth
derived from Corporate segment, following the teryeof the previous periods. It was concentrated
in Real estate finance due to the continuing datation of domestic real estate market.

Restructuring cost

During 2012 restructuring expenses have been eshlit MKB Bank, MKB Uzemeltetési Kft and
Euro-Immat Kft. At MKB HUF 4,920.4 million expenseas recognised concerning restructuring. The
main element of the figure was personnel relatgobese (in the amount of HUF 3,191.3 million) due
to the collective redundancy and on the other hewst of closing of 8 MKB branches. The total
restructuring cost is HUF 1,795 million at Uzem&dt Kft and HUF 24.5 million at Euro-Immat Kit.

Operating costs

In the adverse market environment, cost discipfegr@ained a strong priority in 2012. Disclose of

restructuring expense separately in 2012 had ntigoreasing effect on operating cost. The level of
Operating expenses — even taking into accountuasting costs as well - declined significantly by

9.86% to HUF 66,832 million for the current yea®12: HUF 74,138 million).

Occupancy costs reduced by 28.08% to HUF 18,81liomibn MKB Group level due to lower
amount of amortisation of intangible assets by HLFL6 million. In 2011 impairment losses were
higher because of the revaluation of softwaregjltieg HUF 8,319 million additional impairment
losses. At the end of 2012 the Group revaluated@e- the core system of the Bank — recognizing
HUF 3,230 million additional impairment loss at Bummat Kft.

General and administrative costs reduced by 26.8&%pared to 2011. The decrease derived from IT
cost, Legal and advisory services and other adirétiige expenses. In 2012 at MKB lower amount of
IT cost was realized by HUF 155.6 million. Legabaadvisory cost decreased by HUF 700.2 million
mainly because of less (by HUF 920.7 million) Pcbjexpert fees at the Bank. Other administrative
expenses also decreased by HUF 2,046 million. Tieelodure of certain taxes (not on income)
changed in 2012, as they were reclassified fromeOdldministrative expenses into Other expenses —
part of Operating income - according to the Groogoanting Manual (2011: HUF 2.7 billion).

Simultaneously, marketing and public relation cad¢sreased by 30% in this year. Change was

derived from less marketing cost (by HUF 561.4 iol) and donation to foundations (by HUF 140.6
million).
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The Group Cost to Income ratio (CIR) (91.42%) digantly deteriorated compared to 2011
(81.20%), which was caused by MKB’s less effici€iR. Besides this fact Romanian Market had
negative operating income. High CIR ratio of HungarLeasing Market caused further damage in
Group CIR.

MKB Bank’s operating costs amounted to HUF 47,202 milliorhvét21.7% decrease compared to
HUF 60,288 million total costs as of 2011. Decredsgived from General and administration
expenses and occupancy cost due to the strictongil and restructuring measurements.

During 2012, regular wages and salaries declinedHb) 1,869 million due to the collective
redundancy and closed branches (Number of emplage2312: 2.056, in 2011: 2.203). Remarkable
decrease is visible regarding Salaries (HUF 906ian)l and food allowances (HUF 195 million).
Termination expenses related to the restructuriageweclassified into Restructuring expeng#idF
2.5 billion) in 2012 causing further decrease ieraping cost.

The major shrink (34.9%) eventuated concerning paoay cost (by HUF 5,927 million), mainly due

to depreciation and amortization. Intangible assetmlar amortisation decreased by HUF 1,051
million and impairment loss reduced by HUF 4,418lioni as of the above mentioned additional

impairment losses accounted for previous yeatr.

Concerning stand-alone figure, less Other admatisin expenses have been recognized at MKB (by
HUF 4,727.9 million). There were remarkable deceeiasLegal and advisory services (by 46.45%)
concerning lower amount of project expert fees (HI8F.9 million). IT costs due to less IT operating
and expert fees reduced by 8.04% to HUF 7,232 .Bli¢ty and advertising also reduced because of
fewer sponsors and PR expenses the cost declin®tl. B§% to HUF 1,325.3 million.

The Bank’s cost to income ratio increased to 77.2@%mpared to 69.08% in 2011, which was
primarily driven by the shrinking operating inconfreduced by HUF 26,132 million) despite the
achievements of the cost cutting measurements gbpgr expenses decreased by HUF 13,086
million).

General and administrative cost of Unionbankslightly increased (by HUF 150.7 million) from
HUF 6,267.9 million to HUF 6,418.6 million as péretend of 2012. Salaries and wages were up by
1.98% to HUF 2,471 million in line with the rose miimber of employees from 700 to 713 compared
to 2011. The other administrative expenses incteagel.21% to HUF 3,045.7 million due to the
higher level of IT costs by 14.43% (HUF 360.2 roitl). Amortisation and depreciation costs rose by
11.48% to 525.9 million. Regular depreciation ofe@giional and office equipment grown by HUF
33.59% to HUF 254.7 million. Due to the above mamtid circumstances the CIR changed from
56.41% to 55.67% at the end of 2012.

General and administrative cost of Romanian Markets decreasedy 36.36% from HUF 1,038
million to HUF 661 million in 2012 due to the shagaluce of personnel expenses by 68.71% to HUF
196.1 billion at Corporate Recovery Managementiria with the fall the number of employees has
shrunk from 17 to 12 compared to 2011. Other adstrative expenses rose by 15.24% to HUF 450.3
million at CRM. The increase derived from Legal auvisory services (by HUF 303.3 million) while
Communication and other selling costs robustly e@sed from HUF 200.4 million to HUF 9.2
million.

General and administrative cost of Hungarian Leasig Market's increased by 9.27% to HUF
1,568 million compared to 2011. The main changesgeized at MKB Euroleasing Autolizing Zrt.
where other administrative expenses grew by HUB G8llion and expenses from legal and advisory
services by HUF 25.6 million. The cost to incomiiordeteriorated from 35.37% to 49.11% at the end
of reporting year.
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FINANCIAL POSITION MANAGEMENT

In 2012, the Group’s total assets decreased by¥%2.® HUF 2,579 billion compared to previous
year’s level of HUF 2,944 billion. At the end of ZDnot only the assets of Nextebank, but also the
assets of Romexterra Leasing are disclosed in danoe with IFRS5 on one line: Assets from
discontinued operations as held for sale, follovihng Management's intention to sell these companies
during 2013.

The decrease of total assets was the net restifffefent factors as detailed below:

Cash reserve showed a remarkable growth of 28.&64%amounted to HUF 413,790 million in 2012
mainly due to the increased volume of short termdsdassued by the National Bank of Hungary held
at MKB Bank. Simultaneously Investments in secesitheld for AFS purposes decreased by 20.66%
driven by the volume of government bonds, whilelitrg securities also became lower by 62.98% by
the end of 2012. These changes reflect the liqumbticy of MKB Bank, which resulted change from
Hungarian government bonds to bonds of NBH in otdgirovide higher liquidity.

Loans and advances to banks fell by 4.39% to HUB&L million because of the deposits held at
NBH. Simultaneously Loans and advances to custoberame lower by 16.86%, which was partially
caused by the decreased credit volume as a rekuhieofixed repayments of foreign currency

mortgage loans. Other reason of the change igt&egthening of the Hungarian Forint, as major part
of the exposures is denominated in foreign curesnci

Other assets dropped by 51% by the end of 2012aamslinted to HUF 16,076 million, mainly
because there was tax claim disclosed in conneutitimthe relief (30%) of banking tax due to the
losses recognized on the fixed repayments of mgettzans.

Intangible assets reduced also significantly coegao the previous year, mostly caused by the
impairment losses recognized on softwares dueveduation to their market value.

Deferred Tax Assets decreased by HUF 3,645 milkompared to 2011, while Deferred Tax

Liabilities reduced by HUF 5,604 million. This shking was caused by the new offsetting method
introduced by Bayern LB at the end of 2012, whildbveed netting of deferred taxes to a wider extent,
decreasing the total assets of the Group.

Beyond the impacts of annual business activityengithening of HUF opposed to other foreign
currencies (most importantly EUR and CHF) have alected liabilities resulting in a lower overall
amount in 2012 (i.e. HUF 2,444 billion) comparectevious year.

Deposits from Banks and Liabilities to Banks drapfy 31.01% from HUF 977 billion in 2011 to
HUF 674 billion in 2012 mainly due to the early apthnned repayments of financial deposits
provided to MKB by Bayerische Landesbank.

The most significant element of liabilities, Defgedrom clients and the value of current accounts a
MKB, have also reduced by 5.09% to the level of HJB89 billion to 2012 from which corporate
deposits decreased by 5.87% to HUF 592 billion taedretail clients deposits by 4.49% to HUF 797
billion in 2012.

Issued securities remained at the same level dwepériod with a closing value of HUF 170,246

million as at year-end, 2012. Until the end of timancial year MKB has issued bonds in the amount
of HUF 62,676 million, from which HUF 41,550 milliowas initially issued volume, while there was

re-issuance of the bonds matured during the yedhdnvalue of HUF 21,126 million. Beyond the

bonds denominated in HUF, there were also offeridgsominated in foreign currencies at the
nominal value EUR 49.64 million and USD 25.73 roitii
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BayernLB, the principal shareholder of MKB Groupstiacreased share capital in the first quarter
with HUF 62 billion and in third with total amount HUF 65 billion.

On 2nd of June, EBRD have exercised its optionsfting half of the shares holding in MKB
UnionBank A.D., resulting decrease in hon-contngllinterest of MKB by HUF 849 million therefore
concluding an overall 97% shares in the subsidiary.

At the end of 2012Unionbank’s total assetsdecreased by 11.33% from HUF 272.1 billion at
previous year-end to HUF 241.3 billion. During 201t# loan portfolio reduced by 16.91%, to HUF
185.4 billion compared to the previous year. Thaiksegment which contains the micro companies
& individual clients and households remained alntbstprevious year’s level, with a sligh declined
by 1.04% to HUF 95.2 billion (2011: HUF 96.2 biltip The total amount of loans to the corporate
segment was down by 14.74% to HUF 35.9 billion &\E segment also reduced from HUF 73.9
billion to HUF 60.7 billion.

Current and deposit accounts reduced by 10.7% Hala 234.2 billion in 2012. The majority of the
decrease originated at SME segment (by 29.5%) areduo HUF 18.8 billion. Customer deposits
decreased by 2.29% to HUF 149.7 billion. Obserwvinitnout FX effect large corporate shows 9.37%
and retail segment 4.89% increase.

During the reporting period, Unionbank kept on egiag its client base and reported a substantial
rise in the number of clients. At the end of thary2012, the number of clients was up by 4.79%
reacing 113,826. Compared to 2011, the number wfatients was remarkable higher, amounted to
19.523 in the reporting year (2011: 9,490).

In the financial yearotal assets oRomanian Market slightly decreased from HUF 19,045 million
to HUF 18.853 million. At Corporate Recovery Managst loans and advances to banks increased
by HUF 6,201.5 million to HUF 6,665.9 million meahile customer loans eventuated in the SME
segment lagged behind by 34.6%, amounted to HUF3Z12 million. Bank deposits dropped from
HUF 23,936.2 million to HUF 21,305.5 million at @arate Recovery Management.

Comparing to 2011, thiotal assets of Hungarian Leasing Market'sfurther reduced by 22.09% to
HUF 61.5 billion due to 31.31% decrease from HUFSS3Ilion to HUF 37.1 billion in the volume of
assets at MKB. Euroleasing Autohitel Zrt. as loand advances to customers decreased by to HUF
34.6 billion. Bank deposits declined from HUF 44libin, by 30.06% to 30.8 billion during the
reporting period. At the end of the year 2012, niuenber of clients was down by 7.44% reaching
36,703 due to the decline in the number of Eurahgaautohitel Zrt's clients.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The main owner of the MKB, The Bayern LB with stgooapital background contributes to
its safety, promotes customer confidence, and hakp8ank to manage the negative effects
on its profitability which come from macroecononticbulences. MKB Bank’s policy is to
remain well capitalized in order to provide adeeguiatisiness flexibility and to support risks
associated with its activities. As capital is dical resource, it is actively managed by the
Bank. In case of additional capital needs the ow/npovide the capital needs in from of
capital injection based on unique decision. Theitahpnanagement processes take into
account the changes in balance sheet and risktadjassets, the capital structure and the
costs and availability of various types of capitalestment plans and shareholder returns,
while satisfying the requirements of regulatorstinga agencies, financial markets and
depositors. It requires active management of biekhweighted assets and the capital base.

Domestic and international guidelines require tlamiBto maintain certain minimum capital-
to-asset ratios. These risk-based ratios are detednby allocating assets and specified off-
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balance sheet instruments into 4 weighted categovigth higher levels of capital being

required for categories perceived as representiagter risk. Regulatory capital is divided

into Tier 1 Capital and Tier 2 Capital. In addititm retained earnings, the Bank may raise
regulatory capital by issuing several types of ficial instruments to the public. These
financial instruments are then classified as eiffier 1 or Tier 2, depending on the types of
conditions or covenants they place upon the issuer.

In June 2004, the Basel Committee on Banking Sugierv released its report entitled
“International Convergence of Capital Measurementl &apital Standards: A Revised
Framework” (Basel II). The new framework is desigrne more closely align regulatory
capital requirements with underlying risks by imlucing substantive changes in the treatment
of credit risk. Moreover, an explicit new capitdiacge for operational risk has also been
introduced, as well as increased supervisory redetextended public disclosure needs.

The shareholders of the Bank are strongly commitbethaintain the capital adequacy and
take all necessary actions (capital increase, slifeted debt).

Tier 1 Capital includes securities with no fixed tardy date, such as ordinary shares. At
December 31, 2012, as an actual figure of tierltalaghve Group had HUF 99.7 billion under

Hungarian Supervisory Regulation. In order that Benk has ability to keep the strong

capital position in the domestic market the owrerge increased the issued capital with HUF
127 billion which was completed in January and ®etp 2012 (in January thereof HUF

34.87 billion agio). Due to the huge increase qfited, the Bank has more regulatory capital
(HUF 154 billion) than it was in 2011. At the entl2012 the capital adequacy ratio which
was calculated according to the Hungarian AccogntiRegulations was 8.89% (2011:

3.71%). The ratio did reach the minimum value whprkscribed by law in an expected

measure (8%).

The BayernLB has increased the issued capital Mitlr 36.3 billion which was completed
on 21" of February, 2013.

During the capitalization process at the year-e@ii12 bin 62 HUF capital injection was
accomplished at the Bank. The decision about th@tadaincrease was made in 2011
nevertheless due to technical reasons the cagpitializ process took till 17th of February
2012. The table 5.15 contains the complete infamnatbout the capital situation of the Bank
before and after the accomplished capital increase.

Risk-weighted assets including operational and etarisk decreased by 16.8% from 2011
(HUF 2,080.8 billion) and amounted to HUF 1,731iBidn besides approximately 4.3%
strengthening of domestic currency.

Legal limits defined by the Act CXIl of 1996 on @ielnstitutions and Financial Enterprises
(Banking Act) are the followings:

» Banking Act 79-80.8 large loan limit no excess

* Banking Act 83.8 investment limit> no excess

» Banking Act 85.8 total investment limi» no excess

The CAR of Unionbank decreased to 12.37% from 13.34% of previous yeaellunder
local supervisory regulation. The regulatory cdpitas HUF 21,758 million which was
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significantly lower than the previous year-end fgggHUF 27,017 million) due to the interim
loss and the strengthening of Bulgarian domesticeogy. There was additional capital
increase in amount of BGN 6 million. Regarding tleerease of Regulatory Capital in BGN
and deterioration of CAR, the main reason was ttoeiaulated loss for the year with BGN
21.9 million.

Meanwhile the risk asset decreased by 13% amouatetiUF 175,899 million according to
local supervisory gap which could be explained byrgithening of Bulgarian domestic
currency, decreased of internal deposit to MKB pravision charge.

The CAR of Romexterra Bank significantly increased to 18.12% from of previgesr-end
level 16.32% according to supervisory local gape Thgulatory capital was HUF 6,609
which was lower than the previous year-end figuUE 7,765 million) due to the
strengthening of Romanian domestic currency andatteeimulated loss for the year which
was compensated by the capital increase (RON 6%omilthereof subordinated debt
conversion by EUR 5 million). Meanwhile the risk igleted asset decreased by 22.4%
amounted to HUF 36,467 million from HUF 47,578 ioitl in 2011.

Budapest, 5 March, 2013

Chairman & Chief Executive
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